Essays in Macroeconomics and International Trade



Inauguraldissertation zur Erlangung des akademischen Grades eines Doktors der Wirtschaftswissenschaften der Universität Mannheim

Mykola Ryzhenkov

Frühjahrs-/Sommersemester 2023

Abteilungssprecher: Prof. Klaus Adam, Ph.D.Referent: Prof. Andreas Gulyas, Ph.D.Korreferent: Prof. Harald Fadinger, Ph.D.Vorsitz: Prof. Dr. Carsten TrenklerDatum: 02. Juni, 2023

To my parents Anatolii and Liudmyla

Acknowledgements

Work on this dissertation happened to be during very challenging times. The help and encouragement of many people made it possible for me to become a researcher.

First of all, I would like to thank my main advisor Andreas Gulyas for his continuous support and guidance during my doctoral studies. Starting with a research proposal, through all the struggles in research, and until the job market and dissertation - Andreas was always there for me. I am also indebted to Harald Fadinger who supervised work on the second and third chapters and guided me through various stages of the project. I am extremely grateful to my co-authors Matthias Meier and Andrii Tarasenko, in discussions with whom, we were moving towards new findings and insights. I also owe special thanks to Thomas Tröger, who was my mentor during the first years of doctoral studies.

I would like to express my gratitude to all the faculty of the Department of Economics of the University of Mannheim for sharing their knowledge and experience with me. I thank the administrative staff of the Department of Economics and Graduate School of Economic and Social Sciences. I also acknowledge financial support from the German Research Foundation (DFG) and Deutsche Bundesbank, as well as Baden-Württemberg High-Performance Computing (bwHPC) for speeding up my calculations.

My student days would not be so fun without my dear friends that I met during my studies, especially Lukas Neuhauser, Marco Reuter, Dam Thi Anh, and Tsung-Hsien Li.

My parents Anatolii and Liudmyla were the major inspiration and support during my whole life. From encouraging my interest in science to always being there for me - time spent with you is the most valuable. My partner Ivanka's love was a guiding star that helped me to see the bright side of life even during the hardest times.

The last 1.5 years of my doctoral studies were during Russia's full-scale invasion of my dear Ukraine. For their bravery and heroism, I would like to thank all the defenders of Ukraine, especially my cousins and friends: Oleksa, Volodymyr, Vitalii, Valeriy, Oleksandr, Viktor, Andrii, and Maksym. I am forever grateful.

Contents

Acknowledgements							
P	refac	e		viii			
1	Labor Market Effects of Monetary Policy Across Workers and Firms						
	1.1	Introduction					
	1.2						
		1.2.1	Austrian Social Security Data	4			
		1.2.2	Worker and Firm Fixed Effects	5			
		1.2.3	ECB Monetary Policy Shocks	7			
	1.3	Emplo	byment Probability	8			
		1.3.1	Average Response	8			
		1.3.2	Heterogeneity across Worker and Firm Fixed Effects	9			
	1.4	Reallo	ocation of Workers across Firms	12			
		1.4.1	Firm Switching Probability	12			
		1.4.2	Firm Wages	13			
	1.5	Sensit	ivity Analysis	15			
	1.6	6 Conclusion					
	1.7	7 Appendix					
		1.7.1	Monetary policy shocks	20			
		1.7.2	Additional results	21			
		1.7.3	Sensitivity analysis	23			
2	Fin	ancial	Frictions, Markups, and Trade Liberalization: Stylized Fact	s 29			
	2.1	Introd	luction	30			
	2.2	Data 1	Description	34			
	2.3	Facts	on Reallocation	36			
	2.4	Discussion of Results					
	2.5	5 Appendix					
		2.5.1	Melitz-Polanec dynamic decomposition of capital-labor ratio	45			
		2.5.2	Additional Results	47			

Exp	oloratio	n	4				
3.1	Model		5				
	3.1.1	Economic Environment	5				
	3.1.2	Recursive Formulation of Domestic Entrepreneur's Problem	5				
	3.1.3	Stationary Competitive Equilibrium	5				
	3.1.4	Alternative Modelling Assumptions	5				
3.2	Quant	itative Results	5				
	3.2.1	Calibration	5				
	3.2.2	Steady State	6				
3.3	Effects	of Trade Liberalization	6				
	3.3.1	Baseline Model	6				
	3.3.2	Counterfactual Analysis	6				
3.4	Conclusions						
3.5	5 Appendix						
	3.5.1	Numerical Algorithm for solving the Benchmark Model	7				
	3.5.2	Static problem of a domestic non-exporting firm	7				
	3.5.3	Static problem of a domestic exporter	7				
	3.5.4	Static problem of the foreign importer, selling to domestic consumers	7				
	3.5.5	Solving the aggregate problem	7				
	3.5.6	Numerical Algorithm for solving the Extension in a constant markup					
		environment	8				
	3.5.7	Static problem of a domestic firm in a constant markup environment	8				
	3.5.8	Static problem of an exporter in a constant markup environment .	8				
	3.5.9	Static problem of an importer in a constant markup environment	8				
	3.5.10	Solving the aggregate problem in a constant markup environment	8				

v

List of Figures

1.1	Average employment response (β^h)	9
1.2	Employment response across worker and firm fixed effects	11
1.3	Average response of firm switching probability	13
1.4	Firm switching response across worker and firm fixed effects	14
1.5	Average response of firm fixed effect	15
1.6	Firm fixed effect response across worker and (original) firm fixed effects .	16
1.7	Monetary policy shocks series	20
1.8	Macroeconomic responses to monetary policy shocks	21
1.9	Employment probability of initially unemployed workers	22
1.10	Group-specific responses using the non-linear specification	23
1.11	Employment response using surprises in 6-month OIS rate	24
1.12	Employment response using sign-restricted surprises in 3-month OIS rates	25
1.13	Robustness: Macro controls	26
1.14	Employment response for the pre-ZLB period	27
1.15	Employment response when filling missing observations	28
2.1	The aggregate capital intensity of exporters to the EU vs. non-exporters	
	to the EU	37
2.2	Capital intensity and financial constraints	41
2.3	Aggregate capital intensity of exporters to the EU vs. non-exporters to	
	the EU	47
3.1	Average markup and effective cost of capital in a steady state \ldots .	62

List of Tables

1.1	Descriptive statistics	6
2.1	Selected Descriptive Statistics of a Sample	36
2.2	Dynamic decomposition of an aggregate capital-labor ratio of exporters to	
	the European Union	39
2.3	Dynamic decomposition of an aggregate capital-labor ratio of firms not	
	exporting to the EU	40
2.4	Dynamic decomposition of the labor-output ratio of exporters to the EU	42
2.5	Dynamic decomposition of the capital-labor ratio of exporters to the EU	48
2.6	Dynamic decomposition of labor share of exporters to the EU \ldots .	48
3.1	Externally-Calibrated Parameters	59
3.2	Internally-Calibrated Parameters	60
3.3	Effects of trade liberalization	64
3.4	Baseline Model vs. Model without Financial Constraints	67
3.5	Baseline Model vs. Model without Variable Markups	68

Preface

This dissertation contributes to the understanding of how the heterogeneity of workers and firms shapes the economic effects of economic policies. In Chapter 1, I study the reallocation of workers across firms induced by monetary policy shocks. Chapters 2 and 3 are dedicated to studying the gains from trade and reallocation of sales in the aftermath of trade liberalization, and the role of financial frictions and variable markups play in it.

Labor Market Effects of Monetary Policy Across Workers and Firms. In the first chapter, based on joint work with Andreas Gulyas (University of Mannheim) and Matthias Meier (University of Mannheim), we use Austrian social security records to analyze the effects of ECB monetary policy on the labor market. Our focus is on the role of worker and firm wage components, defined by an Abowd et al. (1999) wage regression. Our findings show that monetary tightening causes the largest employment losses for low-paid workers who are employed in high-paying firms before the tightening. In particular low-paid workers who were originally employed in low-paying firms are prone to falling down the firm wage ladder.

The second and third chapters are based on the current work with Andrii Tarasenko (University of Mannheim) and Volodymyr Vakhitov (American University Kyiv). In Chapter 2, **Financial Frictions, Markups, and Trade Liberalization: Stylized Facts**, we study the episode of unilateral trade liberalization between the European Union and Ukraine, and document a number of empirical stylized facts. We find that the aggregate capital-labor ratio of Ukrainian exporters to the EU increased after trade liberalization, while non-exporters to the EU did not experience the same pattern. Looking at the contributing factors to the increase in capital intensity, we apply dynamic decomposition of the capital-labor ratio by Melitz and Polanec (2015) and find within-sector reallocation of sales toward more capital-intensive / less financially-constrained firms to be an important driver. Moreover, we also find that reallocation of sales happened towards firms with lower markups. Hence, stylized facts indicate that financial frictions and variable markups could explain reallocation patterns observed among Ukrainian exporters of manufacturing goods to the European Union.

Motivated by the findings in Chapter 2, Chapter 3, Financial Frictions, Markups, and Trade Liberalization: Quantitative Exploration, studies effects of trade liberalization in a small open economy with financial frictions and variable markups. We develop a small open-economy model and calibrate it to the Ukrainian manufacturing data. The model is generally based on Kohn et al. (2020) and borrows from Gopinath et al. (2020) and Edmond et al. (2023). The economy is populated by entrepreneurs that own intermediate producers, supply labor to a frictionless labor market, can borrow under a backward-looking collateral constraint, and export upon paying the fixed and iceberg-type cost of exporting. The final good is produced using Kimball (1995) aggregator that gives rise to variable markups in the domestic market, while abroad the markups are assumed to be constant. Unilateral trade liberalization increases welfare and productivity in the domestic economy. Moreover, the allocation of resources improves since the variation of both the effective cost of capital and markups decreases. The gains from trade are lower than in the model without financial frictions, but higher than in the model without variable markups.

х

Chapter 1

Labor Market Effects of Monetary Policy Across Workers and Firms

WITH ANDREAS GULYAS AND MATTHIAS MEIER

1.1 Introduction

The distributional effects of monetary policy are both of direct concern for policymakers and important for the transmission of monetary policy.¹ In fact, a growing empirical literature studies the distributional effects of monetary policy across workers and firms.² However, understanding how the worker-level effects of monetary policy depend on both the worker type *and* the worker's firm type remains largely unexplored.

A key aspect of worker and firm heterogeneity is that they jointly determine the worker's wage. Wages depend on worker-specific components (e.g., worker productivity) and firm-specific components (e.g., firm profitability). Therefore, the distribution of workers across firms matters for earnings inequality (e.g., Bagger and Lentz, 2018; Song et al., 2018; Bonhomme et al., 2019, 2022), productive efficiency (e.g., Hagedorn et al., 2017), and earnings losses (e.g., Gulyas and Pytka, 2019; Lachowska et al., 2020; Bertheau et al., 2022). In addition, worker and firm type determine jointly whether a worker-firm match is sustained. Importantly, it is ex-ante unclear to what extent worker and firm-specific characteristics explain why some workers are more affected by monetary policy than others.

In this paper, we empirically characterize the distributional effects of ECB monetary policy shocks across workers and firms using Austrian social security records. Using an Abowd et al. (1999) wage regression, we estimate worker and firm (wage) fixed effects. From a worker's perspective, the firm fixed effect is arguably the most important aspect of firm heterogeneity, as it measures the firm wage premium relative to other firms. We refer to workers with a high worker fixed effect as high-paid workers, and to firms with a high firm fixed effect as high-paying firms, and analogously for low-paid workers and low-paying firms.

We document three novel results. First, we show that employment losses after monetary tightening are concentrated among low-paid workers in high-paying firms. Second, monetary tightening increases the rate at which workers reallocate across firms, in particular for low-paid workers. Third, the firms to which workers switch after monetary tightening tend to be lower-paying than their previous firms. Especially low-paid workers who were originally employed in low-paying firms reallocate to (even) lower-paying firms. All results apply symmetrically to expansionary monetary policy.

While our finding that low-paid workers are more affected by monetary policy is in line with the previous literature (quoted above), the novelty of our results is the role of the worker's original employer for the distributional effects of monetary policy. As low-paid

¹See, e.g., McKay et al. (2016), Kaplan et al. (2018), Auclert (2019), Gornemann et al. (2021).

²See, e.g., Coibion et al. (2017), Holm et al. (2021), Broer et al. (2021), Andersen et al. (forthcoming), Amberg et al. (2022), Lenza and Slacalek (2022), Moser et al. (2022) on the heterogeneous effects of monetary policy across workers and Gertler and Gilchrist (1994), Bahaj et al. (2019), Ottonello and Winberry (2020), Meier and Reinelt (2022) on the heterogeneous effects across firms.

workers at high-paying firms tend to become non-employed, low-paid workers at lowpaying firms tend to reallocate to lower-paying firms. Although a large literature studies heterogeneous effects of monetary policy across workers *or* firms, jointly studying worker and firm heterogeneity has been largely ignored. An exception is Moser et al. (2022) which estimates the distributional effects of lower credit supply due to negative interest rates on employment and pay both within and between firms. Another closely related paper is Crane et al. (2022) which studies the effects of recession across both worker and firm ranks.

Our analysis uses the universe of Austrian social security records, which includes a worker identifier, an establishment identifier, the start and end dates of employment and registered unemployment spells, the wage, and a few other worker characteristics. We use these records to construct a quarterly worker-level panel with 200 million observations between 1999 and 2018. We combine the worker panel with high-frequency identified ECB monetary policy shocks (Altavilla et al., 2019; Jarociński and Karadi, 2020). To characterize the distributional effects of monetary policy, we estimate worker-level panel local projections.

Our main findings show statistically and economically significant heterogeneity in the employment effects of monetary policy across workers and firms. Across all workers, the average employment probability is 0.27 percentage points (p.p.) lower one year after a one-standard deviation contractionary monetary policy shock, and the opposite for an expansionary shock. The average, however, masks large differences across workers. For workers with an above-median worker fixed effect, the employment probability falls by 0.23 p.p., while for workers with a below-median worker fixed effect the employment probability falls by 0.32 p.p. That is, low-paid workers are 40% more likely to become non-employed than high-paid workers. However, only examining the role of worker fixed effects misses large differences across firm fixed effects. Perhaps surprisingly, among the low-paid workers, those originally employed at high-paying firms are particularly likely to become non-employed. Their employment probability falls by 0.36 p.p. Conversely, the employment probability of low-paid workers at low-paying firms only falls by 0.18 p.p.

Monetary policy shocks not only affect the probability of whether a worker is employed but also induce the reallocation of workers across firms. On average, a one standard deviation monetary policy shock increases the likelihood of changing employers by 0.2 p.p. Job switching is especially concentrated among low-paid workers. These workers are three times more likely than high-paid workers to change employers in response to a monetary policy shock. A natural question that arises is where workers reallocate to: Are workers moving to better paying or worse paying employers? We find that across all workers switching employers, the average wage premium of firms falls by 0.16% after a one-standard deviation contractionary monetary policy shock. In other words, workers reallocate to lower-paying firms. Interestingly, this reallocation response is fairly similar when comparing low-paid to high-paid workers, and when comparing workers at low-paying to those at high-paying firms. However, we do find large differences in the interaction of worker type and firm type. In particular, we find that low-paid workers originally employed by low-paying firms are disproportionately reallocating towards worse-paying firms. In contrast, low-paid workers originally employed by high-paying firms tend to reallocate to similar firm types.

Taken together, our results imply that contractionary monetary policy shocks especially hurt low-paid workers across multiple dimensions. First, they lower their employment probability, especially for those originally employed at high-paying firms. Second, even conditionally on re-employment, monetary policy induces a reallocation of low-paid workers originally employed at worse-paying firms to even worse-paying firms.

Our paper provides new empirical moments which can be useful for the further development of Heterogeneous Agent New Keynesian models. While our findings highlight the role of both worker and firm heterogeneity, existing models either feature only worker heterogeneity (e.g., Gornemann et al., 2021; Dolado et al., 2019; Bergman et al., 2022; Bhandari et al., 2021; Ravn and Sterk, 2020), or only firm heterogeneity (e.g., Ottonello and Winberry, 2020; Meier and Reinelt, 2022). Instead, a New Keynesian model with two-sided heterogeneity would allow studying the positive and normative implications of our evidence.

The paper is organized as follows: Section 1.2 describes the data. Section 1.3 provides evidence on the employment effects of monetary policy. Section 1.4 provides evidence on the reallocation effects of monetary policy. Section 1.5 provides a sensitivity analysis. Section 1.6 concludes.

1.2 Data

In this section, we describe the data and key variables used in our analysis.

1.2.1 Austrian Social Security Data

We use administrative data from the Austrian social security administration that cover the universe of administrative employment and unemployment records for all workers subject to social security from 1999 through 2018.³ The data include a worker identifier, an establishment identifier, the first and last day of employment and unemployment spells, the worker's age, and the establishment's industry classifier. In the data, we observe only the establishment a worker is employed at, but not the firm. At the same time, most establishments are owned by one-establishment firms. For simplicity, we will refer to

³All private sector jobs are subject to social security except self-employed individuals. The data also include many public sector jobs except civil servants ("Beamte"), see Zweimüller et al. (2009) for details.

establishments as firms in the remainder of the paper. For every worker-firm match, we observe annual labor income. On average, we observe 2.7 million workers per year.

We construct a worker panel based on which we estimate worker-level responses to monetary policy shocks. In theory, we could construct a daily panel, since both social security data and monetary policy shocks are available at a daily frequency. Such a panel, however, would include 20 billion observations rendering the regression analysis extremely burdensome if not infeasible. Furthermore, given the presence of various labor market frictions and the typically sluggish response of macroeconomic aggregates to monetary policy shocks we should not expect large employment responses at very short horizons. We therefore construct a quarterly worker panel. We focus on individuals with high labor force attachment by excluding workers below 26 and above 60 years old.⁴

Our sample only consists of employment spells subject to social security and registered unemployment spells.⁵ There are several reasons why a worker may disappear from our sample. A worker may drop out of the labor force, move outside of Austria, or find employment not covered by social security such as self-employment. In our analysis, we have to take a stance on how to define the employment status of workers who disappear from our dataset. We decide to only consider the employment and non-employment trajectories of workers who are either employed or registered as unemployed. We think of this choice as conservative, as we may underestimate the employment responses if workers are pushed outside of the labor force in response to monetary policy shocks.⁶ Our final panel has 213.9 million worker-quarter observations and Table 1.1 provides summary statistics. As we use the universe of all employment observations subject to social security, the descriptive statistics mirror the labor market structure of Austria.

1.2.2 Worker and Firm Fixed Effects

Our goal in this paper is to empirically characterize the distributional effects of ECB monetary policy shocks across the joint distribution of worker and firm types. We estimate worker and firm types using the seminal Abowd et al. (1999) wage regression (in short: AKM). In particular, we estimate worker and firm types through the fixed effects in the following annual wage regression

$$wage_{i,j,\tau} = \mathbf{F}_{j(i,\tau)} + \mathbf{W}_i + \beta X_{i,\tau} + \varepsilon_{i,j,\tau}, \qquad (1.2.1)$$

⁴In this step we lose around 36.6 mln observations - the original dataset contained around 250.5 mln observations. Section 1.5 shows that our main results are robust when including all individuals in our sample.

⁵Unemployment benefits are paid only for a specific amount of time. After running out of unemployment benefits, workers continue to receive benefits, although at a lower replacement rate, and are still observed as registered unemployed in our dataset.

 $^{^{6}}$ Our results are robust to coding workers that drop from our sample as non-employed (see Section 1.5).

	Mean	Min	P25	P75	Max	Obs
Worker characteristics						
Employment $(0/1)$	0.906	0	1	1	1	226,765,739
Age (in years)	41.6	26	34	49	60	$213,\!892,\!967$
Wage (in $2010 \in$)	103.1	6.3	65.4	131.2	64249.8	$193,\!650,\!934$
Labor market transitions						
$\overline{\text{EE } (0/1)}$	0.028	0	0	0	1	197,469,000
EU $(0/1)$	0.026	0	0	0	1	$197,\!469,\!000$
UE $(0/1)$	0.248	0	0	0	1	18,791,090
UU (0/1)	0.752	0	1	1	1	$18,\!791,\!090$
Firm characteristics						
Firm age (in years)	21.2	0	8	33	99	193,650,934
Firm size (employees)	1047.7	1	16	540	33222	$193,\!650,\!934$
Worker and firm fixed effects						
Worker fixed effect	0.020	-6.633	-0.199	0.249	2.958	193,650,934
Firm fixed effect	0.008	-5.147	-0.110	0.176	2.901	$193,\!650,\!934$
Monetary policy						
$\frac{1}{\text{MP shock } (in \ bp)}$	0.37	-21.26	-1.84	2.16	12.69	80

Table 1.1: Descriptive statistics

<u>Note</u>: This table provides descriptive statistics for our worker-level panel from 1991Q1 through 2018Q4. Workers are either employed (1) or unemployed (0). Wages are daily wages of employed workers. The labor market transitions are quarterly transitions from employment at one firm to another (EE), from employment to unemployment (EU) and vice versa (UE). The AKM fixed effects are expressed in log real wage units. MP shock describes our baseline shock series in basis points.

where $wage_{i,j,\tau}$ is the log daily wage of worker *i*, employed in firm *j* in year τ , $F_{j(i,\tau)}$ is a firm fixed effect, W_i is a worker fixed effect, and $X_{i,\tau}$ is a cubic polynomial of worker age. For each worker and year, we select the dominant employer according to total yearly income. Table 1.1 provides descriptive statistics of the worker and firm fixed effects.

The firm fixed effect $\mathbf{F}_{j(i,\tau)}$ for firm j is assumed to be invariant over time and is identified through wage changes of workers moving across firms.⁷ Theoretically it is possible that the firm fixed effect is affected by monetary policy shocks. Although monetary policy are at least an order of magnitude smaller in standard deviation than idiosyncratic shocks to firms, to avoid endogeneity concerns, our analysis will mostly use the firm and worker fixed effects estimated from a backward-looking 5-year rolling window. We denote the

⁷The related literature has pointed out that few workers moving in some firms creates a limited mobility bias in the variance of firm fixed effects. However, we do not study the variance of firm fixed effects but rather the point estimates, which are consistently estimated under limited mobility bias. Furthermore, Bonhomme et al. (2022) show that the AKM estimates in Austria are very similar to alternative methods of estimating worker and firm wage effects.

estimated worker and firm fixed effects for the rolling windows by

$$\boldsymbol{W}_{i,\tau}^{rolling}$$
 and $\boldsymbol{F}_{j(i,\tau),\tau}^{rolling}$. (1.2.2)

where the sample used to estimate $W_{i,\tau}^{rolling}$ and $F_{j(i,\tau),\tau}^{rolling}$ ranges from year $\tau - 4$ to τ . To be able to compare the rolling-window estimates over time, we compute the percentile rank of these fixed effects, which we denote by

$$\widetilde{\boldsymbol{W}}_{i,\tau}^{rolling} = \text{percentile}\left(\boldsymbol{W}_{i,\tau}^{rolling}\right) \quad \text{and} \quad \widetilde{\boldsymbol{F}}_{j(i,\tau),\tau}^{rolling} = \text{percentile}\left(\boldsymbol{F}_{j(i,\tau),\tau}^{rolling}\right). \quad (1.2.3)$$

When studying the reallocation of workers across firms, we need a constant measure of firm fixed effects over time. Thus, in Section 1.4 we will use the firm fixed effects estimated in (1.2.1) over the entire sample.

1.2.3 ECB Monetary Policy Shocks

As ECB monetary policy shocks, we consider high-frequency changes in the Overnight Index Swap (OIS) rates around policy meetings of the ECB Governing Council. The OIS is a swap contract exchanging a fixed interest rate for the floating Euro Overnight Index Average (Eonia) on the European interbank market. We exclusively consider scheduled meetings, which mitigates the problem that monetary surprises may convey private central bank information about the state of the economy. The event window starts 10-20 minutes before the press release and ends 10-20 minutes after the press conference. Following Jarociński and Karadi (2020), we further use sign restrictions to separate information effects from conventional monetary policy shocks. The identifying restriction is that monetary policy shocks should move interest rates and stock prices in opposite directions, while central bank information moves them in the same direction.

Our baseline shock series is constructed from high-frequency changes in the 6-months ahead OIS rate provided by Altavilla et al. (2019).⁸ While surprises in the 3-month rate become minuscule during the zero lower bound (ZLB) episode, we observe non-negligible surprises in the 6-month rate throughout our sample. We aggregate the daily shocks into quarterly frequency. Daily shocks are assigned fully to the current quarter if they occur on the first day of the quarter. If they occur within the quarter, they are partially assigned to the current and subsequent quarter (Gorodnichenko and Weber, 2016). The monetary policy shock series covers 1999Q1 through 2018Q4. Table 1.1 shows descriptive statistics and Figure 1.7 in the Appendix shows the time series.

As a plausibility check and to provide a benchmark for our subsequent worker-level results, we estimate the responses of macroeconomic aggregates for the Austrian economy to the monetary policy shocks, see Figure 1.8 in the Appendix. We find that a one-standard

⁸Our results are robust to using the 3-months ahead OIS rate, see Section 1.5.

deviation monetary policy shock lowers real GDP by up to 0.4% with the peak effects attained between one and two years after the shock. We observe a similar dynamic for the employment rate which falls by up to 0.3 p.p. for prime-age workers.

1.3 Employment Probability

In this section, we estimate the effects of monetary policy shocks on the employment probability of workers. We find that low-paid workers who are employed in high-paying firms before the shock are most affected by monetary policy.

1.3.1 Average Response

Before studying the distributional employment effects of monetary policy, we estimate the average employment effect across all workers. This provides a benchmark for the subsequent analysis. We estimate the following worker-level panel local projections on around 200 million worker-quarter observations of our baseline sample:⁹

$$e_{i,t+h} = \alpha_i^h + \beta^h \varepsilon_t^{\mathrm{MP}} + \delta^h Z_{i,t-1} + v_{i,t+h}^h, \qquad (1.3.1)$$

for h = 0, ..., 12 quarters, where $e_{i,t+h}$ denotes a binary employment variable with

$$e_{i,t+h} = \begin{cases} 1 & \text{worker } i \text{ is employed in quarter } t+h_i \\ 0 & \text{else.} \end{cases}$$

We include only workers in the regression that are employed in t-1, the quarter preceding the monetary policy shock. This facilitates the comparison with the subsequent analysis, in which we need to condition on employment in t-1 in order to study the responses by worker and firm types.¹⁰ On the right-hand side, α_i^h denotes a worker fixed effect (not the AKM worker fixed effect), $\varepsilon_t^{\text{MP}}$ is the monetary policy shock, and $Z_{i,t-1}$ is a vector of control variables, notably a linear time trend and season fixed effects for the four quarters. The coefficient of interest is β^h , which captures the change in the employment probability in response to a monetary policy shock.

Figure 1.1 shows the average response of the employment probability based on (1.3.1). The solid line shows the point estimates of β^h , normalized to correspond to a one-standard deviation monetary policy shock, and the shaded areas indicate 68% and 95% confidence

⁹The large number of observations together with the two-way clustering implies a very high computational demand of this regression, which makes it infeasible to run this regression on standard personal computers. We thank Baden-Württemberg High Performance Computing (bwHPC) for support of our project.

 $^{^{10}\}mathrm{We}$ study the employment response for workers that are non-employed in period t-1 at the end of this subsection.

bands based on standard errors that are two-way clustered by worker and quarter. We find that the employment probability significantly falls. The response gradually builds up and peaks at a 0.27 p.p. lower employment probability five quarters after the shock. The average worker-level response is broadly in line with the aggregate employment response in Figure 1.8.

Figure 1.1: Average employment response (β^h)



Note: The solid line shows the estimated β^h coefficients in equation (1.3.1). The β^h coefficients are standardized to capture the employment probability response to a one standard deviation increase in ε_t^{MP} . The inner and outer shaded areas respectively indicate 68% and 95% confidence bands two-way clustered by worker and quarter.

While Figure 1.1 shows the employment response of workers employed in the quarter before the monetary policy shock, we also examine the effect on workers who are unemployed before the shock. Figure 1.9 in the Appendix shows that unemployed workers are significantly less likely to become employed after monetary policy shocks. In response to a one standard deviation shock, their employment probability falls by up to 0.89 p.p. In comparison, the average quarterly UE transition rate is 24.8% (see Table 1.1).

1.3.2 Heterogeneity across Worker and Firm Fixed Effects

We next present our empirical results on the distributional employment effects of monetary policy across worker and firm fixed effects. Formally, we estimate the following state-dependent worker-level panel local projections

$$e_{i,t+h}$$

$$= \alpha_i^h + \delta^h Z_{i,t-1} + v_{i,t+h}^h$$

$$(1.3.2)$$

$$+ \beta^{h} \varepsilon_{t}^{\text{MP}} \qquad (average \ effect)$$

$$+ \gamma^{W,h} \varepsilon_{t}^{\text{MP}} \left(\widetilde{\boldsymbol{W}}_{t-1}^{rolling} - \widetilde{\boldsymbol{W}}_{t-1}^{rolling} \right) \qquad (worker \ heterogeneity)$$

$$+ \gamma^{F,h} \varepsilon_{t}^{\text{MP}} \left(\widetilde{\boldsymbol{F}}_{j(i,t-1),\tau-1}^{rolling} - \overline{\widetilde{\boldsymbol{F}}}_{j(i,t-1),\tau-1}^{rolling} \right)$$
(*usomer heterogeneity*)

$$+ \gamma^{WF,h} \varepsilon_{t}^{\text{MP}} \left(\widetilde{\boldsymbol{W}}_{i,\tau-1}^{rolling} - \overline{\widetilde{\boldsymbol{W}}}_{i,\tau-1}^{rolling} \right) \left(\widetilde{\boldsymbol{F}}_{j(i,t-1),\tau-1}^{rolling} - \overline{\widetilde{\boldsymbol{F}}}_{j(i,t-1),\tau-1}^{rolling} \right), \quad (interaction)$$

where β^h captures the employment response of a worker with an average worker fixed effect in the year preceding the monetary policy shock (i.e., for $\widetilde{W}_{i,\tau-1}^{rolling} = \overline{\widetilde{W}_{i,\tau-1}^{rolling}}$) and an average firm fixed effect for the firm which employed the worker in quarter t-1 (i.e., for $\widetilde{F}_{j(i,t-1),\tau-1}^{rolling} = \overline{\widetilde{F}_{j(i,t-1),\tau-1}^{rolling}}$). The coefficient $\gamma^{W,h}$ captures the differential employment response of a higher worker fixed effect, $\gamma^{F,h}$ captures the differential employment response of a higher firm fixed effect, and $\gamma^{WF,h}$ captures the differential employment response of the interaction between a higher worker and a higher firm fixed effect.¹¹ While we study the heterogeneity in our baseline with a linear specification, we show in the appendix (see Figure 1.10) that our results are very similar if we use worker and firm groups instead.

Figure 1.2 presents our main results from equation (1.3.2). Panel (a) shows that workers with higher worker fixed effect are significantly less likely to become non-employed after a monetary policy shock (conditional on an average firm fixed effect). The estimated differences are economically meaningful. Workers with a one standard deviation higher worker fixed effect are up to 0.07 p.p. less likely to become non-employed compared to the average employment probability response of up to 0.27 p.p. Turning to the role of firm fixed effects, panel (b) shows that workers employed in firms with a higher firm fixed effect are significantly more likely to become non-employed after a monetary policy shock (conditional on an average worker fixed effect). The magnitudes are similarly economically meaningful as for worker fixed effects. Equation (1.3.2) also contains an interaction effect between the worker and firm fixed effects. Panel (c) shows that the coefficient on the interaction is significantly positive. This means that workers with combinations of high (or low) worker and firm fixed effects are less likely to become nonemployed than workers with opposite combinations. Put differently, workers are more likely to become non-employed when their worker fixed effect is in the opposite half of the distribution as their firm fixed effect.

¹¹The control vector $Z_{i,t-1}$ is specified as in Section 1.3.1 except that the seasonal fixed effects are interacted with quintile group dummies for worker and firm fixed effects, respectively. This allows us to control for some heterogeneity in the employment seasonality across workers and firms.



Figure 1.2: Employment response across worker and firm fixed effects

(a) Worker fixed effect $(\gamma^{W,h})$

(b) Firm fixed effect $(\gamma^{F,h})$

Note: The solid lines in panels (a)-(c) show the estimated differential responses, the γ coefficients in equation (1.3.2). The γ coefficients are standardized to capture the employment probability response to a one standard deviation increase in ε_t^{MP} and for a one standard deviation above-average worker and firm fixed effect. The inner and outer shaded areas respectively indicate 68% and 95% confidence bands two-way clustered by worker and quarter. Panel (d) shows the total employment response of different worker groups estimated based on β^h , $\gamma^{W,h}$, $\gamma^{F,h}$, $\gamma^{WF,h}$ at h = 5 and the associated standard errors are in parantheses. For example, the employment response of high-paid workers in low-paying firms is estimated based on $\beta^h + (p_{75}^W - p_{50}^W)\gamma^{W,h}/\sigma_W + (p_{25}^P - p_{50}^P)\gamma^{F,h}/\sigma_F + (p_{75}^P - p_{50}^P)\gamma^{WF,h}/(\sigma_W\sigma_F)$, where p_X^W and p_x^F denote the x-th percentiles of the distribution of worker and firm fixed effects, and σ_W and σ_F are the associated standard deviations.

Panel (d) of Figure 1.2 presents the group-specific total employment responses, based on combining the average (β^h) and the differential ($\gamma^{W,h}, \gamma^{F,h}, \gamma^{WF,h}$) responses. We define low and high-paid workers as workers with a worker fixed effect at the 25th and 75th percentile, respectively. Analogously, we define low and high-paying firms as firm fixed effect at the 25th and 75th percentile across all workers, respectively. The table in panel (d) shows the employment response of different combinations of low and high-paid workers and low and high-paying firms at horizon h = 5, when the average employment response peaks. We find that the employment responses differ similarly across firm and worker types (see the "All" column and row, respectively). While a monetary policy shock lowers the employment probability by 0.16 p.p. for workers at low-paying firms, it plummets by 0.30 p.p. at high-paying firms. In comparison, the drop is 0.23 p.p. for high-paid workers and 0.32 p.p. for low-paid workers across all firms. What stands out from the table is that low-paid workers at high-paying firms are most affected by monetary policy shocks. The employment probability for them drops by 0.36 p.p. The least affected group is high-paid workers from low-paying firms, for which the employment probability drops by 0.15 p.p. This implies that the most affected group of workers in the table has a 2.4 times higher probability of non-employment than the least affected group.

1.4 Reallocation of Workers across Firms

In this section, we estimate the effects of monetary policy shocks on the reallocation of workers across firms. We find that workers are more likely to switch firms and they tend to switch to worse-paying firms. In particular, low-paid workers employed by low-paying firms before the shock are most likely to switch to worse-paying firms.

1.4.1 Firm Switching Probability

To estimate the average effects of monetary policy shock on the probability that a worker switches between firms, we use equation (1.3.1) but replace the left-hand side by a dummy variable that indicates whether a worker switches firms

$$e_{i,t+h}^{switch} = \begin{cases} 1 & \text{if a worker is employed in } t+h \text{ by a different firm than in } t-1, \\ 0 & \text{else.} \end{cases}$$
(1.4.1)

For h = 0, the sample average of $e_{i,t+h}^{switch}$ is the quarterly firm switching probability, the EE transition rate, which is 2.8% (see Table 1.1).

The estimated average response of the firm switching probability to a one standard deviation monetary policy shock is shown in Figure 1.3. The switching probability increases by up to 0.25 p.p. after the shock, which is a sizable increase over the average switching probability. However, the response is only mildly significant, in particular when compared to the response of the employment probability in Figure 1.1.

We again turn to the question of which workers are more prone to change employers. In particular, we use (1.3.2) but replace again the left-hand side by the dummy variable indicating a change in employer from equation (1.4.1). Figure 1.4 provides our findings. Most remarkable is the role of the worker fixed effect. Low-paid workers are significantly more likely to switch firms. A one standard deviation lower worker fixed effect lowers the firm switching probability by up to 0.12 p.p. In contrast, we don't find significant differences across firm fixed effects or along the interaction of worker and firm fixed effects.



Figure 1.3: Average response of firm switching probability

Note: The solid line shows the estimated β^h coefficients in equation (1.3.1) when using (1.4.1) as left-hand side. The β^h coefficients are standardized to capture the firm switching probability response to a one standard deviation increase in ε_t^{MP} . The inner and outer shaded areas respectively indicate 68% and 95% confidence bands two-way clustered by worker and quarter.

1.4.2 Firm Wages

The previous section showed that monetary policy induces workers to switch employers, with the effect concentrated among low-paid workers. This naturally leads to the question where these worker move to, in particular, whether they find better- or worse-paying employers compared to before. Thus, we first ask whether monetary policy on average leads to a reallocation of workers towards lower or higher firm fixed effects. To estimate the average effect of monetary policy shocks on the change in the firm fixed effects of workers that switch firms, we use (1.3.1) but replace the left-hand side by

$$F_{j(i,t+h)} - F_{j(i,t-1)},$$
 (1.4.2)

which is the change in the worker-associated firm fixed effect between the original employer in t - 1 and the employer in t + h. Recall that in Section 1.3, we classified workers and firms using the backward-looking fixed effects in order to avoid endogeneity of fixed effects with respect to the monetary policy shocks. In contrast, (1.4.2) features the firm fixed effect estimates over the entire sample, because we cannot otherwise compare firm fixed effects over time. We estimate the regression on changes in the firm fixed effect on the subset of workers switching firms between period t - 1 and t + h.

Figure 1.5 shows that the average response of the firm fixed effect is significantly negative. After a one standard deviation monetary policy shock, the average change in the firm wage premium of workers who switch firms falls by up to 0.16%. These effects are sizeable, as compared to the unconditional average drop in the firm fixed effect of 1.6% for switching



Figure 1.4: Firm switching response across worker and firm fixed effects

(a) Worker fixed effect $(\gamma^{W,h})$ (b) Firm fixed effect $(\gamma^{F,h})$

Note: The solid lines in panels (a)-(c) show the differential responses estimated by the γ coefficients in equation (1.3.2) when replacing the left-hand side by (1.4.1). The γ coefficients are standardized to capture the firm switching probability response to a one standard deviation increase in $\varepsilon_t^{\text{MP}}$ given a one standard deviation above-average worker and firm fixed effect. The inner and outer shaded areas respectively indicate 68% and 95% confidence bands two-way clustered by worker and quarter. Panel (d) shows the total firm switching response of different worker groups estimated based on β^h , $\gamma^{W,h}$, $\gamma^{F,h}$, $\gamma^{WF,h}$ at h = 5 and the associated standard errors are in parentheses. For example, the firm switching response of high-paid workers in low-paying firms is estimated based on $\beta^h + (p_{75}^W - p_{50}^W)\gamma^{W,h}/\sigma_W + (p_{25}^F - p_{50}^F)\gamma^{F,h}/\sigma_F + (p_{75}^W - p_{50}^W)(p_{25}^F - p_{50}^F)\gamma^{WF,h}/(\sigma_W\sigma_F)$, where p_x^W and p_x^F denote the x-th percentiles of the distribution of worker and firm fixed effects, and σ_W and σ_F are the associated standard deviations.

workers.

We next study the heterogeneity of the change in firm fixed effects across workers and firms. In particular, we use (1.3.2) but replace again the left-hand side by (1.4.2). Figure 1.6 provides our findings. Panel (a) shows that the differential responses of changes in the firm fixed effect associated with a higher worker fixed effect are indistinguishable from zero when the original firm fixed effect equals the sample average. Similarly, panel (b) shows that the differential responses of changes in the firm fixed effect associated with a higher firm fixed effect are insignificant when the worker fixed effect equals the sample average. Interestingly, panel (c) shows that there is a strong interaction between the



Figure 1.5: Average response of firm fixed effect

Note: The solid line shows the estimated β^h coefficients in equation (1.3.1) when using (1.4.2) as left-hand side and restricting the sample to workers who switch firms. The β^h coefficients are standardized to capture the change in firm fixed effect to a one standard deviation increase in ε_t^{MP} . The inner and outer shaded areas respectively indicate 68% and 95% confidence bands two-way clustered by worker and quarter.

worker fixed effect and the initial firm fixed effect. Taking the average and all differential estimates together, panel (d) shows that low-paid workers employed at low-paying firms before the shock are losing the most from reallocation after monetary policy shocks. Overall, our results show that monetary policy shocks tends to reallocate workers toward worse-paying firms. This effect is particularly pronounced for low-paid workers originally employed by low-paying firms.

1.5 Sensitivity Analysis

In this section, we examine the sensitivity of our empirical findings with respect to an alternative regression specification, alternative monetary policy shocks, control variables, sample, and data treatment.

Dummies for worker and firm fixed effects groups. Our findings on the role of worker and firm fixed effects in Figures 1.2, 1.4, and 1.6 are estimated based on the local projection model in (1.3.2), which features linear interactions between monetary policy shocks and worker and firm fixed effects. We examine the sensitivity of our findings to an alternative semi-parametric regression model, in which we replace the linear interactions by dummies signifying whether worker and firm fixed effects are above the average.



Figure 1.6: Firm fixed effect response across worker and (original) firm fixed effects

(a) Worker fixed effect $(\gamma^{W,h})$ (b) Fi

(b) Firm fixed effect $(\gamma^{F,h})$

Note: The solid lines in panels (a)-(c) show the differential responses estimated by the γ coefficients in equation (1.3.2) when replacing the left-hand side by (1.4.2) and restricting the sample to workers who switch firms. The γ coefficients are standardized to capture the change in firm fixed effects in response to a one standard deviation increase in ε_t^{MP} and for a one standard deviation above-average worker and firm fixed effect. The inner and outer shaded areas respectively indicate 68% and 95% confidence bands two-way clustered by worker and quarter. Panel (d) shows the total response of firm fixed effects of different worker groups estimated based on β^h , $\gamma^{W,h}$, $\gamma^{F,h}$, $\gamma^{WF,h}$ at h = 5 and the associated standard errors are in parentheses. For example, the firm fixed effect response of high-paid workers in low-paying firms is estimated based on $\beta^h + (p_{75}^W - p_{50}^W)\gamma^{W,h}/\sigma_W + (p_{25}^E - p_{50}^E)\gamma^{F,h}/\sigma_F + (p_{75}^W - p_{50}^W)(p_{25}^E - p_{50}^E)\gamma^{WF,h}/(\sigma_W\sigma_F)$, where p_x^W and p_x^F denote the x-th percentiles of the distribution of worker and firm fixed effects, and σ_W and σ_F are the associated standard deviations.

Formally, we estimate

$$e_{i,t+h}$$

$$= \alpha_{i}^{h} + \delta^{h} Z_{i,t-1} + v_{i,t+h}^{h}$$

$$+ \beta^{h} \varepsilon_{t}^{\text{MP}}$$

$$+ \gamma^{W,h} \varepsilon_{t}^{\text{MP}} \times \mathbb{1} \left\{ \widetilde{\boldsymbol{W}}_{i,\tau-1}^{rolling} > \overline{\widetilde{\boldsymbol{W}}}_{i,\tau-1}^{rolling} \right\}$$

$$+ \gamma^{F,h} \varepsilon_{t}^{\text{MP}} \times \mathbb{1} \left\{ \widetilde{\boldsymbol{F}}_{j(i,t-1),\tau-1}^{rolling} > \overline{\widetilde{\boldsymbol{F}}}_{j(i,t-1),\tau-1}^{rolling} \right\}$$

$$+ \gamma^{WF,h} \varepsilon_{t}^{\text{MP}} \times \mathbb{1} \left\{ \widetilde{\boldsymbol{W}}_{i,\tau-1}^{rolling} > \overline{\widetilde{\boldsymbol{W}}}_{i,\tau-1}^{rolling} \right\} \times \mathbb{1} \left\{ \widetilde{\boldsymbol{F}}_{j(i,t-1),\tau-1}^{rolling} \right\},$$

$$(1.5.1)$$

where $\mathbb{1}\{\cdot\}$ is a binary dummy and $Z_{i,t-1}$ is defined as in Section 1.3.

Panel (a) of Figure 1.10 in the Appendix shows the group-specific employment responses estimated from (1.5.1). Our findings change little compared to using linear interactions (see panel (d) in Figure 1.2). The estimated magnitudes are comparable and similarly significant. Importantly, the group with the highest non-employment exposure to monetary policy remain low-paid workers employed at high-paying firms before the shock.

Panel (b) of Figure 1.10 in the Appendix shows the group-specific firm switching responses estimated from (1.5.1). Our findings change little compared to using linear interactions (see panel (d) in Figures 1.4). The estimated magnitudes are comparable and similarly significant. Importantly, the group with the highest firm switching exposure to monetary policy remain low-paid workers employed at high-paying firms before the shock.

Panel (b) of Figure 1.10 shows the non-linear estimates of the group-specific responses of the firm switching probability. To be precise, we estimate (1.5.1) when replacing the left-hand side by the firm switching dummy in (1.4.1). Our findings are similar to using the linear interactions (see panel (d) in Figure 1.4). The group with the highest exposure to monetary policy remain low-paid workers employed at low-paying firms before the shock.

Panel (c) of Figure 1.10 shows the non-linear estimates of firm fixed effect responses for workers switching firms after the shock. To be precise, we estimate (1.5.1) when replacing the left hand side by the change in the firm fixed effect in (1.4.2). Our findings are overall robust to using the linear interactions, compare with panel (d) in Figures 1.6. The group with the highest exposure to monetary policy remain low-paid workers employed at low-paying firms before the shock.

Monetary policy shocks. Our baseline monetary policy shocks are based on the sign-restricted changes in the 6-month OIS rates. We examine the robustness of our results when using instead the changes in the 6-month OIS rates around policy announcement without applying sign restrictions. Figure 1.11 shows that our estimated employment responses have similar point estimates, but are mostly insignificant. This suggests that the raw surprises are strongly contaminated by information effects (Jarociński and Karadi, 2020). We further consider the sign-restricted 3-month OIS rate surprises. Figure 1.12 shows that we obtain very similar effects to the baseline, both in terms of magnitude and significance.

Control variables. We examine the sensitivity of our baseline specification to controlling for a set of standard macroeconomic variables. In particular, we enrich $Z_{i,t-1}$ to include a lagged monetary policy shock and changes in log GDP, log CPI, and the employment rate. Figure 1.13 shows that this does not change our findings much. **Pre-ZLB sample.** Every paper using high-frequency identified monetary policy shocks faces the potential problem of the Zero Lower Bound (ZLB). Our baseline results use the longest possible sample including the ZLB. Importantly, because our monetary policy shocks are based on 6-month interest rates, we observe many shocks even during the ZLB episode (see Figure 1.7). Nevertheless, because monetary transmission may have changed we revisit our results in a pre-ZLB sample, ending in 2012Q2 just before the deposit facility rate reached zero. Figure 1.14 in the Appendix shows that the employment responses are robust to using the pre-ZLB sample.

Missing worker observations. Our baseline data treatment only considers workers who are registered as employed or unemployed. Some workers leave our sample for some quarters before returning. Potential reasons are that they stopped receiving unemployment benefits, they left the country, or they became self-employed. We revisit our results when assuming that missing observations between two appearances of a worker in the sample are non-employment spells. Figure 1.15 shows that this change amplifies the average employment response to -0.41 p.p. and increases heterogeneity in worker fixed effects. In contrast, firm fixed effects become less important.

1.6 Conclusion

In this paper, we empirically characterize the distributional effects of ECB monetary policy shocks across workers and firms using Austrian social security records. We focus on the heterogeneity across worker and firm types identified by a Abowd et al. (1999) regression, which is the workhorse model to estimate the worker and firm components of wages.

We document three novel results. First, we document which type of workers and firms face the highest decline in employment in response to a contractionary monetary policy shock. Individuals who are low-paid and employed at high-paying firms face the strongest employment declines. Second, monetary tightening increases the rate at which workers reallocate across firms, in particular for low-paid workers. Third, we document that monetary policy shocks lead to a reallocation of workers to worse-paying firms, with lowpaid workers from low-paying firms especially prone to falling off the firm wage ladder. While all low-paid workers are especially exposed to contractionary monetary policy shocks, we document large differences across low-paid workers depending on the type of firm they are employed at before the shock.

Our results have implications for inequality, allocative efficiency, and transmission of monetary policy. For inequality, we show that the collapse of a job ladder is driven by the poorest workers. At the bottom of the income distribution, income is driven by labor earnings and its extensive margin (e.g., Amberg et al., 2022). Hence, the lower

employment probabilities and the reallocation down a firm wage ladder for the low-paid worker increases income inequality after a monetary shock. For allocative efficiency, if worker fixed effects correspond to workers' skills and productivity, and if the firm fixed effects correspond to firms' productivity, reallocation towards lower-paying firms could contribute to a drop in aggregate productivity, as is well-documented in the literature (e.g., Jordà et al., 2020; Meier and Reinelt, 2022; Baqaee et al., 2022). For the transmission of monetary policy, our results suggest that studying monetary models with two-sided heterogeneity is important. Moreover, our results suggest that a key moment is how the marginal propensity to consume is distributed across both worker and firm types.

1.7 Appendix

1.7.1 Monetary policy shocks

Figure 1.7: Monetary policy shocks series



Note: The monetary policy shock series is based on the changes in the 6-month OIS rates around ECB policy announcements from Altavilla et al. (2019) after applying sign restrictions as in Jarociński and Karadi (2020).



1.7.2 Additional results

Figure 1.8: Macroeconomic responses to monetary policy shocks

Note: The solid lines show the estimated β^h coefficient in the local projection $y_{t+h} = \alpha + \beta^h \varepsilon_t^{MP} + \delta^h Z_{t-1} + v_{t+h}$, where Z_{t-1} contains a linear time trend, one lag of the shock ε_t^{MP} and four lags of the employment rate, GDP growth, and CPI growth. The left hand side y_{t+h} is $\Delta^h \log GDP_{t+h}$ in panel (a), ER_{t+h} in panels (b)-(c), and $\Delta^h \log CPI_{t+h}$ in panel (d). The β^h coefficients are standardized to capture the response to a one standard deviation increase in ε_t^{MP} . The inner and outer shaded areas respectively indicate 68% and 95% Newey-West confidence bands.

Figure 1.9: Employment probability of initially unemployed workers



Note: The solid line shows the estimated β^h coefficients in equation (1.3.1) for workers that are unemployed in t-1. The β^h coefficients are standardized to capture the employment probability response to a one standard deviation increase in $\varepsilon_t^{\text{MP}}$. The inner and outer shaded areas respectively indicate 68% and 95% confidence bands two-way clustered by worker and quarter.

1.7.3Sensitivity analysis

Figure 1.10: Group-specific responses using the non-linear specification (a) Response of employment probability -0.193 -0.338 -0.267 0.225 (0.149) 0.158 (0.098) P P 0.094 (0.065)

Worker type

High-paid

Low-paid

0.158 (0.167)

0.274 (0.145)

Worker type

High-paid

Low-paid

-0.154

-0.226

-0.268

(0.048)

-0.423

(0.081)

Firm type

Low-paying High-paying

-0.216

-0.319

All



(c) Response of firm fixed effect

Note: Panel (a) shows the employment responses to a one standard deviation monetary policy shock of different worker groups estimated based on (1.5.1) at h = 5 with the associated standard errors are in parantheses. In panels (b) and (c), the left hand side of (1.5.1) is replaced by (1.4.1) and (1.4.2), respectively.

23

(b) Response of firm switching probability

0.003 (0.062)

0.214 (0.078)

Firm type

Low-paying High-paying

0.071 (0.100)

0.247 (0.105)

All



Figure 1.11: Employment response using surprises in 6-month OIS rate

Note: The solid line in Panel (a) shows coefficients β^h in equation (1.3.1) when ε_t are surprises in the 6-month OIS rate. The solid lines in panels (b)-(d) show the estimated γ coefficients in equation (1.3.2) when ε_t are surprises in the 6-month OIS rate. The coefficients are standardized to correspond to a one standard deviation increase in ε_t^{MP} and a one standard deviation increase in firm and worker fixed effects. The inner and outer shaded areas respectively indicate 68% and 95% confidence bands two-way clustered by worker and quarter.



Figure 1.12: Employment response using sign-restricted surprises in 3-month OIS rates

Note: The solid line in Panel (a) shows coefficients β^h in equation (1.3.1) when ε_t are sign-restricted surprises in the 3-month OIS rate. The solid lines in panels (b)-(d) show the estimated γ coefficients in equation (1.3.2) when ε_t are sign-restricted surprises in the 3-month OIS rate. The coefficients are standardized to correspond to a one standard deviation increase in ε_t^{MP} and a one standard deviation increase in firm and worker fixed effects. The inner and outer shaded areas respectively indicate 68% and 95% confidence bands two-way clustered by worker and quarter.


Figure 1.13: Robustness: Macro controls

Note: The solid line in Panel (a) shows coefficients β^h in equation (1.3.1) when we add to $Z_{i,t-1}$ lagged monetary policy shock, GDP, employment rate and inflation. The solid lines in panels (b)-(d) show the estimated γ coefficients in equation (1.3.2) when we add to $Z_{i,t-1}$ lagged monetary policy shock, GDP, employment rate and inflation. The coefficients are standardized to correspond to a one standard deviation increase in $\varepsilon_t^{\text{MP}}$ and a one standard deviation increase in firm and worker fixed effects. The inner and outer shaded areas respectively indicate 68% and 95% confidence bands two-way clustered by worker and quarter.



Figure 1.14: Employment response for the pre-ZLB period

Note: The solid line in Panel (a) shows coefficients β^h in equation (1.3.1) for observations until 2012Q2. The solid lines in panels (b)-(d) show the estimated γ coefficients in equation (1.3.2) for observations until 2012Q2. The coefficients are standardized to correspond to a one standard deviation increase in $\varepsilon_t^{\text{MP}}$ and a one standard deviation increase in firm and worker fixed effects. The inner and outer shaded areas respectively indicate 68% and 95% confidence bands two-way clustered by worker and quarter.



Figure 1.15: Employment response when filling missing observations

Note: The solid line in Panel (a) shows coefficients β^h in equation (1.3.1) when we fill missing observations as non-employed. The solid lines in panels (b)-(d) show the estimated γ coefficients in equation (1.3.2) when we fill missing observations as non-employed. The coefficients are standardized to correspond to a one standard deviation increase in ε_t^{MP} and a one standard deviation increase in firm and worker fixed effects. The inner and outer shaded areas respectively indicate 68% and 95% confidence bands two-way clustered by worker and quarter.

Chapter 2

Financial Frictions, Markups, and Trade Liberalization: Stylized Facts

with Andrii Tarasenko and Volodymyr Vakhitov

2.1 Introduction

While the allocation of resources is found to be far from the first-best efficient around the world¹, episodes of trade liberalization can improve welfare and allocative efficiency in the economy². However, the presence of resource misallocation can also affect the incidence of trade policy and dampen the gains from trade liberalization ³. Among the factors that create such distortions, financial frictions⁴ and variable markups⁵ are commonly studied in the literature and found to be the important ones.

In the presence of backward-looking collateral constraints, firms are restricted in financing their capital needs. As a result, firms with binding borrowing constraints can not allocate the effective amount of resources and produce below the optimal level. In the episodes of trade liberalization, exporters' sales abroad are affected on both extensive (i.e. distorted entry) and intensive (i.e. lower sales) margins. Lower profits result in a worse ability to pay the fixed cost of exporting, as well as requires accumulating assets that cause gradual expansion on the foreign market upon entry⁶.

On the other hand, in an environment with variable markups, the most productive firms face lower demand elasticity and set higher markups over marginal cost⁷. While firms with higher markups are more efficient, we should expect that these firms should benefit from trade liberalization more. Higher price-cost markups cause incomplete pass-through of cost shock since a decrease in marginal cost only partially propagates to a price set by a firm and its sales.

How could these channels interact in the episode of trade liberalization? If two firms have the same level of productivity, but one of them is financially-constrained and has a higher effective cost of capital, another will have a higher markup and thus would experience lower pass-through of cost shocks caused by trade liberalization. In this case, the presence of variable markups will weaken the reallocation of sales towards unconstrained firms, which are usually modeled in the literature as having lower capital intensity.

The dynamic effects of trade liberalization in the presence of both financial frictions and variable markups are missing in the literature. By far, the questions of the effects of trade on resource misallocation under financial frictions and variable markups were studied in static models, but less attention was paid to the long-run consequences of trade

¹See, for example, Hsieh and Klenow (2009), Restuccia and Rogerson (2008), Gopinath et al. (2017) for general references. Ryzhenkov (2016) estimate misallocation-induced productivity losses for the economy of Ukraine.

 $^{^{2}}$ See, e.g. Melitz (2003).

³See, e.g. Berthou et al. (2020), Caliendo et al. (2022), Bai et al. (2019).

 $^{^{4}}$ See e.g. Moll (2014), Midrigan and Xu (2014), Gopinath et al. (2017), Brooks and Dovis (2020), Manova (2012), Leibovici (2021), Kohn et al. (2023).

⁵See e.g. Edmond et al. (2023), Edmond et al. (2015), Baqaee and Farhi (2019), Arkolakis et al. (2018).

 $^{^{6}}$ See e.g. Kohn et al. (2016), Kohn et al. (2020).

⁷See e.g. Edmond et al. (2023), Klenow and Willis (2016).

liberalization for resource allocation. In this project, we explore the joint role of variable markups and financial frictions in welfare gains and between-firm factor reallocation following trade liberalization.

We consider an episode of unilateral trade liberalization between the European Union and Ukraine. Autonomous Trade preferences for Ukrainian goods were in force between April 2014 and December 2015, after which full implementation of the Deep and Comprehensive Free Trade Area (DCFTA) with bilateral trade liberalization started. Autonomous Trade preferences implied the reduction of most tariffs on Ukrainian industrial goods according to the initial levels of DCFTA implementation. We model this event as a unilateral reduction in variable trade costs by the EU.

The stylized facts we provide in Chapter 2 are indicative that after a unilateral levying of import tariffs by the European Union for imports from Ukraine, sales of Ukrainian exporters to the EU reallocated within sectors towards firms with higher capital intensity and higher labor share. These stylized facts could be explained by a small open-economy model with variable markups and financial frictions that we develop motivated by this evidence in Chapter 3. We find that unilateral trade liberalization increases both welfare and total factor productivity in the domestic economy. Improvement occurs since the allocation of resources improves - dispersion of markups and the effective cost to capital decreases. We also find evidence that eliminating financial frictions increases gains from trade, while gains in an environment with constant markups are lower.

Overview of Chapter 2. In Chapter 2, we use firm-level data that include financial statements and customs records of Ukrainian manufacturing establishments and document a number of stylized facts on the reallocation of export sales among manufacturing firms that happened upon the unilateral trade liberalization with the EU. First, the aggregate capital-labor ratio of Ukrainian exporters to the EU increased between 2013 and 2016, the years when unilateral trade liberalization was in force. At the same time, the aggregate capital-labor ratio of firms that did not export to the EU followed the opposite path and decreased. Applying a dynamic decomposition by Melitz and Polanec (2015) to an aggregate capital-labor ratio for each group of firms, we study contributions of changes in average within-firm capital-labor ratio, reallocation of sales among incumbents, as well as entry-exit of firms. We find that within-sector reallocation of export sales towards more capital-intensive firms was an important driver behind an aggregate change. At the same time, within-sector reallocation that occurred for non-exporters to the EU was less significant in magnitude. Applying Melitz and Polanec (2015) decomposition to an aggregate labor-output ratio, we find suggestive evidence that export sales also reallocated towards firms with higher labor-output ratios, which might be suggestive of the reallocation of sales towards firms with lower markups.

Overview of Chapter 3. In Chapter 3, we develop a small open-economy model that is calibrated to the Ukrainian firm-level data on manufacturing. The economy is populated by the unit mass of entrepreneurs that own intermediate producers and supply labor to a frictionless labor market. When investing in capital, entrepreneurs face backward-looking collateral constraint. In the domestic market, both domestic intermediate producers and importers from abroad face variable demand elasticity that gives rise to variable markups. For simplification, we assume that the elasticity of demand abroad is constant and foreign firms are financially-unconstrained. In a steady state, markups and the effective cost of capital are negatively correlated. Since the choke price prevents the least-productive and potentially-unconstrained firms from producing, most non-exporters are financially-constrained. On average, exporters face a lower effective cost of capital and are less financially constrained, as well as set higher markups in the domestic market.

We model a trade liberalization as a unilateral reduction in iceberg trade cost for domestic exporters by 10%, and find that it increases welfare and productivity in the economy, as well as reduces dispersion of both markups and effective cost of capital. However, the model fails to capture the reallocation of sales towards high-capital-intensive firms, which could indicate that trade liberalization is not the only force behind the reallocation of sales documented in Chapter 2. For example, the higher cost of capital after 2014 tightened borrowing constraint of firms and could contribute to the reallocation toward capitalintensive firms.

In order to understand how financial frictions and variable markups affect the gains from trade, we compare the benchmark model with variations, where we close one of the channels. In a model that features variable markups but no financial frictions, we find evidence of complementarity between international trade and the financial market since both welfare and total factor productivity increase more after trade liberalization. In a model with financial frictions but constant markups, gains from trade are lower since we find that resource allocation worsens after a unilateral reduction in trade costs.

Literature review. A project presented in Chapters 2 and 3 contributes to three major flows of literature.

First, we contribute to the literature that studies how financial development and financial frictions affect the participation of firms in international trade and the gains from trade liberalization. It has been established that misallocation caused by financial frictions can slow down the reallocation of resources in response to efficiency-improving events (see, e.g., Buera and Shin, 2013; Moll, 2014). Financial development is also found to be an important determinant of the comparative advantage of countries and affects the gains from trade liberalization (see, e.g., Manova, 2012; Leibovici, 2021; Alfaro et al., 2022). Financially-constrained firms produce under the optimal level that affects both selection into exporting, as well as dynamics of sales in the exporting market (see,

e.g., Kohn et al., 2016, 2020, 2023). A sluggish response to trade liberalization and large currency devaluations is explained by the presence of frictions in financial markets, limiting access of firms with insufficient assets to export markets. With backward-looking collateral constraints, many firms cannot export unconstrained amounts due to binding borrowing constraints; over time, firms plow back additional profits into new assets, softening borrowing constraints and growing their export revenues over time. Brooks and Dovis (2020) model trade liberalization using backward-looking financial constraints, and show that when the forward-looking financial constraint is used, trade liberalization reduces misallocation in contrast to the model with backward-looking financial constraints. Tetenyi (2022) addresses how financing frictions shape the effects of trade liberalization and shows that financial liberalization increases gains from trade liberalization only if capital markets are integrated.

Second, this paper contributes to the studies of how variable markups affect the economy after trade liberalization. Variable markups distort the allocation of resources and reduce welfare in the economy (see, e.g., Baqaee and Farhi, 2019; Edmond et al., 2023). While trade liberalization increases competition that reduces the dispersion of markups and improves the allocation of resources (see, e.g., Edmond et al., 2015; Feenstra and Weinstein, 2017), welfare gains in the presence of variable markups are not necessarily lower of higher as compared to a constant markup case (see, e.g., Arkolakis et al., 2018; Demidova, 2017; Edmond et al., 2015). Variable markups lead to a variation in how different firms adjust to changes in trade policy. De Loecker and Warzynski (2012) find that exporters charge higher markups and their markups increase upon entering into exporting. Higher markups imply that changes in trade cost translate less into output prices (see, e.g., Amiti et al., 2014; De Loecker et al., 2016). For example, De Loecker et al. (2016) study how prices and markups react to trade liberalization and find evidence of incomplete pass-through of tariff reductions to consumers in terms of lower prices. Indeed, as shown by Gopinath and Itskhoki (2010), firms with higher markups are less likely to adjust their prices in the presence of price-adjustment costs. Cavenaile et al. (2022), in an endogenous growth model, show that innovations in productivity account for an increase in markups in response to a reduction in trade costs.

Third, this study is the closest to recently developing literature on the interaction of financial frictions and variable markups. Most of the studies look at the closed economy case (see, e.g., Galle, 2020; Tsiflis, 2022; Boar and Midrigan, 2022; Giuliano and Zaourak, 2017), while only selected papers consider an open economy case. Giuliano and Zaourak (2017) find that variable markups could dampen an increase in misallocation induced by the credit crunch in the presence of financial frictions. Tsiflis (2022) provides evidence that variable markups make financial frictions more costly in terms of allocative efficiency, as compared to a case of constant markups. Boar and Midrigan (2022) conclude that dispersion in markups generates dispersion in marginal products that reduces

output and factor prices, as well as increases inequality. Altomonte et al. (2017) and Altomonte et al. (2023) find that financial frictions affect firms' investment in intangible capital and markups, with a former to provide evidence that the size of collateral is an important determinant of pass-through of cost shocks to prices. Galle (2020) show in an oligopolistic setting that financial constraints dampen an increase in allocative efficiency due to increased competition since capital in financially-constrained firms grows slower. Kim and Lee (2022) study an episode of depreciation while modeling imports of inputs and abstract from exporting, and find that financially-constrained firms increase prices more and reduce markups less.

To the best of our knowledge, gains from trade liberalization in a dynamic setting with financial frictions and variable markups remain understudied and the aim of this project is to fill the existing gap in the literature.

Structure of Chapter 2. In Section 2, we describe the data used for analysis. In Section 3, we document a number of stylized facts on the reallocation of sales among Ukrainian manufacturing firms exporting to the EU. Section 4 contains a discussion of results and provides an overview of potential channels that can explain the stylized facts.

Structure of Chapter 3. In Section 1, we develop a small open economy model motivated by stylized facts in Chapter 2. Section 2 describes the calibration approach and contains a description of the economy in a steady state. In Section 3, we study the effects of trade liberalization and look at how financial constraints and variable markups shape the effects of trade liberalization. Section 4 concludes Chapters 2 and 3.

2.2 Data Description

In this section, we describe the procedure of sample construction, construction of variables, and describe trends observed in the data sample.

Sample construction. We construct a firm-level sample using a universe of Ukrainian firms' financial statements and customs records from 2011 to 2019. Financial statements contain annual balance sheets and income statements, as well as a number of employees and an industry identifier. Customs records contain shipment-level information on the exporter, value, time, destination, and product code. The following criteria for inclusion in a sample are applied.

First, we keep only the firms that operated in manufacturing, Section C of KVED/NACE (divisions 10-33)⁸. Second, we keep only the firms that did not change their primary 4-

⁸Ukrainian Classification of Types of Economic Activities, 2010 edition, (KVED-2010) based on NACE Rev. 2 and has been implemented since January 1, 2012.

digit KVED industry. Third, we drop firms registered in the Autonomous Republic of Crimea, Sevastopol, Donetsk oblast, and Luhansk oblast⁹, in order not to let starkly different trends faced by these firms to bias our results. Fourth, the following criteria of inclusion to the sample are applied: drop firms with output (net sales) of less than UAH 500 th. (in 2012 prices), capital and assets of less than UAH 100 th. (in 2012 prices), as well as employment of less than 10 workers¹⁰. Finally, firms that existed in a sample for less than 2 years and firms with gaps in a panel are excluded from the final sample. As a result, we end up with 37,956 annual observations for 5,522 unique firms.

Construction of variables. Tangible fixed assets serve as a measure of capital owned by a firm. Following a common approach applied to the Ukrainian firm-level data, we construct a measure of capital in period t as an average of tangible assets at the beginning of t and at the end of t. Because of the episodes of high inflation during the period under study, we deflate the beginning value of tangible assets by producer price index in t - 1and the end-period value by PPI in t.

We deflate all the monetary variables using respective price indices. Sales of a firm are deflated using the consumer price index as a proxy for output prices (2012 is a base year), while assets and capital - using the producer price index for a respective sector (2012 is a base year)¹¹. We also convert export values into Ukrainian hryvnia (UAH) using either value in UAH provided in the original data, or USD/UAH exchange rate on the transaction day. After converting the values to UAH, we deflate them with the consumer price index (using 2012 as a base year). We categorize a firm as an exporter to the EU if a firm exported to at least one of the EU-28 members in a given year.

Given the nature of the financial market in Ukraine¹², detecting whether a firm is financially-constrained is a non-trivial task. Moreover, we have only a selected list of financial variables that do not allow calculating measures commonly studied in the literature, e.g., Rajan and Zingales (1998), Manova (2012) or Alfaro et al. (2022). As a result, we define a firm as financially-constrained if it has limited assets to external financing as measured by a below-median leverage¹³ and a below-median ratio of financial cost to total assets¹⁴.

Descriptive statistics. Since for the stylized facts, we consider a window between 2013 and 2016, Table 2.1 contains the average values for selected variables over the period of

⁹The regions of Ukraine that are fully or partially occupied since 2014

¹⁰Employed in our data is an average number of employees in a given year as reported in financial statements of firms.

¹¹Both consumer and producer price indices are obtained from State Statistic Service of Ukraine

¹²Numerous surveys of firms indicate that the inability to get banking financing is the major obstacle for exporting, in particular, and production, overall.

 $^{^{13}}Leverage = (Short-Term \ Debt + Long-Term \ Debt) / Total \ Assets$

 $^{{}^{14}{\}it FinCost-to-Asset} = {\it Financial \ Cost}/{\it Total \ Assets}$

Indicator	2013	2014	2015	2016		
Main char	racteristics					
Sales, mean, UAH th.	99,373.2	110, 126.9	99,994.2	98,043.7		
Capital, mean, UAH th	$37,\!973.6$	$40,\!560.7$	$36,\!949.3$	$31,\!144.1$		
Assets, mean, UAH th	104,284.6	114,769.1	$114,\!613.3$	$107,\!512.8$		
Employment, mean, persons	194.3	191.0	184.8	181.7		
Capital-Labor ratio, simple average, UAH th	103.6	103.8	90.3	79.5		
Capital-Labor ratio, sales-weighted, UAH th	365.7	430.0	430.1	368.1		
Wage Bill-Output ratio, mean	0.45	0.22	0.20	0.19		
International trade						
Share of exporters, %	46.8	48.3	51.4	52.4		
Share of exporters to the EU, $\%$	24.7	29.5	33.0	35.7		
Share of exports in sales, all destinations, $\%$	30.3	31.9	30.9	29.8		
Share of exports in sales, $\%$	17.6	17.3	18.8	19.2		
Financial constraints						
Leverage, mean	0.150	0.158	0.158	0.148		
Share of financially constrained firms, $\%$	38.0	37.3	37.1	36.2		

Table 2.1: Selected Descriptive Statistics of a Sample

Note: This table provides average values for selected variables in the firm-level panel between 2013 and 2016.

interest. An average firm in 2013 had 99 UAH mln in sales and 104 UAH mln in assets, employed 194 workers, and capital worth 38 UAH mln. After 2014, the average firm shrunk in terms of outputs and inputs (see Table 2.1). While an average capital-labor ratio decreased from 103.6 UAH th. in 2013 to 79.5 in 2016 UAH th., an aggregate capital intensity, measured as a sales-weighted capital-labor ratio, increased. The overall share of exporters increased between 2013 and 2016 from 46.8% to 52.4% of manufacturing firms, with more firms reallocating their sales to the market of the European Union - from 24.7% to 35.7%. The average Exports-to-Sales ratio of exporters to all destinations decreased from 30.3% to 29.8%, but exporters to the EU increased their export intensity from 17.6% of total sales obtained from exporting to the EU to 19.2%.

A share of financially-constrained firms decreased from 38.0% in 2013 to 36.2% in 2016, while the average leverage varied between 0.148-0.158.

2.3 Facts on Reallocation

In this subsection, we document a set of stylized facts about the dynamics of the aggregate capital intensity and reallocation of sales among manufacturing firms.

Fact 1. The aggregate capital intensity of Exporters to the EU increases. First, we look at the aggregate capital intensity of exporters to the EU and the rest of Ukrainian manufacturing firms. To do so, we calculate a ratio of tangible capital to the size of employment for each firm and aggregate the resulting ratios by calculating the sales-weighted mean. As shown, in Table 2.1, a simple average capital-labor ratio decreased, while a sales-weighted aggregate capital intensity gradually increased after 2013. However, this total change masks a heterogeneity in trends based on the exporter to the EU status.





Note: This chart shows the evolution of the aggregate capital-to-labor ratio of both a set of exporters to the EU and a set of firms that were not exporting to the EU. The aggregate capital intensity of exporters to the EU is the export sales-weighted average of capital intensities. The aggregate capital intensity of non-exporters to the EU is a total sales-weighted average of capital intensities.

In Chart 2.1, we plot the export sales-weighted aggregate capital intensity of exporters to the EU and the total sales-weighted capital intensity of firms that did not export to the EU. Before 2014, exporters to the EU had a higher capital intensity compared to firms not exporting to the EU. Moreover, the aggregate capital intensity of exporters to the EU increased between 2013 and 2016. While the aggregate capital intensity of exporters was UAH 354.7k in 2013, it increased with time and reached UAH 477.6k in 2016. In Figure 2.3 in Appendix, we also plot total sales-weighted capital intensity for exporters to the EU and see that this measure also demonstrates an increase after 2013.

Increasing aggregate capital intensity is not observed for those firms that did not export to the EU. According to Figure 2.1, the sales-weighted capital intensity of these firms decreased from UAH 183.1k to UAH 101.0k over the same period. Hence, while the capital intensity of exporters increased between 2013 and 2016, non-exporters experienced the opposite trend.

Fact 2. The increase in aggregate capital intensity of exporters is driven by the reallocation of sales among incumbents. What can explain such a drastic

increase in the aggregate capital intensity of exporters? In order to understand this, we perform a dynamic decomposition of an aggregate capital-labor ratio following Olley and Pakes (1996) and Melitz and Polanec (2015), as shown in (2.3.1):

$$\Delta \begin{bmatrix} \frac{K}{L} \end{bmatrix}_{XEU} = \underbrace{\Delta \begin{bmatrix} \frac{\bar{K}}{L} \end{bmatrix}_{SXEU}}_{Within-firm} + \underbrace{\Delta \sum_{j} \sum_{i \in SXEU_{j}} (\omega_{j}^{0} \omega_{ji} - \bar{\omega}) \left(\frac{K_{ji}}{L_{ji}} - \frac{\bar{K}}{L} \right)}_{Within-sector reallocation} + \underbrace{\omega_{Ex} \left(\begin{bmatrix} \frac{K}{L} \end{bmatrix}_{XEUEx}^{0} - \begin{bmatrix} \frac{K}{L} \end{bmatrix}_{SXEU}^{0} \right)}_{Exit} + \underbrace{\omega_{En} \left(\begin{bmatrix} \frac{K}{L} \end{bmatrix}_{SXEU}^{1} - \begin{bmatrix} \frac{K}{L} \end{bmatrix}_{XEUEn}^{1} \right)}_{Entry},$$
(2.3.1)

where XEU is a set of exporters to the EU: incumbents SXEU, entrants XEUEn and exiting firms XEUEx. $\frac{K}{L}$ is a sales-weighted capital-labor ratio, $\frac{\bar{K}}{L}$ - unweighted mean, and $\frac{K_{ji}}{L_{ji}}$ is capital-labor ratio of firm *i* in sector *j*. ω is the export sales share either for a firm *i* in sector *j*, or a set of exiting and entering firms. We consider changes between period 0 and period 1¹⁵.

Conceptually, in this decomposition, we look at the drivers behind the increase in aggregate capital intensity and decompose the change into five components: change in the unweighted mean of surviving firms, within-sector reallocation among surviving firms, between-sector reallocation among surviving firms, the contribution of an entry into the EU market and contribution of an exit from the EU market.

Results of decomposition (2.3.1) are shown in Table 2.2. The unweighted average capital intensity of surviving exporters to the EU after the initial increase decreased between 2013 and 2016, which can be explained by increased interest rates in the Ukrainian economy that made exporters more constrained on average. In a model with backward-looking financial constraints, such a phenomenon might result from the tightening of collateral constraints. The negative contribution of entry implies that new exporters were less capital-intensive compared to the existing exporters, while the positive contribution of exit means that the exit of exporters with lower capital intensity positively contributed to the evolution of the aggregate capital-labor ratio. The main contribution to an increase in the aggregate capital-labor ratio comes from the reallocation of export sales among incumbents. Specifically, we observe positive reallocation of sales towards (i) more capital-intensive sectors.

As a robustness check, we also perform a dynamic decomposition of the total sales-

¹⁵See Appendix 2.5.1 for a detailed description of terms

Period	Unweighted	Incumbents:	Incumbents:	Entry	Exit	Total
	mean of	Within-sector	Between-sector	·		
	incumbents	reallocation of	reallocation of			
		sales	sales			
2013-2014	6.4	15.2	71.7	-10.4	3.1	86.0
2013 - 2015	-7.4	27.1	73.8	-12.0	6.4	88.0
2013-2016	-25.2	42.3	92.2	-2.3	15.8	122.9

Table 2.2: Dynamic decomposition of an aggregate capital-labor ratio of exporters to theEuropean Union

Note: This table contains results of dynamic Melitz-Polanec decomposition of an aggregate capitallabor ratio of exporters to the EU in Equation (2.3.1). Each row contains results for a separate exercise with period 0 being 2013 and period 1 being the last year of a respective period. Column "Total" contains the change in aggregate export sales-weighted capital-labor ratio, column "Unweighted mean of incumbents" contains the within-firm component of change in (2.3.1), column "Incumbents: Within-sector reallocation of sales" - within-sector reallocation of sales among firms, column "Incumbents: Between-sector reallocation of sales" - between-sector reallocation of sales, column "Entry" - entry, column "Exit" - exit. Shares are calculated using export sales only.

weighted capital-labor share of exporters to the EU. According to results in Table 2.5, between-sector reallocation becomes less important, while reallocation of sales towards more capital-intensive exporters within the sector remains positive and significantly contributes to the evolution of the aggregate capital intensity.

To conclude, within-sector reallocation towards more-capital intensive firms is an important driver of the higher capital intensity of exporters to the EU after an episode of trade liberalization. But does this happen only for the exporters or the same pattern of reallocation was also observed for non-exporters to the EU?

Fact 3. Firms not exporting to the EU did not experience as strong reallocation of sales as exporters. To answer this question, we perform dynamic Melitz and Polanec (2015) decomposition of an aggregate capital-labor ratio of manufacturing firms that did not export to the EU. Decomposition follows 2.3.1 with an exception that we consider a set of non-exports to the EU, NX, and use total sales for weights.

According to results provided in Table 2.3, an average unweighted capital intensity decreased during 2013-2016, the pattern was also observed for the exporters to the EU. Hence, all the firms, irrespective of their export status, experienced a reduction in average capital intensity that could be a reflection of the monetary tightening implemented by the National Bank of Ukraine in response to a surge in inflation that happened after 2014. However, reallocation among survivors was different. First, we do not observe reallocation towards capital-intensive sectors - sales reallocated towards less capital-intensive industries. Second, within-sector reallocation towards capital-intensive firms still occurs but is weaker as compared to exporters to the EU.

Period	Unweighted	Incumbents:	Incumbents:	Entry	Exit	Total
	mean of	Within-sector	Between-sector			
	incumbents	reallocation of	reallocation of			
		sales	sales			
2013-2014	5.7	0.6	2.1	14.06	-25.9	-3.4
2013-2015	-8	8.7	-15.5	27.7	-39.1	-26.2
2013-2016	-17.5	12.8	-22.7	-2.34	-52.3	-82

Table 2.3: Dynamic decomposition of an aggregate capital-labor ratio of firms not exporting to the EU

Note: This table contains results of dynamic Melitz-Polanec decomposition of an aggregate capitallabor ratio in Equation (2.3.1) for a set of non-exporters to the EU. Each row contains results for a separate exercise with period 0 being 2013 and period 1 being the last year of a respective period. Column "Total" contains the change in aggregate export sales-weighted capital-labor ratio, column "Unweighted mean of incumbents" contains the within-firm component of change in (2.3.1), column "Incumbents: Within-sector reallocation of sales" - within-sector reallocation of sales among firms, column "Incumbents: Between-sector reallocation of sales" - between-sector reallocation of sales, column "Entry" - entry, column "Exit" - exit. Shares are calculated using total sales.

Fact 4. Capital-intense firms/sectors are less financially constrained. Capitalintensive firms tend to be less financially constrained. First, we look at how the capital intensity of constrained and unconstrained firms differ in the data. We calculate a simple average of the capital-labor ratio for financially-constrained and financially-unconstrained firms according to the definition described in Section 2.2. Panel (a) of Figure 2.2 plots the evolution of average capital intensities for both groups of firms. We can see that financially-constrained firms have a higher capital-labor ratio in all the years available in the sample. For example, the mean log capital-labor ratio was 10.5 in 2013, with 10.2 for financially-constrained and 10.8 for unconstrained firms.

Second, we also look at how financial constraints and capital intensity correlate at the sectoral level, since capital-intensive sectors rely more on external finance (see, e.g., Manova, 2012; Leibovici, 2021). To do so, we compare the average capital-labor ratio with a share of financially-constrained firms at the level of KVED divisions (2-digit codes) in the reference year of 2013. Panel (b) of Figure 2.2 shows that sectors with more than 40% of financially constrained firms have, on average, mean log capital-labor ratio below 10, while sectors with less than 30% of constrained firms have, on average, mean log capitallabor ratio above 11. Overall, a linear trend shows a negative correlation between the two measures, which is equal to -0.73.

Taking stock so far, we can make the following conclusions. After trade liberalization, export sales to the EU substantially reallocated towards capital-intensive firms. Given that financially-constrained firms are less capital-intensive, this might be indicative of the reallocation towards unconstrained firms. However, the data reveals that export sales also reallocated toward firms with lower markups.



Figure 2.2: Capital intensity and financial constraints

Note: Panel (a) shows the evolution of an average capital-labor ratio (in logs) for financially-constrained and financiallyunconstrained firms, as defined in Section 2.2. Panel (b) plots an average capital intensity vs. a share of financiallyconstrained firms in a sector in year 2013.

Fact 5. Export sales reallocated toward firms with high labor share. Additionally, we perform a dynamic decomposition of the labor share ratio, measured as a ratio of the wage bill and social contributions to the net sales of firms. Similarly to the case of capital intensity, we decompose export sales-weighted aggregate labor share of exporters to the EU using $(2.3.2)^{16}$:

$$\Delta \begin{bmatrix} \frac{WL}{PQ} \end{bmatrix} = \underbrace{\Delta \begin{bmatrix} \frac{W\bar{L}}{PQ} \end{bmatrix}_{S}}_{\text{Within}} + \underbrace{\Delta \sum_{j} \sum_{i \in S_{j}} (\omega_{j}^{0} \omega_{ji} - \bar{\omega}) \left(\frac{W_{ji}L_{ji}}{P_{ji}Q_{ji}} - \frac{W\bar{L}}{PQ} \right)}_{\text{Within-sector reallocation}} + \underbrace{\sum_{j} \left(\sum_{i \in S_{j}} \omega_{ji} \frac{W_{ji}L_{ji}}{P_{ji}Q_{ji}} \right)^{1} \Delta \omega_{j}}_{\text{Exit}} + \underbrace{\sum_{j} \left(\left[\frac{WL}{PQ} \right]_{S}^{0} - \left[\frac{WL}{PQ} \right]_{S}^{0} \right)}_{\text{Entry}} + \underbrace{\sum_{j} \left(\left[\frac{WL}{PQ} \right]_{En}^{1} - \left[\frac{WL}{PQ} \right]_{En}^{1} \right)}_{\text{Entry}}, \quad (2.3.2)$$

where $\frac{WL}{PQ}$ is a ratio of wage bill to sales, while the rest of the terms follow descriptions in (2.3.1) and Appendix 2.5.1.

Results of decomposition (2.3.2) are in Table 2.4. Overall, the aggregate labor share decreased between 2013-2016. This decrease was driven by a lower simple average labor share of incumbents, between-sector reallocation of sales towards industries with lower share relative wages, as well as the negative contribution of the net entry.

However, in line with the case of capital intensity, we also observe a positive contribution of within-sector reallocation towards firms with higher labor share in output. This pattern

 $^{^{16}\}mathrm{See}$ Appendix 2.5.1 for details.

in within-sector reallocation could indicate that export sales (and total sales, as shown in Table 2.6) reallocated towards firms with relatively lower markups. In line with the works of De Loecker and Warzynski (2012) and Edmond et al. (2023), we can make two assumptions, under which labor share is inversely related to a markup: (i) labor is a static input subject to no adjustment cost, and (ii) labor output elasticity is similar across firms within industries. In this case, the markup of a firm can be expressed as:

$$\mu_{ijt} = \frac{P_{ijt}Q_{ijt}}{W_{ijt}L_{ijt}} \times \alpha_j, \qquad (2.3.3)$$

where $P_{ijt}Q_{ijt}$ is total sales of a firm *i* in industry *j*, $W_{ijt}L_{ijt}$ is a wage bill of a firm, and α_j is labor output elasticity in industry *j*. Given that labor output elasticity is constant within sectors under this specification, the higher labor share of a firm implies that this firm is expected to have a lower markup. Hence, if we make two assumptions above, a pattern of reallocation of sales toward firms with higher labor share might be suggestive of the fact that after unilateral trade liberalization, exporters with lower markups could expand their sales after a reduction in trade costs.

Period	Unweighted	Incumbents:	Incumbents:	Entry	Exit	Total
	mean of	Within-sector	Between-sector			
	incumbents	reallocation of	reallocation of			
		sales	sales			
2013-2014	-0.0233	0.0188	-0.0224	-0.0017	-0.0003	-0.0274
2013-2015	-0.0346	0.0289	-0.0328	-0.0025	0.0013	-0.0390
2013-2016	-0.0360	0.0288	-0.0299	-0.0113	0.0092	-0.0371

Table 2.4: Dynamic decomposition of the labor-output ratio of exporters to the EU

<u>Note</u>: This table contains results of dynamic Melitz-Polanec decomposition of an aggregate labor share of exporters to the EU in Equation (2.3.2). Each row contains results for a separate exercise with period 0 being 2013 and period 1 being the last year of a respective period. Column "Total" contains the change in aggregate export sales-weighted labor share ratio, column "Unweighted mean of incumbents" contains the within-firm component of change in (2.3.2), column "Incumbents: Within-sector reallocation of sales" - within-sector reallocation of sales among firms, column "Incumbents: Between-sector reallocation of sales" - between-sector reallocation of sales, column "Entry" - entry, column "Exit" - exit. Shares are calculated using export sales only.

2.4 Discussion of Results

What can explain an intense reallocation of sales towards firms with greater capital intensity?

Incomplete pass-through due to capital misallocation. In a previous section, we find that exporters with higher capital intensity and better access to external financing primarily expanded their total sales overall and export sales in particular. This happens

since financially-unconstrained firms can completely pass through a reduction in trade cost into their marginal cost, while financially-constrained firms face incomplete passthrough. Financially-unconstrained firms can allocate an optimal mix of resources and produce at the optimal level. As a result, upon reduction in trade costs and increase in foreign demand, they can completely pass-through cost shock to higher sales at the foreign market. Financially-constrained firms, because of the binding borrowing constraint, produce under the optimal level. Moreover, some firms might become financially-constrained after trade liberalization. As a result, they can increase output after trade liberalization substituting missing capital with labor, which increases their marginal cost.

Cost-push shocks to cost of capital. In addition to the reduction of an aggregate capital-labor ratio of firms that did not export to the EU, we observe a decrease in a within-firm capital-labor ratio of both exporters and non-exporters. Hence, even for the exporters to the EU, reallocation towards capital-intensive firms occurred at the same time when firms became on average less capital-intensive. This might point to the domestic cost-push shocks to the cost of capital as a second force which could strengthen the reallocation we observe in the data¹⁷. In theory, these shocks should further tighten the borrowing constraints of financially-constrained exporters, that are already more constrained and satisfy higher foreign at the expense of domestic sales.

Incomplete pass-through due to variable markups. The presence of variable markups would lead to a weaker response to trade liberalization and cost-push shocks of firms with greater markups (see, e.g., Edmond et al., 2023; De Loecker et al., 2016). In the model that features variable markups and financial frictions, if two firms have the same level of productivity, but one of them has a greater cost of capital due to worse access to finance, the other would have greater markup and thus would experience lower pass-through of cost shocks. Thus, variable markups could potentially weaken the real-location towards more capital-intensive firms.

While the former two channels are well-studied in the financial constraints literature (see, e.g., Midrigan and Xu, 2014; Kohn et al., 2020; Brooks and Dovis, 2020), the latter is not, despite the evidence that trade liberalization affects markups of both exporters and non-exporters (see, e.g., Edmond et al., 2015; Melitz and Ottaviano, 2008). The reason is that most dynamic models with financial constraints assume monopolistic competition with CES demand, with firms setting constant markups over marginal costs. The existing dynamic models that feature both financial frictions mainly abstract from exporting decisions of firms (see, e.g., Galle, 2020; Tsiflis, 2022; Giuliano and Zaourak, 2017), or

 $^{^{17}}$ Indeed, between 2013 and 2015, the National Bank of Ukraine increased its policy rate from 6.5% to 30.0%.

look only at the importing dimension and the effects of exchange rate depreciation (see, e.g., Kim and Lee, 2022).

To analyze the role of variable markups in explaining the resource reallocation following the unilateral trade liberalization by the European Union for Ukrainian goods, we build a small open-economy model with variable markups and financial frictions.

2.5 Appendix

2.5.1 Melitz-Polanec dynamic decomposition of capital-labor ratio

To decompose the aggregate capital intensity of exporters, we perform a dynamic decomposition following Olley and Pakes (1996) and Melitz and Polanec (2015) into a change in an average capital-labor ratio of incumbents (survivors), within-sector reallocation of sales among incumbents, between-sector reallocation of market shares, the contribution of entering and exiting firms. The resulting decomposition is of the following form:

$$\Delta \begin{bmatrix} \overline{K} \\ \overline{L} \end{bmatrix}_{XEU} = \underbrace{\Delta \begin{bmatrix} \overline{K} \\ \overline{L} \end{bmatrix}_{SXEU}}_{Within-firm} + \underbrace{\Delta \sum_{j} \sum_{i \in SXEU_{j}} (\omega_{j}^{0}\omega_{ji} - \overline{\omega}) \left(\frac{K_{ji}}{L_{ji}} - \frac{\overline{K}}{L} \right)}_{Within-sector reallocation} + \underbrace{\omega_{Ex} \left(\begin{bmatrix} \overline{K} \\ \overline{L} \end{bmatrix}_{XEUEx}^{0} - \begin{bmatrix} \overline{K} \\ \overline{L} \end{bmatrix}_{SXEU}^{0} + \underbrace{\omega_{En} \left(\begin{bmatrix} \overline{K} \\ \overline{L} \end{bmatrix}_{SXEU}^{1} - \begin{bmatrix} \overline{K} \\ \overline{L} \end{bmatrix}_{XEUEn}^{1} \right)}_{Exit} + \underbrace{\omega_{En} \left(\begin{bmatrix} \overline{K} \\ \overline{L} \end{bmatrix}_{SXEU}^{1} - \begin{bmatrix} \overline{K} \\ \overline{L} \end{bmatrix}_{XEUEn}^{1} \right)}_{Entry}$$

Next, we provide the intuition behind each of the terms.

The left-hand side of the formula is a change of the export sales-weighted aggregate capital-labor ratio of exporters between periods 0 and 1, where $\frac{K}{L}$ is an aggregate capital intensity, and XEU is a set of all exporters to the EU.

The first term of the right-hand side, "within-firm", shows a change in the unweighted mean of capital-labor ratio between period 0 and period 1, where $\frac{\bar{K}}{L}$ is an unweighted mean of firm-level capital intensity, and SXEU is a set of surviving exporters (incumbents) that exported in both periods.

The second term of right-hand side, "within-sector reallocation", provides a contribution of within-sector reallocation among surviving firms in this sector, where j is a sector, $i \in SXEU_j$ is a surviving exporter to the EU that operates in sector j, ω_j^0 is share of sector j in total exports to the EU in period 0, ω_{ji} is a share of firm i in sector's j exports to the EU, $\bar{\omega}$ is a mean market share of surviving firms, $\frac{K_{ji}}{L_{ji}}$ is a capital-labor ration of firm i in sector j, $\frac{\bar{K}}{L}$ is an unweighted mean of firm-level capital intensity.

The third term of the right-hand side, "between-sector reallocation", represents contribution of reallocation of sales across sectors, where $\left(\sum_{i \in SXEU_j} \omega_{ji} \frac{K_{ji}}{L_{ji}}\right)^1$ is a weighted average of capital-labor ratios of all surviving firms in sector j in period 1, $\Delta \omega_j$ is a change in exports share of sector j.

The fourth term, "exit," contains a contribution of exiting firms, where ω_{Ex} is a share in sales in period 0 of firms exiting in period 1, $\left[\frac{K}{L}\right]_{XEUEx}^{0}$ is an aggregate capital-labor ratio of exiting firms in period 0, $\left[\frac{K}{L}\right]_{SXEU}^{0}$ is an aggregate capital-labor ratio of surviving firms in period 0.

The fifth term, "entry", contains a contribution of entering firms, where ω_{En} is a sales share in period 1 of firms entering in period 1, $\left[\frac{K}{L}\right]_{XEUEn}^{0}$ is an aggregate capital-labor ratio of entering firms in period 1, $\left[\frac{K}{L}\right]_{SXEU}^{0}$ is an aggregate capital-labor ratio of surviving firms in period 1.

In Section 2.3, we apply Melitz and Polanec (2015) decomposition for a number of exercises. Above, we describe the decomposition of the export-sales ratio of the aggregate capital intensity of exporters to the EU. Later, we modify this decomposition in the following way. For total-sales weighted aggregate capital intensity of exporters, we calculate sales shares using total sales instead of export sales. For the aggregate capital intensity of non-exporters, we calculate sales shares using the total sales of firms and consider a set of non-exporters to the EU NX instead of exporters XEU.

Finally, for the dynamic decomposition of a labor share, we modify a capital-labor ratio, $\frac{K}{L}$, with a labor-sales ratio, $\frac{WL}{PQ}$, but follow the same definition of the terms.

2.5.2 Additional Results

Figure 2.3: Aggregate capital intensity of exporters to the EU vs. non-exporters to the EU



Note: This chart shows the evolution of the aggregate capital-to-labor ratio of both a set of exporters to the EU and a set of firms that are not exporting to the EU. Aggregate capital intensity is the total sales-weighted average of capital intensities.

Period	Unweighted	Incumbents:	Incumbents:	Entry	Exit	Total
	mean of	Within-sector	Between-sector			
	incumbents	reallocation of	reallocation of			
		sales	sales			
2013-2014	6.4	16.3	63.7	-26.2	7.1	67.3
2013-2015	-7.4	32.1	61.3	-29.0	14.4	71.4
2013-2016	-25.2	32.4	-4.2	-29.5	23.8	-2.8

Table 2.5: Dynamic decomposition of the capital-labor ratio of exporters to the EU

Note: This table contains results of dynamic Melitz-Polanec decomposition of an aggregate capitallabor ratio of exporters to the EU in Equation (2.3.1). Each row contains results for a separate exercise with period 0 being 2013 and period 1 being the last year of a respective period. Column "Total" contains the change in aggregate export sales-weighted capital-labor ratio, column "Unweighted mean of incumbents" contains the within-firm component of change in (2.3.1), column "Incumbents: Within-sector reallocation of sales" - within-sector reallocation of sales among firms, column "Incumbents: Between-sector reallocation of sales" - between-sector reallocation of sales, column "Entry" - entry, column "Exit" - exit. Shares are calculated using total sales.

Table 2.6: Dynamic decomposition of labor share of exporters to the EU

Period	Unweighted	Incumbents:	Incumbents:	Entry	Exit	Total
	mean of	Within-sector	Between-sector			
	incumbents	reallocation of	reallocation of			
		sales	sales			
2013-2014	-0.0233	0.0202	-0.0115	0.0032	-0.0011	-0.0112
2013-2015	-0.0346	0.0306	-0.0202	0.0024	-0.0017	-0.0226
2013-2016	-0.0360	0.0298	-0.0210	0.0002	-0.0000	-0.0250

<u>Note</u>: This table contains results of dynamic Melitz-Polanec decomposition of an aggregate labor share of exporters to the EU in Equation (2.3.2). Each row contains results for a separate exercise with period 0 being 2013 and period 1 being the last year of a respective period. Column "Total" contains the change in aggregate export sales-weighted labor share ratio, column "Unweighted mean of incumbents" contains the within-firm component of change in (2.3.2), column "Incumbents: Within-sector reallocation of sales" - within-sector reallocation of sales among firms, column "Incumbents: Between-sector reallocation of sales" - between-sector reallocation of sales, column "Entry" - entry, column "Exit" - exit. Shares are calculated using total sales.

Chapter 3

Financial Frictions, Markups, and Trade Liberalization: Quantitative Exploration

with Andrii Tarasenko and Volodymyr Vakhitov

3.1 Model

Motivated by stylized facts, presented in 2, we build a small open-economy model with financial frictions and variable markups.

The model generally builds on Kohn et al. (2020) with a number of modifications. First, contrary to Kohn et al. (2020), we assume that financial markets are not internationally-integrated and entrepreneurs can buy only bonds denominated in units of the domestic final good. Second, final good producers aggregate intermediate varieties into a final good using Kimball (1995) aggregator similar to Gopinath et al. (2020) and Klenow and Willis (2016) that gives rise to variable demand elasticities. Under these conditions, monopolistically-competitive firms would maximize profits by setting variable markups. Third, we assume that domestic firms sell to one foreign market and we abstract from other destinations. Both domestic producers and importers set variable markups in the domestic market. In order to simplify the problem and retain the assumption of Ukraine as a small open economy, we assume constant elasticity demand abroad. Fourth, contrary to Kohn et al. (2020), all exporters face similar trade costs. Finally, we explicitly model foreign firms importing to the domestic economy and assume that they are financially-unconstrained.

3.1.1 Economic Environment

Final Good Producers

The final good is produced by perfectly-competitive final good producers that purchase both varieties produced by domestic intermediate producers and imported varieties produced by foreign intermediate producers. We denote the aggregate production of the final good in country d at time t by Y_{dt} and assume that it can be used either for consumption or investment in capital.

Final good producers use a bundle of differentiated intermediate inputs $y_{dt}(\omega)$ with $\omega \in \Omega_{dt}$, where Ω_{dt} is the set of intermediate input varieties, available for the purchase in the country d at time t. Similarly to Gopinath et al. (2020), we partition Ω_{dt} into the set of domestically-produced varieties Ω_{ddt} and the set of imported varieties, Ω_{dmt} . We normalize $|\Omega_{ddt}| = 1$.

Varieties are aggregated into the final good using the Kimball (1995) aggregator:

$$\frac{1}{|\Omega_{ddt}|} \int_{\Omega_{ddt}} \Upsilon\left(\frac{|\Omega_{ddt}|y_{dt}(\omega)}{Y_{dt}}\right) d\omega + \frac{1}{|\Omega_{dmt}|} \int_{\Omega_{dmt}} \Upsilon\left(\frac{|\Omega_{dmt}|y_{dmt}(\omega)}{Y_{dt}}\right) d\omega = 1, \quad (3.1.1)$$

where $y_{dt}(\omega)$ is an output supplied by a domestic entrepreneur to the domestic market, and $y_{dmt}(\omega)$ is an import of a foreign firm to the domestic market.

We denote $q_d = \frac{y_d}{Y_d}$ and make use of the specification of $\Upsilon(q)$ from Klenow and Willis

(2016):

$$\Upsilon(q) = 1 + (\sigma - 1) \exp\left(\frac{1}{\varepsilon}\right) \varepsilon^{\frac{\sigma}{\varepsilon} - 1} \left[\Gamma\left(\frac{\sigma}{\varepsilon}, \frac{1}{\varepsilon}\right) - \Gamma\left(\frac{\sigma}{\varepsilon}, \frac{q^{\frac{\varepsilon}{\sigma}}}{\varepsilon}\right)\right]$$

We assume, that $\sigma > 1$, $\varepsilon \ge 0$ and $\Gamma(s, x)$ being incomplete Gamma function:

$$\Gamma(s,x) := \int_{x}^{\infty} t^{s-1} e^{-t} dt$$

If $\varepsilon \geq 0$, firms with greater relative quantity, q, set higher markups.

Taking the prices of ω as given and normalizing prices of the final good to 1, final good producers choose $y_{dt}(\omega)$ to maximize profits:

$$P_{dt}Y_{dt} - \int_{\Omega_{dt}} p_{dt}(\omega)y_{dt}(\omega)d\omega$$
(3.1.2)

s.t.

$$\frac{1}{|\Omega_{ddt}|} \int_{\Omega_{ddt}} \Upsilon\left(\frac{|\Omega_{ddt}|y_{dt}(\omega)}{Y_{dt}}\right) d\omega + \frac{1}{|\Omega_{dmt}|} \int_{\Omega_{dmt}} \Upsilon\left(\frac{|\Omega_{dmt}|y_{dmt}(\omega)}{Y_{dt}}\right) d\omega = 1, \quad (3.1.3)$$

where a price index P_{dt} is

$$P_{dt} := \int_{\Omega_{ddt}} p_{dt}(\omega) \frac{y_{dt}(\omega)}{Y_{dt}} d\omega + \int_{\Omega_{dmt}} p_{dmt}(\omega) \frac{y_{dmt}(\omega)}{Y_{dt}} d\omega$$
(3.1.4)

At the optimum, an inverse demand function is

$$p_{dt}(\omega) = \Upsilon'\left(\frac{y_{dt}(\omega)}{Y_{dt}}\right) \frac{P_{dt}}{D_{dt}} = \frac{\sigma - 1}{\sigma} \exp\left(\frac{1 - \left[\frac{y_{dt}(\omega)}{Y_{dt}}\right]^{\frac{\varepsilon}{\sigma}}}{\varepsilon}\right) \frac{P_{dt}}{D_{dt}}$$
(3.1.5)

where D_{dt} is a demand index defined as

$$D_{dt} = \int_{\Omega_{ddt}} \Upsilon'\left(|\Omega_{ddt}|\frac{y_{dt}(\omega)}{Y_{dt}}\right) \frac{y_{dt}(\omega)}{Y_{dt}} d\omega + \int_{\Omega_{dmt}} \Upsilon'\left(|\Omega_{dmt}|\frac{y_{dmt}(\omega)}{Y_{dt}}\right) \frac{y_{dmt}(\omega)}{Y_{dt}} d\omega \quad (3.1.6)$$

Entrepreneurs

Preferences. The domestic economy is populated by a continuum of unit measure of infinitely-lived risk-averse entrepreneurs that maximize lifetime utility from consuming final goods. Entrepreneurs in a country d maximize the constant relative risk aversion (CRRA) utility function from consuming a final good with a coefficient of relative risk aversion ν :

$$\sum_{t=0}^{\infty} \beta^t \frac{C_{idt}^{1+\nu}}{1+\nu},\tag{3.1.7}$$

where C_{idt} is an individual consumption of a final good by a domestic entrepreneur *i* in period *t*, and β is a discount factor.

Technology. Each entrepreneur i owns an intermediate input firm producing a variety ω . We do not model an occupational choice and assume that each entrepreneur i supplies a unit of labor to a competitive labor market that is used by intermediate producers for production and paying the fixed cost of exporting.

Intermediate good producers use the Cobb-Douglas production function in labor and capital to produce variety for both domestic and export markets:

$$y_{dt}(\omega) + \tau_{dft} y_{ft}(\omega) = z_{dt}(\omega) k_{dt}(\omega)^{\alpha} l_{dt}(\omega)^{1-\alpha}, \qquad (3.1.8)$$

where $y_{dt}(\omega)$ is the output produced for a domestic market, $y_{ft}(\omega)$ is the output produced for a foreign market, τ_{dft} is an iceberg-type cost of transporting the good from home to the foreign location, α is a capital-output elasticity, $z_{dt}(\omega)$ is the productivity of an intermediate producer, $l_{dt}(\omega)$ is labor employed by a firm, and $k_{dt}(\omega)$ is capital that follows a law of motion:

$$k_{dt+1}(\omega) = (1-\delta)k_{dt}(\omega) + x_{dt}(\omega)$$
(3.1.9)

with δ denoting a depreciation rate and $x_{dt}(\omega)$ denoting the investment of the entrepreneur in the capital of their intermediate producer. Productivity $z_t(\omega)$ follows log-normal AR(1) process with the standard deviation of productivity shocks equal to σ_{ε} :

$$\log z_t = (1 - \rho_z)\mu_z + \rho_z \log z_{t-1} + \varepsilon_t, \quad \varepsilon_t \sim \mathcal{N}(0, \sigma_\varepsilon^2)$$
(3.1.10)

We assume that each entrepreneur owns an asset endowment $a_{dt}(\omega)$ that determines the amount of money firms can potentially borrow

$$d_{dt}(\omega) = (1 + R_{dt})(k_{dt}(\omega) - a_{dt}(\omega))$$
(3.1.11)

In addition to a natural borrowing limit, each intermediate producer can borrow up to a fraction of their capital according to a backward-looking collateral constraint:

$$d_{dt}(\omega) \le \theta k_{dt}(\omega), \tag{3.1.12}$$

where θ shows a fraction of capital that can be used as collateral and represents the degree of enforceability of contracts in the economy. There are no financial frictions when $\theta = \infty$.

We denote the marginal cost of the firm as $MC_{dt}(\omega)$ and derive the system of first-order

conditions for profit maximization problem with respect to capital and labor:

$$W_{dt} = MC_{dt}(\omega)(1-\alpha)k_{dt}(\omega)^{\alpha}l_{dt}(\omega)^{-\alpha}$$
(3.1.13)

$$R_{dt} = MC_{dt}(\omega)\alpha k_{dt}(\omega)^{\alpha-1}l_{dt}(\omega)^{1-\alpha} - \delta - \lambda_{dt}(\omega)$$
(3.1.14)

Here $\lambda_{dt}(\omega)$ indicates the value of the Lagrange multiplier, which satisfies the complementary slackness condition:

$$\lambda_{dt}(\omega) \left(\frac{1 + R_{dt}}{1 + R_{dt} - \theta} a_{dt}(\omega) - k_{dt}(\omega) \right) = 0$$
(3.1.15)

For an unconstrained firm $\lambda_{dt}(\omega) = 0$, but for a firm for which collateral constraint binds, $\lambda_{dt}(\omega) > 0$. Similarly to Kohn et al. (2020), we think of such firms as having an effective cost of capital equal to $R_{dt} + \delta + \lambda_{dt}(\omega)$, i.e. a sum of an interest rate, a depreciation rate and a shadow price of relaxing borrowing constraint. Using first-order conditions of a cost-minimization problem for labor and capital, we show a decreasing relationship between the effective cost of capital and the capital-labor ratio:

$$\frac{W_{dt}}{R_{dt} + \delta + \lambda_{dt}(\omega)} = \frac{(1 - \alpha)k_{dt}(\omega)}{\alpha l_{dt}(\omega)}$$
(3.1.16)

Cost-minimization also allows obtaining the closed-form expression for the marginal costs of the firm:

$$MC_{dt}(\omega) = \left(\frac{W_{dt}}{1-\alpha}\right)^{1-\alpha} \left(\frac{R_{dt}+\delta+\lambda_{dt}(\omega)}{\alpha}\right)^{\alpha} \frac{1}{z_{dt}(\omega)}$$
(3.1.17)

In equilibrium, firms set variable markups over marginal costs:

$$p_{dt}(\omega) = \frac{\sigma}{\sigma - \left(\frac{y_{dt}(\omega)}{Y_{dt}}\right)^{\frac{\sigma}{\varepsilon}}} MC_{dt}(\omega) = \mu_{dt}(\omega)MC_{dt}(\omega)$$
(3.1.18)

Financial frictions shape factor allocation in important ways. Meeting an unconstrained demand level by a constrained firm requires too much capital, relative to the amount it could acquire through self-financing and borrowing on the financial markets. Meeting the demand is possible by hiring more workers, but this comes at the expense of lower labor productivity and greater marginal cost. Facing such a tradeoff, in equilibrium, the constrained firm hires more labor and produces less output, compared to the unconstrained firm with similar productivity.

Financial markets. Contrary to Kohn et al. (2020), we assume that financial markets are not internationally integrated¹, and financial intermediaries trade only one-period

¹This assumption is motivated by the fact that Ukrainian firms and individuals have limited access

non-contingent bonds denominated in units of domestic final goods at the interest rate R_{dt} . Financial intermediaries are price-takers and the supply of bonds is perfectly-elastic. Each period entrepreneurs repay the debt from the last period $d_{dt}(\omega)$, and borrow a new amount due next year $\frac{d_{dt+1}(\omega)}{1+R_{dt}}$ subject to a natural borrowing limit and a backward-looking borrowing constraint (3.1.12). Entrepreneurs use new debt and assets to internally transform invested final good into capital for production: $k_{dt+1}(\omega) = a_{dt+1}(\omega) + \frac{d_{dt+1}(\omega)}{1+R_{dt}}$.

International trade. We assume that the economy is open and international trade occurs in a fashion of Melitz (2003). Intermediate producers can trade internationally and pay fixed and variable trade cost. A firm's export choice at time t is denoted by $e_{dt}(\omega)$:

$$e_{dt}(\omega) = \begin{cases} 1, & \text{if } \pi_{eft}(\omega) > \pi_{edt}(\omega) - F \cdot W_{dt} \\ 0, & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$
(3.1.19)

where $e_{dt}(\omega)$ is equal to 1 if the firm exports and 0 if the firm sells only domestically, while the total profits of the exporter are denoted by $\pi_{dt}^e(\omega)$ and total profits of nonexporter - by $\pi_{dt}^{ne}(\omega)$. Firms have to pay a fixed cost F in units of labor every period in which they decide to export. Exporters are also subject to iceberg-type trade costs in the spirit of Krugman (1991) (in the sense of a fraction of foreign output melts on the road). An unconstrained firm makes exporting decision as a firm in an environment without financial frictions. In this case, domestic profits are similar on both sides of the inequality, and a comparison of profits on the exporting market with the associated fixed costs is sufficient to make exporting decision. For a financially-constrained firm, domestic profits might be lower if it exports, compared with the situation, when it does not export. Even if exporting profits cover fixed costs, the resulting decrease in domestic profits might not justify entering a foreign market if the firm is constrained.

Dynamic problem of entrepreneurs. The timing of the model follows the one in Kohn et al. (2020). At the beginning of the period, entrepreneurs repay an old debt, hire labor, produce variety, make exporting decision and sell to the markets, as well as decide on the next-period assets a_{t+1} . The demand system is such that even in the absence of fixed costs on the domestic market, very unproductive entrepreneurs face no demand. If that happens, we treat the entrepreneur as holding an inactive firm and only consuming their labor income. If a firm exports, a fixed cost of exporting is also paid during the same period. At the end of the period, entrepreneurs observe a new realization of productivity, issue new debt, as well as make a choice of capital for the next period, k_{t+1} , given the new level of assets, determined using the policy function.

to foreign financial markets.

A problem of entrepreneur at period t consists of choosing sequences of consumption C_{idt} , investment $x_{dt}(\omega)$, export choice $e_{dt}(\omega) \in \{0,1\}$, quantities $y_{dt}(\omega)$ and $y_{ft}(\omega)$ for both markets (if exporting), as well as prices $p_{dt}(\omega)$ and $p_{ft}(\omega)$ for each market to maximize a lifetime utility, subject to (i) borrowing constraint as described by a backward-looking collateral constraint and a natural borrowing limit, (ii) law of motion for capital, (iii) production technology, (iv) demand schedules at the domestic market and abroad, and (v) budget constraint expressed in the units of the domestic final good:

$$C_{idt} + x_{dt}(\omega) + d_{dt}(\omega) + e_{idt}(\omega)W_{dt}F =$$

$$W_{dt} + p_{ht}(\omega)y_{ht}(\omega) + e_{dt}(\omega)p_{ft}(\omega)y_{ft}(\omega) - W_{dt}l_{dt}(\omega) - (R_{dt} + \delta)k_{dt}(\omega) + \frac{d_{dt+1}(\omega)}{1 + R_{dt}}$$
(3.1.20)

Rest of the World

We assume that a domestic economy is a small open economy and changes in factor and final good prices there do not affect foreign variables ². We assume, that domestic producers are able to observe foreign factor prices W_{ft} and R_{ft} as well as foreign price index P_{ft} . We set P_{dt} as a numeraire, normalizing it to 1. With the domestic price index and real exchange rate held fixed, a price index abroad is set as $P_{ft} = \xi_t P_{dt}$. Following the Local Currency Paradigm, we express all variables in the domestic currency.

We assume that firms abroad are unconstrained (i.e. $\theta \sim \infty$). This allows us not to model foreign entrepreneurs since firms are not limited by the net worth of the owner. We also assume out markup dispersion on the foreign market. Assuming, that $\Upsilon(q) = q^{\frac{\sigma-1}{\sigma}}$ will lead to constant markups abroad. Although these assumptions seem restrictive, levying either of these will lead to changes in the domestic market affecting foreign firms through competitive forces, which remains at odds with the assumption of Ukraine being a small open economy.

Final producers abroad solve the following problem

$$\max P_{ft} Y_{ft} - \int_{\Omega_{ft}} p_{it}(\omega) y_{it}(\omega) d\omega$$
(3.1.21)

s.t.

$$\frac{1}{\mid \Omega_{fft} \mid} \int_{\Omega_{fft}} [q_{ft}(\omega) \mid \Omega_{fft} \mid]^{\frac{\sigma-1}{\sigma}} d\omega + \frac{1}{\mid \Omega_{fet} \mid} \int_{\Omega_{fet}} [q_{fet}(\omega) \mid \Omega_{fet} \mid]^{\frac{\sigma-1}{\sigma}} d\omega = 1,$$
(3.1.22)

where

$$q_{ft}(\omega) = \frac{y_{ft}(\omega)}{Y_{ft}} \tag{3.1.23}$$

 $^{^{2}}$ Given that the model is based on Ukrainian manufacturing and abstracts from agriculture, this is a reasonable assumption.

Again, we assume, that the measure of varieties, available at the foreign market is Ω_{ft} , and it can be partitioned into the set of varieties, produced at the foreign location (Ω_{fft}) as well as the set of varieties, imported from the domestic location (Ω_{fet}) . The resulting demand can be written as $y_{ft}(\omega) = \frac{A_{ft}}{P_{ft}^{-\sigma}} p_{ft}^{-\sigma}(\omega)$ where A_{ft} is the function of EU output aggregator as well as parameters, they remain fixed by the assumption that Ukraine is a small open economy. Profit maximization yields price, which is a constant markup over marginal costs, equalizing it with the inverse demand, we are able to arrive at a closed-form expression for the demand of a domestic producer of the variety ω at the foreign market:

$$y_{ft}(\omega) = \frac{A_{ft}}{P_{ft}^{-\sigma}} \left[\frac{\sigma}{\sigma - 1} \frac{W_{dt}^{1-\alpha} (R_{dt} + \delta + \lambda_{dt}(\omega))^{\alpha}}{(1-\alpha)^{1-\alpha} \alpha^{\alpha}} \frac{\tau_{dft}}{z_t(\omega)} \right]^{-\sigma}$$

Finally, we assume that all the markets abroad clear.

3.1.2 Recursive Formulation of Domestic Entrepreneur's Problem

Based on the dynamic problem and the timing of the model, we describe a recursive formulation of the entrepreneur's problem in stationary equilibrium. First, assume that V(k, d, z) is a value function of an entrepreneur with a capital k, debt d, and productivity z, who makes a consumption-saving choice and maximizes profits of an intermediate producer owned by them. Next, assume that $\pi(k, z)$ is a profit function of an intermediate good producer with a capital k and productivity z that allocates a mix of production inputs, makes exporting decision, as well as chooses production levels and prices for both domestic and foreign markets (if she chooses to export). At the end of the period, an entrepreneur with assets a observes a new productivity realization z, makes a choice of capital k and debt $\frac{d}{1+R_d}$ for the next period - we assume that value function, in this case, is g(a, z).

A problem of domestic entrepreneur has the following recursive formulation:

$$V(k, d, z) = \max_{c, a' > 0} \frac{c^{1+\nu}}{1+\nu} + \beta \mathbb{E}[g(a', z')]$$

s.t. $c + a' + d = W_d + (1-\delta)k + \pi(k, z)$

where

$$\pi(k, z) = \max_{p_d, p_f, y_d, y_f, k, l, e} p_d y_d + e p_f y_f - W_d l - (R_d + \delta)k - eFW_d$$

s.t. $\tau_{df} y_f + y_d = zk^{\alpha} l^{1-\alpha}$

$$y_f = \frac{A_f}{P_f^{-\sigma}} \left[\frac{\sigma}{\sigma - 1} \frac{W_d^{1-\alpha} (R_d + \delta + \lambda)^{1-\alpha}}{(1-\alpha)^{1-\alpha} \alpha^{\alpha}} \frac{\tau_{df}}{z} \right]^{-\sigma}$$
$$y_d = \left[1 - \varepsilon \ln \left(\frac{p_d D_d}{P_d} \frac{\sigma}{\sigma - 1} \right) \right]^{\frac{\sigma}{\varepsilon}} Y_d$$

and

$$g(a', z') = \max_{k', d'} V(k', d', z')$$

s.t.
$$k' - \frac{d'}{1+R} = a'$$
$$d' \le \theta k'$$

3.1.3 Stationary Competitive Equilibrium

Let $S := Z \times A$ denote the state space of entrepreneurs consisting of productivity and assets, such that $Z = R^+$ and $A = R^+$, as well as $S \to [0, 1]$. S gives the domain for solving the optimal policy function of domestic entrepreneurs. Let $s \in S$ be an element of the state space, where an element of state space s consists of a value of assets and a value of productivity. We assume that the domestic real interest rate R_d and price index P_d are constant. Foreign variables such as real interest rate, R_f , wage rate W_f , absorption ξA_f , as well as a real exchange rate ξ , are fixed. Moreover, the sizes of sets Ω_{dd} and Ω_{dm} are given.

Definition of equilibrium. A recursive stationary competitive equilibrium consists of prices $\{W_d\}$, policy functions $\{c, d', k'_d, l_d, e_d, y_d, y_f, p_d, p_f, e_m, y_m, p_m, Y_d, D_d\}$, value functions v and g, as well as a measure $\phi : S \to [0, 1]$ such that

- 1. policy and value functions solve entrepreneurs' problem
- 2. policy functions solve the final good producers' problem
- 3. labor market clears

$$\int_{s \in S} [n(s) + e(s)F]\phi(s)ds = 1$$

4. final goods market $clears^3$

$$\int_{s \in S} [c(s) + x(s)]\phi(s)ds = Y_d$$

5. outputs satisfy Kimball aggregator

$$\frac{1}{|\Omega_{dd}|} \int_{\Omega_{dd}} \Upsilon\left(\frac{|\Omega_{dd}|y_d(\omega)}{Y_d}\right) d\omega + \frac{1}{|\Omega_{dm}|} \int_{\Omega_{dm}} \Upsilon\left(\frac{|\Omega_{dm}|y_{dm}(\omega)}{Y_d}\right) d\omega = 1$$

 $^3\mathrm{Asset}$ market clears due to the Walras law

6. measure ϕ is stationary

The Appendix contains a numerical algorithm applied to find a stationary equilibrium of the model.

3.1.4 Alternative Modelling Assumptions

Since we are interested in studying the contribution of financial constraints and variable markups to the gains from trade, we contrast a baseline model described above, with two counterfactual economies.

No financial constraints. First, we shut down a channel of financial frictions. Relaxing this assumption implies a frictionless borrowing such that $\theta = \infty$. This change means that firms now are not constrained by the wealth of the entrepreneur anymore. The numerical algorithm generally follows the same steps as in a baseline model, except for no need to solve for optimal choices of constrained domestic firms.

No variable markups. Second, we assume out variable markups in the domestic market. In this case, we assume that the domestic final producer aggregates intermediate varieties using a CES aggregator that implies no variation in markups at the domestic market. The model implies an expression for $\Upsilon(q)$ becomes $\Upsilon(q) = q^{\frac{\sigma-1}{\sigma}}$, where $q_t(\omega) = \frac{y_t(\omega)}{Y_t}$. A modified numerical algorithm used to find equilibrium is described in an Appendix.

3.2 Quantitative Results

3.2.1 Calibration

We calibrate a model to replicate the features of the Ukrainian firm-level data for the manufacturing sector in 2013, a year before trade liberalization with the EU. One period in a model corresponds to one year. Next, we describe how we calibrate a set of externally- and internally-calibrated parameters.

Externally-Calibrated Parameters. The first set of parameters is calibrated externally, using estimates from the literature or estimates from the data (see Table 3.1 for a summary). A real interest rate for the domestic economy is equal to 0.06. We calculate the real interest rate as a sum of the J.P. Morgan Emerging Markets Bond (EMBI) Spread for Ukraine in the year 2013 and a real return on the US 1-year Treasury Bill in 2013. The real interest rate for the foreign market is set to 0.01 since the policy rate in the euro area reached Zero Lower Bound in 2012. A discounting rate β is set at 0.93 to pin down a real interest rate in 2013. The depreciation rate is set using a standard value of 0.1. Following a common practice in literature, we set a parameter of output elasticity of capital, α , equal to 1/3. A coefficient of relative risk aversion is set at the standard

value of -2. Since we do not observe data for importers and can not directly estimate markups and a relationship between markups and firm size, we use parameters for the average demand elasticity and superelasticity from the literature. We set value of average demand elasticity, $\bar{\sigma}$, equal to 5, following Gopinath and Itskhoki (2010) and Klenow and Willis (2016). While demand elasticity in the model is firm-specific, $\bar{\sigma}$ affects the level of markups in the economy. In case of constant markups, this choice of $\bar{\sigma}$ implies an aggregate markup equal to 1.25. Demand elasticity varies with a relative size of a firm, and superelasticity determines the elasticity of former to latter. To calibrate a value of superelasticity, we borrow from Tsiflis (2022) and set it at 0.32, which lies between the value set by Edmond et al. (2023) and Gopinath and Itskhoki $(2010)^4$. In order to calibrate the persistence of the productivity process, we use a procedure for estimating firm-level productivity by Blundell and Bond (1998) on our sample of manufacturing firms and recover a coefficient for a lagged output. The estimate implies a value of ρ equal to 0.631. We set the real exchange rate ξ at 0.1 using the data on the nominal exchange rate of the Ukrainian Hryvnia to the Euro and respective CPIs. Finally, we need to determine a measure of varieties available in the domestic market, $|\Omega_{dt}|$. We use similar normalization to Gopinath and Itskhoki (2010) and assume that $|\Omega_{dt}| = 1 + \gamma_{dmt}$ with the measure-one of domestically-produced varieties and measure γ_{dmt} of varieties imported from abroad and sold at home. We calibrate γ_{dmt} using data on domestic absorption of manufacturing goods and imports of manufacturing goods from the EU. An estimated share of imported goods in total absorption is equal to 0.08. We recover γ_{dmt} from $0.08 = \frac{\gamma_{dmt}}{1 + \gamma_{dmt}}$ and obtain a value of γ_{dmt} equal to 0.09.

Name	Parameter	Value	Source
Real interest rate, domestic	R_d	0.06	EMBI Spread + US rate
Real interest rate, foreign	R_{f}	0.01	Zero-lower bound
Depreciation rate	δ	0.1	Standard
Capital elasticity	lpha	0.33	Kohn et al. (2020)
Coefficient of relative risk	u	-2	Kohn et al. (2020)
aversion			
Average demand elasticity	$\bar{\sigma}$	5	Gopinath and Itskhoki (2010),
			Klenow and Willis (2016)
Superelasticity	$\frac{\varepsilon}{\overline{\sigma}}$	0.32	Tsiflis (2022)
Measure of imported vari-	γ_{dm}	0.09	Data
eties			
Real exchange rate	ξ	0.1	Data
Persistence parameter of a	$ ho_z$	0.63	Estimated using Blundell and Bond
productivity process			(1998) approach

Table 3.1: Externally-Calibrated Parameters

Internally-Calibrated Parameters. We are left with several parameters that we cal-

⁴Normally, we would calibrate superelasticity regressing markups on market shares as in Edmond et al. (2023); however, due to the lack of data on importers we use an estimate from the literature.

ibrate internally - the fixed cost of exporting F, iceberg transportation cost, τ_{df} and τ_{fd} , standard deviation of productivity shocks, σ_{ε} , tightness of financial constraint, θ , as well as term capturing foreign variables, A_f . We calibrate these parameters while matching moments from the model to respective moments observed in data (see Table 3.2 for a summary).

Parameter	Value	Target moment		Model
F	0.44	Share of exporters	0.25	0.25
$ au_{d\!f}$	1.81	Exports intensity	0.18	0.21
$ au_{fd}$	1.79	Imports penetration	0.08	0.32
σ_{ϵ}	0.86	Standard deviation of log sales	1.74	2.38
heta	0.51	Credit/GDP	0.46	0.73
A_f	1012.7	Relative absorption	32.0	34.0

 Table 3.2: Internally-Calibrated Parameters

We start with the moments from the firm-level data. On an extensive margin, we find that 25% of Ukrainian manufacturing firms were exporting to the EU in 2013. On intensive margin, in a sample of exporters to the EU, revenues from exporting to the EU, on average accounted for 18% of total sales. The standard deviation of log sales in the sample is equal to 1.74 in 2013. Using aggregate data, we calculate imports penetration as a ratio of manufacturing imports from the EU to total domestic manufacturing absorption in Ukraine and manufacturing imports from the EU and get a ratio equal to 0.08. Relative absorption is measured as a sum of total domestic manufacturing absorption in the EU and total manufacturing exports from Ukraine to the EU divided by a sum of total domestic manufacturing imports to Ukraine from the EU⁵. The resulting ratio that we target is equal to 32.0. Finally, using data from the State Statistics Service of Ukraine, we calculate the Credit-to-GDP ratio as a share of short-term credit of Ukrainian manufacturing firms in 2013 to the contribution of manufacturing to GDP and get the value of 0.46.

3.2.2 Steady State

Using calibration described in Table 3.1 and 3.2, equilibrium is reached with equilibrium wage $W_d = 0.70$, domestic absorption $Y_d = 2.98$ and demand index $D_d = 1.54$. In this subsection, we describe some properties of the steady state, including how markups and effective cost of capital are related to exporter decision and financially-constrained status.

⁵Domestic manufacturing absorption in the EU is obtained from the World Input-Output Database (see Timmer et al. (2015) for a description), domestic manufacturing absorption is obtained from the Input-Output Table of Ukraine, manufacturing exports of Ukraine to the EU is obtained from the firm-level data, manufacturing imports of the EU to Ukraine is obtained from Comtrade database.

Production and Choke Price. In the presence of the Kimball aggregator, there exists a choke price, above which entrepreneurs do not produce. This creates an entry barrier to the domestic market since only the most productive firms can set low enough prices and produce. As a result, in the steady state of the calibrated economy, around 33% of entrepreneurs produce, while the rest are out of the domestic market due to potentially high prices and only supply labor for operating intermediate producers.

Cost of capital. Panel (a) of Figure 3.1 shows heterogeneity in the effective cost of capital. The majority of active firms in a steady state are financially-constrained. To specify, 77% of active firms have an effective cost of capital greater than 0.16, a sum of a real interest rate and a depreciation rate. The average cost of capital among producing firms is 0.58. However, the average figure masks heterogeneity across the firms. To start with, 23% of all active firms, both exporters and non-exporters, are unconstrained and face a cost of capital equal to 0.16. On the other hand, the average effective cost of capital for constrained firms is equal to 0.70. Looking from another perspective, exporters, on average, have a lower cost of capital - 0.17 vs 0.72 for non-exporters. The least productive producers that potentially would be unconstrained cannot overcome the entry barrier caused by a choke price. As a result, more than 99% of non-exporters are constrained. On the other hand, the most productive firms select into exporting. We find that 90% of exporters are unconstrained, while the exporters at the top of productivity distribution are constrained.

Markups. Panel (b) of Figure 3.1 shows average markups for different groups of firms - from the perspective of both exporting and financially-constrained status. First, the average markup of domestic intermediate producers is equal to 1.25. Second, we find that an average markup for exporters is greater than the one for non-exporters, 1.83 vs. 1.06, which is in line with Edmond et al. (2015) that exporters tend to set higher markups. On the other hand, the markups of constrained firms, 1.11, are lower as compared to unconstrained, 1.74. Binding borrowing constraint limits a firm's ability to allocate an optimal mix of resources and reduces its revenue productivity. Lower productivity results in higher demand elasticity and, as a result, lower markup (see, e.g., Edmond et al., 2023). Analyzing markups by the joint exporter-constrained status, we find that constrained non-exporters set lower markups than unconstrained ones. However, for exports we observe an opposite picture - constrained firms set higher markups. This could be explained by the fact that, among exporters, the most financially-constrained firms are the most productive ones that have higher markups in the domestic market. Finally, the average markup of foreign importers is 1.46 and higher than the average markup of domestic firms, since foreign firms should be productive enough to pay both fixed and variable costs of exporting.


Figure 3.1: Average markup and effective cost of capital in a steady state

Note: Panel (a) shows an average markup of at the domestic market for each of the groups of domestic exporters and non-exporters. Panel (b) shows an average effective cost of capital for each of the groups of domestic exporters and non-exporters.

Correlation between markups and cost of capital. How are markups and effective cost of capital related among intermediate producers in a steady state? To answer this question, we calculate the conditional correlation between markup, μ , and the shadow price of capital, λ , conditional on firms being active and producing:

$$r(\mu(s),\lambda(s)) = \frac{\int_{s\in S} \mathbbm{1}\{q(s)>0\}(\mu(s)-\bar{\mu})(\lambda(s)-\bar{\lambda})\phi(s)ds}{\sqrt{\int_{s\in S} \mathbbm{1}\{q(s)>0\}(\mu(s)-\bar{\mu})^2\phi(s)ds} \cdot \sqrt{\int_{s\in S} \mathbbm{1}\{q(s)>0\}(\lambda(s)-\bar{\lambda})^2\phi(s)ds}}$$
(3.2.1)

where $\bar{\mu} = \int_s \mathbb{1}\{q(s) > 0\}\mu(s)\phi(s)ds$ is an average markup and $\bar{\lambda} = \int_s \mathbb{1}\{q(s) > 0\}\lambda(s)\phi(s)ds$ is an average shadow cost of capital. The resulting correlation for all active intermediate good producers is equal to -0.79, which indicates a strong negative relationship between markups and the shadow price of capital. In addition, we also check correlation for exporters only, applying Equation (3.2.1) but calculating moments conditional on export status, i.e. substituting $\mathbb{1}\{q(s) > 0\}$ with $\mathbb{1}\{e(s) = 1\}$. The resulting correlation calculated separately for exporters is positive and equal to 0.50. These findings are in line with the picture we see in Panel (b) of Figure 3.1 since the most productive exporters are more financially-constrained and have higher markups.

3.3 Effects of Trade Liberalization

3.3.1 Baseline Model

Before unilateral trade liberalization, the average overall tariff protection of the EU against Ukrainian goods was around 5.0% (both simple average and trade-weighted)⁶, with average tariff protection for Ukrainian manufacturing, depending on industry/product group, varied between 0 and 20%.

We model trade liberalization, as a unilateral 10-percent reduction in iceberg trade cost for domestic exporters, τ_{df} . To study the effects of trade liberalization, we compare the initial, pre-liberalization, steady state with a new steady state with a lower value for τ_{df} , but keeping the rest of the parameters fixed. Table 3.3 contains a summary of both steady states. Overall, trade liberalization increases welfare and productivity, as well as improves the allocation of resources.

Welfare effects. We find that trade liberalization is welfare-improving. The total consumption of entrepreneurs increases from 2.777 to 2.920, or by 5.15%. On the one hand, consumption increased since both labor income and profits of entrepreneurs increased. Real wages increased from 0.699 to 0.831, or by 18.87%, reflecting higher demand for labor. Profits that entrepreneurs earn from owing intermediate producers increase from 0.481 to 0.484, or by 0.62%. On the other hand, in a steady state, total consumption is equal to a difference between aggregate output and savings, while total savings are equal to an aggregate investment, C = Y - S = Y - I. As a result of trade liberalization, both aggregate output and investment increased. Higher absolute change in aggregate output, from 2.979 to 3.155, as compared to absolute change in savings from 0.201 to 0.235, contributed to an increase in consumption the most.

To determine changes in welfare, we follow Leibovici (2021) and Edmond et al. (2023) and compute changes in consumption-equivalent units (CEU)⁷. Conceptually, we calculate how much a permanent state-invariant increase in consumption would make individuals indifferent between a steady state with trade liberalization and a steady state without trade liberalization. Following Leibovici (2021), we assume an alternative one-period utility function $u(c) = \log((1 + \Delta)c)$ and calculate changes in welfare as:

$$\Delta = \exp\left\{ (1-\beta) \left[\int_{s \in S} g_1(s)\phi(s)ds - \int_{s \in S} g_0(s)\phi(s)ds \right] \right\} - 1, \quad (3.3.1)$$

⁶See Report Autonomous Trade Preferences: Impact on Ukrainian Exports by the Institute for Economic Research and Policy Consulting for a detailed description of the changes

⁷Most traditional estimates of gains from trade are applied in a static framework. Since our model is dynamic, we use a consumption-equivalent units approach. Note that since we study the effects of trade liberalization comparing two steady states and abstract from a transition path, our estimates of welfare gains are conservative, as shown by Alessandria et al. (2021).

where Δ is a proportional change in lifetime consumption that makes a randomly-chosen individual independent between the steady states, $g_0(s)$ is a value function in an initial steady state, and $g_1(s)$ is a value function in a steady state after trade liberalization. We find that total welfare in the economy after trade liberalization increases since entrepreneurs would require 2.28% higher lifetime utility to give up trade liberalization.

Name	Before	After	Change
Iceberg trade cost for UA	1.81	1.62	-10%
Change in welfare			+2.28~%
Real wage	0.70	0.83	+18.87%
GDP	1.14	1.33	+16.36~%
TFP	1.21	1.30	+7.31%
Exports	0.75	0.98	+30.08%
Consumption	2.78	2.92	+5.13%
Total absorption	2.98	3.16	+5.91%
Investment	0.20	0.24	+16.81%
Total profits	0.48	0.48	+0.71%
Credit/GDP	0.73	0.82	+13.08%
Active firms	0.33	0.37	+0.04
Share of exporters	0.25	0.27	+0.02
Share of constrained	0.77	0.76	-0.02
Average export intensity	0.21	0.23	+0.02
K/L aggregate, simple	0.92	1.43	+56.12%
K/L exporters, simple	2.21	2.64	+19.32%
K/L non-exporters, simple	0.49	0.99	+102.03%
K/L aggregate, weighted	2.13	2.50	+17.55%
K/L exporters, weighted	2.14	2.51	+17.02%
K/L non-exporters, weighted	0.50	1.02	+102.44%
Effective cost of capital	0.58	0.36	-39.23%
Standard deviation of cost of capital	0.25	0.13	-47.11%
Average domestic markup	1.25	1.23	-2.33%
Standard deviation of markups	0.36	0.32	-12.08%
Markup-cost of capital correlation	-0.77	-0.62	-21.49%

Table 3.3: Effects of trade liberalization

Note: The table shows the results of an exercise modeling a unilateral trade liberalization. Column "Before" contains moments, equilibrium prices, and policy functions for the initial, pre-liberalization, steady state. Column "After" contains moments, equilibrium prices, and policy functions for the post-liberalization steady state. Column "Change" shows differences in indicators between post-and pre-trade liberalization steady states.

Allocative efficiency. A unilateral trade liberalization also increases both total factor productivity (TFP), by 7.3%, and gross domestic product (GDP), by 16.7% ⁸. This increase comes together with an improvement in allocative efficiency since the dispersion

⁸GDP is measured as a sum value added of domestic firms supplied to both markets minus imported value added. TFP is calculated as $TFP = VA/(K^{\alpha}L^{1-\alpha})$, where VA is the total value added of domestic intermediate goods producers.

of shadow price of capital and markups decreases upon trade liberalization. To check this, we calculate a standard deviation as

$$sd(x(s)) = \sqrt{\int_{s \in S} \mathbb{1}\{q(s) > 0\}(x(s) - \bar{x})^2 \phi(s) ds},$$
(3.3.2)

where $x(s) = \{\mu(s), \lambda(s)\}$ is either markup or a shadow price of relaxing borrowing constraint, and $\bar{x} = \int_{s \in S} \mathbb{1}\{q(s) > 0\} x(s) \phi(s) ds$ is an average of a variable.

Results imply that the standard deviation of markups decreases from 0.36 to 0.32, while the standard deviation of the shadow price of capital drops from 0.25 to 0.13. Moreover, the correlation between markups and cost of capital in a post-liberalization steady state, calculated as (3.2.1), goes down from -0.77 to -0.62 overall and from 0.50 to 0.44 for exporters. While in the presence of variable markups and financial frictions, the allocation of resources in the economy is distorted before policy changes, trade liberalization improves the allocation of resources.

Exporters' sales and reallocation. In response to trade liberalization, exports expand by 30.1% due to both net entry of new exporters, as well as higher average export intensity.

In Chapter 2, we establish that the export sales reallocated after trade liberalization towards firms with higher capital intensity and lower markups. The model implies that an aggregate sales-weighted capital intensity of exporters increases by 17.0%, while a simple average of capital-labor ratios increase by 19.3%. This implies, that between-firm reallocation of sales together with a net entry of firms has a negative effect on the evolution of aggregate capital intensity. In addition, we also look at the correlation between the capital-labor ratio and sales, following the same approach as in Equation (3.2.1). We find that, on average, the positive correlation between capital-labor share and sales decreases after trade liberalization from 0.24 to 0.11. Moreover, calculating conditional correlation for exporters only, we find a negligible negative correlation that becomes stronger after liberalization - the correlation between the capital-labor ratio and export sales moves from -0.012 to -0.014, while the correlation with total sales goes from -0.009 to -0.012. Hence, contrary to the data, we find that exporter sales reallocate towards less capitalintensive exporters. We also find that, on average, sales reallocate toward firms with lower markups - positive correlation decreased from 0.14 to 0.12. For the exporters, we find that reallocation occurs towards firms with lower markups - correlation of markup at the domestic market and export sales decreased from 0.080 to 0.075, while markup and total sales - from 0.085 to 0.078. It is worth mentioning, that the model fails to capture a decrease in the aggregate capital intensity of non-exporters, implying that the patterns observed in the data are not explained only by trade liberalization.

Financial constraints and markups. Increase in consumption, described above, leads to an increase in demand in the domestic market, in addition to higher demand abroad. As a result, more unconstrained firms are able to start producing due to higher demand, and new exporters start selling abroad because of trade liberalization. This implies the lower effective cost of capital in the economy, as well as an increase in the credit-to-GDP ratio, by 13.08%. Higher demand fuels entry, while entry intensifies competition in the domestic market. This increases the elasticity of demand for entrepreneurs and reduces markups for all intermediate good producers, which we also observe while comparing average markups in two steady states.

3.3.2 Counterfactual Analysis

How do financial frictions and variable markups affect gains from trade? In order to answer this question, we compare results in a baseline economy to alternative specifications where we close one of the channels.

Contribution of Financial Frictions. We start with studying the contribution of financial frictions and modify the baseline model to assume that all the firms in the domestic economy are financially-unconstrained, i.e. $\theta \sim \infty^9$. Table 3.4 contains a comparison of selected variables.

To start with, we can see suggestive evidence for complementarity between trade liberalization and the financial market. In a model without financial frictions, welfare increases by 5.38%, as compared to a baseline result of 2.28%. We can also observe a stronger increase in real wages and consumption, TFP, and GDP. Hence, in a model without financial frictions, welfare and productivity gains from trade are greater.

Due to the absence of financial frictions and variation in the effective cost of capital, the capital-labor ratios of firms are greater on average and equal among groups of firms when all firms are unconstrained. After trade liberalization, an increase in aggregate capital intensity is driven by a within-firm increase in the average capital-labor ratio and both increase more since firms do not face collateral constraint. However, we can see that the allocation of resources does not change significantly and even worsens. While the standard deviation of markups in an initial steady state was equal to 0.256, after trade liberalization it gradually increases up to 0.260. Moreover, since the most productive firms are not restricted by a financial constraint, they can grow bigger now, facing lower elasticity of demand, which results in a higher average markup of domestic firms. Indeed, the correlation between the sales and markups is positive and increasing for all the firms, in total, and for exporters, in particular, indicating the reallocation of sales towards firms with higher markups. Since firms are unconstrained, the initial credit-to-GDP

⁹Note, that we do not re-calibrate an alternative model.

17 • 11	Baseline			No Fin Frictions			
Variable	Before	After	Δ_b	Before	After	Δ_f	$\Delta_b - \Delta_f$
Change in welfare			+2.28%			+5.38%	-3.10p.p.
Real wage	0.70	0.83	+18.87%	1.89	2.30	+21.32%	-2.45 p.p.
Consumption	2.78	2.92	+5.13%	3.53	4.03	+14.26%	-9.13 p.p.
Investment	0.20	0.24	+16.81%	0.58	0.70	+21.09%	-4.28 p.p.
Total absorption	2.98	3.16	+5.92%	4.11	4.73	+15.23%	-9.31 p.p.
Total profits	0.48	0.48	+0.71%	0.84	0.97	+15.31%	-14.60 p.p.
Exports	0.75	0.98	+30.08%	2.96	3.72	+25.29%	+4.79 p. p.
GDP	1.14	1.33	+16.36%	2.99	3.60	+20.36%	-4.00 p.p.
TFP	1.21	1.30	+7.31%	2.06	2.32	+12.56%	-5.25 p.p.
Credit/GDP	0.73	0.82	+13.08%	1.87	1.94	+3.55%	+9.53 p.p.
K/L aggregate, simple	0.92	1.43	+56.12%	5.85	7.10	+21.32%	+34.8 p.p.
K/L exporters, simple	2.21	2.64	+19.32%	5.85	7.10	+21.32%	-2.00 p.p.
K/L non-exporters, simple	0.49	0.99	+102.03%	5.85	7.10	+21.32%	+80.71 p.p.
K/L aggregate, weighted	2.13	2.50	+17.55%	5.85	7.10	+21.32%	-3.77 p.p.
K/L exporters, weighted	2.14	2.51	+17.02%	5.85	7.10	+21.32%	-4.30 p.p.
K/L non-exporters, weighted	0.58	1.02	+102.44%	5.85	7.10	+21.32%	+81.08 p.p.
Effective cost of capital	0.58	0.36	-39.23%	0.16	0.16	+0%	-39.23 p.p.
Sd of cost of capital	0.25	0.13	-47.11%	0	0	+0.00%	-47.11 p.p.
Average domestic markup	1.25	1.23	-2.33%	1.15	1.39	+21.48%	-23.81 p.p.
Sd of markups	0.36	0.32	-12.08%	0.256	0.260	+1.56%	-13.64 p.p.

Table 3.4: Baseline Model vs. Model without Financial Constraints

Note: The table shows the results of an exercise modeling a unilateral trade liberalization in a baseline model and a model without financial frictions. Column "Before" contains moments, equilibrium prices, and policy functions for the initial, pre-liberalization, steady state. Column "After" contains moments, equilibrium prices, and policy functions for the post-liberalization steady state. Columns Δ_b and Δ_f show differences in indicators between post- and pre-trade liberalization steady states, while column $\Delta_b - \Delta_f$ show a difference in effects between models.

ratio is higher than in the baseline economy and thus increases relatively less after trade liberalization.

Contribution of Variable Markups. Now, we compare the baseline economy with a model that features only financial frictions and abstracts from variable markups - all the firms in the domestic market do not set constant markups due to the CES aggregator used by a final good producers¹⁰. Table 3.5 presents a comparison of unilateral trade liberalization effects in two models.

Comparing the models, welfare gains of trade liberalization are lower in an environment with constant markups. Trade liberalization is still welfare-improving, but its growth in consumption-equivalent units is lower, as compared to the baseline economy - 1.19% vs. 2.28%. Consumption increases less since, on the one hand, real wages are less responsive to trade liberalization, and total output growth increases consumption by less.

Both average and aggregate capital intensity for exporters increase, by +24.72% and +21.33% respectively, but faster growth of the former implies a negative contribution to reallocation of sales among firms and net entry. Indeed, both export sales of reallocate towards less capital-intensive firms - the correlation between sales and capital intensity

¹⁰Note, that we do not re-calibrate an alternative model.

T 7 • 11	Baseline		ne	No Kimball			A A
Variable	Before	After	Δ_b	Before	After	Δ_f	$\Delta_b - \Delta_f$
Change in welfare			+2.28%			+1.19%	+1.09 p.p.
Nominal wage	0.70	0.83	+18.87%	0.92	1.01	+9.90%	+8.97 p.p.
Domestic price index	1	1	+0.00%	0.08	0.08	+0.71%	-0.71 p.p.
Consumption	2.78	2.92	+5.13%	3.27	3.41	+4.44%	+0.69 p.p.
Investment	0.20	0.24	+16.81%	0.24	0.29	+21.39%	-4.58 p.p.
Total output	2.98	3.16	+5.92%	3.51	3.70	+5.60%	+0.32 p.p.
Total profits	0.48	0.48	+0.71%	0.34	0.38	+9.90%	-9.19 p.p.
Exports	0.75	0.98	+30.08%	0.17	0.19	+10.41%	+19.67 p.p.
GDP	1.14	1.33	+16.36%	0.19	0.20	+5.94%	+10.42 p.p.
TFP	1.21	1.30	+7.31%	0.15	0.15	-0.51%	+7.82 p.p.
Credit/GDP	0.73	0.82	+13.08%	7.61	9.69	+27.36%	-14.28 p.p.
K/L aggregate, simple	0.92	1.43	+56.12%	2.88	3.18	+10.49%	-45.63 p.p.
K/L exporters, simple	2.21	2.64	+19.32%	3.66	4.56	+24.72%	-5.40 p.p.
K/L non-exporters, simple	0.49	0.99	+102.03%	2.85	3.13	+9.90%	+92.13 p.p.
K/L aggregate, weighted	2.13	2.50	+17.55%	2.44	2.96	+21.33%	-3.77 p.p.
K/L exporters, weighted	2.14	2.51	+17.02%	2.45	2.96	+21.39%	-4.37 p.p.
K/L non-exporters, weighted	0.58	1.02	+102.44%	2.80	3.07	+9.50%	+92.94 p.p.
Effective cost of capital	0.58	0.36	+39.23%	0.17	0.17	+0.33%	+38.90 p.p.
Sd of cost of capital	0.25	0.13	-47.11%	0.82	0.92	+12.48%	-59.59 p.p.
Average domestic markup	1.25	1.23	-2.33%	1.25	1.25	+0.00%	-2.33 p.p.
Sd of markups	0.36	0.32	-12.08%	0	0	+0.00%	-12.08 p.p.

Table 3.5: Baseline Model vs. Model without Variable Markups

<u>Note</u>: The table shows the results of an exercise modeling a unilateral trade liberalization in a baseline model and a model with constant markups. Column "Before" contains moments, equilibrium prices, and policy functions for the initial, pre-liberalization, steady state. Column "After" contains moments, equilibrium prices, and policy functions for the post-liberalization steady state. Columns Δ_b and Δ_f show differences in indicators between post- and pre-trade liberalization steady states, while column $\Delta_b - \Delta_f$ show a difference in effects between models.

of exporters goes from -0.074 to -0.084.

Both TFP and GDP grow slower in an economy. This could be explained by the fact that capital misallocation in the economy increases after trade liberalization. While the average cost of capital increased by less than half a percent, a standard deviation of the shadow cost of capital increases from 0.82 to 0.92. Given that exporters do not experience incomplete pass-through in the domestic market anymore, they expand their sales relatively more and become more financially-constrained.

Taking Stock Together. Counterfactual analysis implies that removing financial frictions in the economy increases gains from trade liberalization while removing variable markups assumption reduces gains from trade liberalization. However, in both cases, aggregate capital intensity increases faster for exporters compared to the baseline model. Removing financial frictions, more productive exporters that become unconstrained can invest in more capital facing higher demand. Removing variation in markups, the productive unconstrained firms are not smaller relative to the CES case anymore and expand their capital and sales more. However, what the model does not capture is the reallocation of both export and total sales of exporters towards more capital-intensive firms, as

indicated by a lower correlation between sales and capital-labor ratio, and suggested by slower growth of aggregate capital intensity as compared to the average one (since part of this difference is explained by between-firm reallocation of sales).

3.4 Conclusions

In Chapters 2 and 3, we study how financial frictions and variable markups shape the economy's response to unilateral trade liberalization. In Chapter 2, we provide a set of stylized facts on the reallocation of sales after unilateral trade liberalization by the European Union for imports from Ukraine. Analyzing a panel of Ukrainian manufacturing firms, we find that the aggregate capital intensity of exporters to the EU increased after 2013, the last year before trade liberalization, while the aggregate capital intensity of firms not exporting to the EU did not increase and even decreased. Within-sector reallocation of sales towards more capital-intensive firms was an important contributing factor to this increase. Further analysis also showed that sales reallocated towards firms with larger labor shares, which might be indicative of the reallocation towards firms with lower markups.

Motivated by this evidence, in Chapter 3 we develop a small open-economy model calibrated to Ukrainian manufacturing data and study how financial frictions and variable markups shape gains from trade liberalization and whether they could explain the patterns observed in the data. We find that upon trade liberalization, welfare and productivity increase in the economy. Trade liberalization improves the allocation of resources in the economy since the dispersion of both the effective cost of capital and markups decreases.

However, the model fails to capture the reallocation of export sales towards more capital intense firms and firms with lower markups. Such discrepancy between the model that the data could be explained by the fact that unilateral trade liberalization was not the only shock affecting exporters to the EU. In Chapter 2, we suggest that patterns of reallocation could be explained by considering trade liberalization together with an increase in the interest rate. Moreover, during the period of trade liberalization, Ukrainian hryvnia experienced episodes of depreciation that made Ukrainian exports cheaper and acted as another stimulus for now cheaper Ukrainian goods to enter the EU market. If we aim to better explain the patterns we see in Chapter 2, studying trade liberalization in connection to an increase in the cost of borrowing and depreciation of the domestic currency is a natural direction of further research.

Additionally, in a counterfactual analysis, we find evidence of complementarity between international trade and financial markets - when all the firms become financially-unconstrained, welfare and productivity gains from trade increase. However, when markups on the domestic economy become constant in the presence of financial frictions, welfare gains of trade liberalization become lower, partly due to an increase in misallocation.

3.5 Appendix

3.5.1 Numerical Algorithm for solving the Benchmark Model

We describe an algorithm to solve a benchmark model described in Section 3.1. We start with the static problem and then proceed to the dynamic problem. Unlike in the CES version, many terms do not have closed-form expressions; therefore, we can only determine the equilibrium allocations, using numerical algorithms. We start by discretizing the state space for domestic entrepreneurs, using the productivity grid, G_z , and asset grid G_a (since asset holdings are irrelevant for the decisions of foreign entrepreneurs, we only determine their static choices, given the productivity grid G_z). The Cartesian product of the two gives the domain for solving the optimal policy function of domestic entrepreneurs. Approximation of the autoregressive productivity process through the procedure by Tauchen (1986) gives the associated transition matrix. We use the same grid for solving the problem of exporter and non-exporter on the domestic market. Therefore, in order to avoid confusion, in this part we add a subscript e or d to distinguish between the solutions to the problem of exporting firm or firm, selling only domestically for each point of $z_{dt}(\omega)$ and $a_{dt}(\omega)$. Solutions to the problem of the importer are provided with the subscript m. We proceed using the following steps:

- 1. For each point of a domestic productivity and asset grid, we determine the solutions to 2 problems: the problem of the domestic exporter and the problem of the domestic non-exporter. Given the knowledge of W_{dt} , Y_{dt} , P_{dt} , R_{dt} , D_{dt} , for each value of productivity $(z_{dt}(\omega))$ and assets $(a_{dt}(\omega))$, the solution to the problem of non-exporter gives numerical solutions to markup $(\mu_{ddt}(\omega))$, the relative and absolute values of output $(y_{ddt}(\omega), q_{ddt}(\omega))$, the marginal cost of a firm $MC_{ddt}(\omega)$, domestic profits $(\pi_{ddt}(\omega))$, domestic markup $(\mu_{ddt}(\omega))$, optimal levels of labor and capital $(l_{dt}(\omega), k_{dt}(\omega))$ and the effective cost of capital $(CC_{dt}(\omega))$, needed to serve domestic demand. For an unconstrained firm, this effective cost of capital equals to $R_{dt} + \delta$, but it is larger for the constrained firm. Solution to the exporter problem, given the knowledge of Y_{dt} , P_{dt} , R_{dt} , D_{dt} , W_{dt} , A_{ft} , P_{ft} , τ_{dft} for each value of productivity $(z_{dt}(\omega))$ and assets $(a_{dt}(\omega))$ provides the numerical solutions to the absolute value of foreign and domestic output $(y_{eft}(\omega), y_{edt}(\omega))$, domestic relative output $(q_{edt}(\omega))$, foreign and domestic price $(p_{eft}(\omega), p_{edt}(\omega))$, foreign and domestic marginal costs($MC_{eft}(\omega), MC_{edt}(\omega)$), domestic and export profits ($\pi_{edt}(\omega)$), $\pi_{eft}(\omega)$, optimal levels of labor and capital $(l_{et}(\omega), k_{et}(\omega))$ and the effective cost of capital $(CC_{et}(\omega))$, consistent with profit maximization on two markets;
- 2. For each point of a foreign productivity grid, we only solve the importer problem on the domestic market as unconstrained foreign firms make production decisions across destinations independently. Given W_{ft} , Y_{dt} , D_{dt} , R_{ft} , τ_{fdt} , for each value of

 $z_{ft}(\omega)$ in a grid, we numerically determine the solutions to absolute and relative imported output $(y_{mdt}(\omega), q_{mdt}(\omega))$, price $(p_{mdt}(\omega))$, marginal costs $(MC_{mdt}(\omega))$, profits on the domestic market $(\pi_{mdt}(\omega))$, domestic markup $(\mu_{mdt}(\omega))$ and the optimal value of labor and capital $(l_{mt}(\omega), k_{mt}(\omega))$.

3. Given the $\pi_{et}(\omega) = \pi_{edt}(\omega) + \pi_{eft}(\omega) - F$, $\pi_{dt}(\omega) = \pi_{ddt}(\omega)$, we solve for the policy function of domestic firm. The resulting profits are $\pi(z_{dt}(\omega), a_{dt}(\omega)) = \max(\pi_{et}(\omega), \pi_{dt}(\omega))$. Given $\pi_{mdt}(\omega)$ and F, we solve for the policy function of an importer.

The solution to the static problem for each point in the domestic productivity and asset grid gives the export policy function, optimal level of output, market-specific prices, markups, profits, marginal costs, levels of capital and labor, and the effective price of capital for each domestic producer, exporter, and importer. After that, we proceed with solving the dynamic problem of the entrepreneur:

- 1. We make the initial guess of the value function, $\hat{g}(a_d, z_d)$
- 2. For any point on the domestic productivity and asset grid, given profits from the static problem, computed above $(\pi(z_d, a_d))$, we numerically solve for the policy function of domestic entrepreneurs $a'(a_d, z_d)$ as a solution to:

$$a'(a_d, z_d) = \arg \max_{a' \in G_a} \mathbf{O}(a'; a_d, z_d)$$

where

$$\mathbf{O}(a'; a_d, z_d) = \frac{1}{1+\nu} \left[W_d + \pi(z_d, a_d) + a_d(1+R_d) - a' \right]^{1+\nu} + \beta \mathbb{E}_{z'}[\hat{g}(a_d, z_d)]$$

3. Given the optimal net-worth policy $(a'(a_d, z_d))$, for each point of the domestic productivity and asset grid, the optimal consumption policy can be determined as:

$$c(a_d, z_d) = W_d + \pi(z_d, a_d) + a_d(1 + R_d) - a'(a_d, z_d)$$

4. Under the policies we derived above, $c(a_d, z_d)$ and $a'(a_d, z_d)$, we derive the value function:

$$g(a_d, z_d) = \frac{1}{1+\nu} c(a_d, z_d)^{1+\nu} + \beta \mathbb{E}_{z'}[g(a_d, z_d)]$$

5. If the difference between $g(a_d, z_d)$ and $\hat{g}(a_d, z_d)$ is small enough, we treat $c(a_d, z_d)$ and $a'(a_d, z_d)$ as solutions to the dynamic problem of the domestic entrepreneur. In another case, we set $\hat{g}(a_d, z_d) = g(a_d, z_d)$ and iterate through 1-4 again.

3.5.2 Static problem of a domestic non-exporting firm

We start describing the solution procedure by writing down the static problem of a nonexporting firm:

$$\pi(a_{dt}(\omega), z_{dt}(\omega)) = \max_{\substack{y_{ddt}(\omega), p_{ddt}(\omega), k_{dt}(\omega), l_{dt}(\omega)}} p_{ddt}(\omega) y_{ddt}(\omega) - W_{dt}l_{dt}(\omega) - (R_{dt} + \delta)k_{dt}(\omega)$$

s.t.
$$y_{ddt}(\omega) = \left[1 - \varepsilon \ln\left(\frac{\sigma}{\sigma - 1}p_{ddt}(\omega)\frac{D_{dt}}{P_{dt}}\right)\right]^{\frac{\sigma}{\varepsilon}} Y_{dt}$$

$$y_{ddt}(\omega) = z_{dt}(\omega)k_{dt}^{\alpha}(\omega)l_{dt}^{1-\alpha}(\omega)$$

$$k_{dt}(\omega) \le \frac{1 + R_{dt}}{1 + R_{dt} - \theta}a_{dt}(\omega)$$

The system of first-order conditions for the domestic producer is given by:

$$\frac{\sigma - 1}{\sigma} \exp\left(\frac{1 - q_{ddt}^{\frac{\varepsilon}{\sigma}}(\omega)}{\varepsilon}\right) \frac{P_{dt}}{D_{dt}} = \frac{\sigma}{\sigma - q_{ddt}^{\frac{\varepsilon}{\sigma}}(\omega)} MC_{ddt}(\omega)$$
$$W_{dt} = (1 - \alpha) MC_{ddt}(\omega) z_{dt}(\omega) k_{dt}^{\alpha}(\omega) l_{dt}^{-\alpha}(\omega)$$
$$R_{dt} + \delta + \lambda_{dt}(\omega) = \alpha MC_{ddt}(\omega) z_{dt}(\omega) k_{dt}^{\alpha - 1}(\omega) l_{dt}^{1 - \alpha}(\omega)$$

Similarly to Kohn et al. (2020) and Edmond et al. (2023), we define three associated complementary slackness conditions:

$$MC_{ddt}(\omega)(z_{dt}(\omega)k_{dt}^{\alpha}(\omega)l_{dt}^{1-\alpha}(\omega) - y_{ddt}(\omega)) = 0$$

$$q_{ddt}(\omega)\left(\frac{\sigma - 1}{\sigma}\exp\left(\frac{1 - q_{ddt}^{\frac{\sigma}{\sigma}}(\omega)}{\varepsilon}\right)\frac{P_{dt}}{D_{dt}} - \frac{\sigma}{\sigma - q_{ddt}^{\frac{\sigma}{\sigma}}(\omega)}MC_{ddt}(\omega)\right) = 0$$

$$\lambda_{dt}(\omega)\left(\frac{1 + R_{dt}}{1 + R_{dt} - \theta}a_{dt}(\omega) - k_{dt}(\omega)\right) = 0$$

Since it is ex-ante ambiguous whether the entrepreneur is constrained, given the level of assets and productivity, the first step in solving the problem is to determine the effective cost of capital, at which the firm would serve profit-maximizing output. This value is equal to $\max(R_{dt} + \delta, \overline{CC}(\omega))$, where $\overline{CC}_{dt}(\omega)$ is implicitly defined as a solution to the following equation

$$\frac{\sigma - q(\overline{CC}_{dt}(\omega))^{\frac{\varepsilon}{\sigma}}}{\sigma} \frac{\sigma - 1}{\sigma} \exp\left(\frac{1 - q(\overline{CC}_{dt}(\omega))^{\frac{\varepsilon}{\sigma}}}{\varepsilon}\right) \frac{P_{dt}}{D_{dt}} = \left(\frac{\overline{CC}_{dt}(\omega)}{\alpha}\right)^{\alpha} \left(\frac{W_{dt}}{1 - \alpha}\right)^{1 - \alpha} \frac{1}{z_{dt}(\omega)}$$

where

$$q(\overline{CC}_{dt}(\omega)) = \left[\frac{\overline{CC}_{dt}(\omega)}{\phi_{dt}(\omega)}\right]^{1-\alpha},$$

$$\phi_{dt}(\omega) = W_{dt} \frac{\alpha}{1 - \alpha} \left[\frac{Y_{dt}}{z_{dt}(\omega)k(a_{dt}(\omega))} \right]^{\frac{1}{1 - \alpha}}$$

$$k(a_{dt}(\omega)) = a_{dt}(\omega) \frac{1 + R_{dt}}{1 + R_{dt} - \theta}$$

with $\overline{CC}_{dt}(\omega) \in [R_{dt}+\delta, +\infty)$ In essence, $\overline{CC}_{dt}(\omega)$ provides the level of the effective cost of capital used by the entrepreneur, facing binding borrowing constraint. The fraction of the level of assets provides an upper bound for the capital such an entrepreneur can acquire; knowing this, such an entrepreneur solves the profit maximization problem with marginal costs, increasing in the output of the firm. An increase in output decreases marginal revenue and, at the same time, increases the effective cost of capital. The unique solution to the equation defines the level of marginal costs and optimal profit-maximizing output. For the sake of computational tractability, we use a bijective relationship between relative output and effective cost of capital to write the problem not as determining the optimal level of output, solving the profit-maximization problem of the firm, but by determining the effective cost of capital, a constrained firm pays to produce profit-maximizing output when its borrowing constraint binds. If the firm is unconstrained, the solution to the equation is weakly less than $R_{dt} + \delta$; in this case, we set the effective cost of capital equal to $R_{dt} + \delta$.

When $\overline{CC}_{dt}(\omega)$ is determined, we are able to compute $MC_{ddt}(\omega) = \frac{1}{z_{dt}(\omega)} \frac{W_{dt}^{1-\alpha} \overline{CC}_{dt}^{\alpha}(\omega)}{(1-\alpha)^{1-\alpha} \alpha^{\alpha}}$. Then, similarly to Edmond et al. (2023), we solve for the optimal level of output, implicitly defined as a non-zero root of the following equation if $q_{ddt}(\omega) > 0$ or 0 if non-zero solution does not exist:

$$q_{ddt}(\omega) \left(\frac{\sigma - 1}{\sigma} \exp\left(\frac{1 - q_{ddt}^{\frac{\varepsilon}{\sigma}}(\omega)}{\varepsilon}\right) \frac{P_{dt}}{D_{dt}} - \frac{\sigma}{\sigma - q_{ddt}^{\frac{\varepsilon}{\sigma}}(\omega)} \frac{1}{z_{dt}(\omega)} \frac{W_{dt}^{1 - \alpha} \overline{CC}_{dt}^{\alpha}(\omega)}{(1 - \alpha)^{1 - \alpha} \alpha^{\alpha}}\right) = 0$$

Monotonicity of the term in brackets implies that if a positive solution to the term in the brackets exists, it is unique, given $z_{dt}(\omega)$ and $\overline{CC}_{dt}(\omega)$. Knowing $q_{ddt}(\omega)$ is sufficient to calculate $\mu_{ddt}(\omega) = \frac{\sigma}{\sigma - q_{ddt}^{\frac{c}{\sigma}}(\omega)}$ and $p_{ddt}(\omega) = \frac{\sigma}{\sigma - q_{ddt}^{\frac{c}{\sigma}}(\omega)} MC_{ddt}(\omega)$. Using Y_{dt} , we are able to recover $y_{ddt}(\omega)$, this allows us to calculate $k_{dt}(\omega) = \frac{\alpha y_{ddt}(\omega)MC_{ddt}(\omega)}{R_{dt}+\delta}$ and $l_{dt}(\omega) = \frac{(1-\alpha)y_{ddt}(\omega)MC_{ddt}(\omega)}{W_{dt}}$ for an unconstrained firm and $l_{dt}(\omega)$ for a constrained firm (recall, that binding borrowing constraint for a constrained firm implies, that constrained firm exhausts her borrowing limits, which uniquely determines its level of capital). Profits are calculated as $\pi_{ddt}(\omega) = y_{ddt}(\omega)(p_{ddt}(\omega) - MC_{ddt}(\omega))$

3.5.3 Static problem of a domestic exporter

We start describing the solution procedure by writing down the static problem of exporting firm:

$$\pi(a_{dt}(\omega), z_{dt}(\omega)) = \max_{\substack{y_{edt}(\omega), p_{edt}(\omega), y_{eft}(\omega), \\ p_{eft}(\omega), k_{dt}(\omega), l_{dt}(\omega)}} p_{edt}(\omega) y_{edt}(\omega) + p_{eft}(\omega) y_{eft}(\omega)$$
$$- W_{dt}l_{et}(\omega) - (R_{dt} + \delta)k_{et}(\omega) - W_{dt}F$$

s.t.

$$y_{edt}(\omega) = \left[1 - \varepsilon \ln\left(\frac{\sigma}{\sigma - 1} p_{edt}(\omega) \frac{D_{dt}}{P_{dt}}\right)\right]^{\frac{\nu}{\varepsilon}} Y_{dt}$$
$$y_{eft}(\omega) = p_{eft}^{-\sigma}(\omega) \frac{A_{ft}}{P_{ft}^{-\sigma}}$$
$$\tau_{dft} y_{eft}(\omega) + y_{edt}(\omega) = z_{dt}(\omega) k_{et}^{\alpha}(\omega) l_{et}^{1-\alpha}(\omega)$$
$$k_{et}(\omega) \le \frac{1 + R_{dt}}{1 + R_{dt} - \theta} a_{dt}(\omega)$$

The system of first-order conditions is given by:

$$\frac{\sigma - 1}{\sigma} \exp\left(\frac{1 - q_{edt}^{\frac{\varepsilon}{\sigma}}(\omega)}{\varepsilon}\right) \frac{P_{dt}}{D_{dt}} = \frac{\sigma}{\sigma - q_{edt}^{\frac{\varepsilon}{\sigma}}(\omega)} MC_{edt}(\omega)$$
$$P_{ft} A_{ft}^{\frac{1}{\sigma}} y_{eft}^{-\frac{1}{\sigma}}(\omega) = \frac{\sigma}{\sigma - 1} MC_{eft}(\omega)$$
$$W_{dt} = (1 - \alpha) MC_{edt}(\omega) z_{dt}(\omega) k_{et}^{\alpha}(\omega) l_{et}^{-\alpha}(\omega)$$
$$R_{dt} + \delta + \lambda_{et}(\omega) = \alpha MC_{edt}(\omega) z_{dt}(\omega) k_{et}^{\alpha - 1}(\omega) l_{et}^{1 - \alpha}(\omega)$$

The associated complementary slackness conditions share similarities with the ones for the domestic producer:

$$MC_{edt}(\omega)(z_{dt}(\omega)k_{et}^{\alpha}(\omega)l_{et}^{1-\alpha}(\omega) - \tau_{dft}y_{eft}(\omega) - y_{edt}(\omega)) = 0$$

$$q_{edt}(\omega)\left(\frac{\sigma - 1}{\sigma}\exp\left(\frac{1 - q_{edt}^{\frac{\sigma}{\sigma}}(\omega)}{\varepsilon}\right)\frac{P_{dt}}{D_{dt}} - \frac{\sigma}{\sigma - q_{edt}^{\frac{\sigma}{\sigma}}(\omega)}MC_{edt}(\omega)\right) = 0$$

$$\lambda_{et}(\omega)\left(\frac{1 + R_{dt}}{1 + R_{dt} - \theta}a_{dt}(\omega) - k_{et}(\omega)\right) = 0$$

Similarly to the previous section of the Appendix, we start solving the problem by determining the effective cost of capital, consistent with profit maximization by a constrained firm. We denote its value by $\max(R_{dt} + \delta, \overline{CC}_{et}(\omega))$. If the effective cost of capital is $\overline{CC}_{et}(\omega)$, the total output it produces after exhausting its borrowing constraint is

$$\tau_{dft}y_{eft}(\omega) + y_{edt}(\omega) = z_{dt}(\omega)k(a_{dt}(\omega)) \left[\frac{k(a_{dt}(\omega))}{l_{et}(\omega)}\right]^{\alpha-1} = z_{dt}(\omega)k(a_{dt}(\omega)) \left[\frac{\overline{CC}_{et}(\omega)(1-\alpha)}{W_{dt}\alpha}\right]^{1-\alpha}$$

CES demand on the foreign market enables exporter to calculate the exact value of profit-maximizing exported output:

$$y_{eft}(\omega) = \frac{A_{ft}}{P_{ft}^{-\sigma}} \left[\frac{\sigma}{\sigma - 1} \frac{W_{dt}^{1-\alpha} \overline{CC}_{et}^{\alpha}(\omega)}{(1-\alpha)^{1-\alpha} \alpha^{\alpha}} \frac{\tau_{dft}}{z_{dt}(\omega)} \right]^{-\sigma}$$

This enables us to express the residual relative output of exporter on the domestic market as

$$q(\overline{CC}_{et}(\omega)) = \frac{z_{dt}(\omega)k(a_{dt}(\omega))}{Y_{dt}} \left[\frac{\overline{CC}_{et}(\omega)(1-\alpha)}{W_{dt}\alpha}\right]^{1-\alpha} - \frac{A_{ft}\tau_{dft}^{1-\sigma}}{P_{ft}^{-\sigma}Y_{dt}} \left[\frac{\sigma}{\sigma-1}\frac{W_{dt}^{1-\alpha}\overline{CC}_{et}^{\alpha}(\omega)}{(1-\alpha)^{1-\alpha}\alpha^{\alpha}z_{dt}(\omega)}\right]^{-\sigma}$$

With this in mind, we are able to implicitly define $\overline{CC}_{et}(\omega)$ as a solution to the following equation:

$$\frac{\sigma - q(\overline{CC}_{et}(\omega))^{\frac{\varepsilon}{\sigma}}}{\sigma} \frac{\sigma - 1}{\sigma} \exp\left(\frac{1 - q(\overline{CC}_{et}(\omega))^{\frac{\varepsilon}{\sigma}}}{\varepsilon}\right) \frac{P_{dt}}{D_{dt}} = \left(\frac{\overline{CC}_{et}(\omega)}{\alpha}\right)^{\alpha} \left(\frac{W_{dt}}{1 - \alpha}\right)^{1 - \alpha} \frac{1}{z_{dt}(\omega)}$$

where again $\overline{CC}_{et}(\omega) \in [R_{dt} + \delta; \infty)$. The logic behind determining the effective cost of capital for a constrained producer is similar to a domestic producer - a constrained firm has its $\overline{CC}_{et}(\omega) \in (R_{dt} + \delta; \infty)$, while unconstrained firm pays $R_{dt} + \delta$ for capital. Knowing the effective cost of capital, we are able to compute the marginal cost of the firm on the domestic market

$$MC_{edt}(\omega) = \frac{1}{z_{dt}(\omega)} \frac{W_{dt}^{1-\alpha} \overline{CC}_{et}^{\alpha}(\omega)}{(1-\alpha)^{1-\alpha} \alpha^{\alpha}}$$

and on the exporting market

$$MC_{eft}(\omega) = \tau_{dft} MC_{edt}(\omega)$$

This information is sufficient to compute

$$y_{eft}(\omega) = \frac{A_{ft}}{P_{ft}^{-\sigma}} \left[\frac{\sigma}{\sigma - 1} \frac{W_{dt}^{1-\alpha} \overline{CC}_{et}^{\alpha}(\omega)}{(1-\alpha)^{1-\alpha} \alpha^{\alpha}} \frac{\tau_{dft}}{z_{dt}(\omega)} \right]^{-\sigma},$$

however, $y_{edt}(\omega)$ has no closed-form expression. We compute it as a product of Y_{dt} and $q_{edt}(\omega)$, giving a non-zero solution to (provided that such solution exists):

$$q_{edt}(\omega) \left(\frac{\sigma - 1}{\sigma} \exp\left(\frac{1 - q_{edt}^{\frac{\varepsilon}{\sigma}}(\omega)}{\varepsilon}\right) \frac{P_{dt}}{D_{dt}} - \frac{\sigma}{\sigma - q_{edt}^{\frac{\varepsilon}{\sigma}}(\omega)} \frac{1}{z_{dt}(\omega)} \frac{W_{dt}^{1 - \alpha} \overline{CC}_{dt}^{\alpha}(\omega)}{(1 - \alpha)^{1 - \alpha} \alpha^{\alpha}}\right) = 0$$

Knowledge of $y_{edt}(\omega)$ enables us to calculate relative domestic output $q_{edt}(\omega)$, domestic markup $\mu_{edt}(\omega) = \frac{\sigma}{\sigma - q_{edt}^{\frac{c}{\sigma}}(\omega)}$ and price $p_{edt}(\omega) = \frac{\sigma}{\sigma - q_{edt}^{\frac{c}{\sigma}}(\omega)} MC_{edt}(\omega)$. Foreign markup is

constant and equal to $\frac{\sigma}{\sigma-1}$, foreign price is just $p_{eft}(\omega) = \frac{\sigma}{\sigma-1}\tau_{dft}MC_{edt}(\omega)$. Knowing both outputs, we are able to calculate total output as $\tau_{dft}y_{eft}(\omega) + y_{edt}(\omega)$. In its turn, total output enables calculating the total value of labor and capital stock for the unconstrained firm $(k_{et}(\omega) = \frac{\alpha(\tau_{dft}y_{eft}(\omega)+y_{edt}(\omega))MC_{edt}(\omega)}{R_{dt}+\delta}, l_{et}(\omega) = \frac{(1-\alpha)(\tau_{dft}y_{eft}(\omega)+y_{edt}(\omega))MC_{edt}(\omega)}{W_{dt}})$. For a constrained firm the level of labor is determined similarly, while capital stock is determined by the level of capital, binding borrowing constraint. The profit exporter obtains on the domestic market is equal to $\pi_{edt}(\omega) = y_{edt}(\omega)(p_{edt}(\omega) - MC_{edt}(\omega))$, the profits from exporting market are equal to $\pi_{eft}(\omega) = y_{eft}(\omega)(p_{eft}(\omega) - MC_{eft}(\omega)) - FW_{dt}$.

3.5.4 Static problem of the foreign importer, selling to domestic consumers

Assuming out financial frictions in the foreign market allows determining foreign importer's policy function by just comparing the total profits earned at the domestic market with $W_{ft}F^{11}$. The problem in the domestic market thus takes the following form:

$$\pi(z_{ft}(\omega)) = \max_{\substack{y_{mdt}(\omega), p_{mdt}(\omega), y_{mft}(\omega), \\ p_{mft}(\omega), k_{mt}(\omega), l_{mt}(\omega)}} p_{mdt}(\omega) y_{mdt}(\omega) + p_{mft}(\omega) y_{mft}(\omega) - W_{ft}(\omega) - W_{ft} I_{mt}(\omega) - (R_{ft} + \delta) k_{mt}(\omega) - W_{ft} F$$
s.t.
$$y_{mdt}(\omega) = \left[1 - \varepsilon \ln\left(\frac{\sigma}{\sigma - 1} p_{mdt}(\omega) \frac{D_{dt}}{P_{dt}}\right)\right]^{\frac{\sigma}{\varepsilon}} Y_{dt}$$

$$y_{mft}(\omega) = p_{mft}^{-\sigma}(\omega) \frac{A_{ft}}{P_{ft}^{-\sigma}}$$

$$\tau_{fdt} y_{mdt}(\omega) + y_{mft}(\omega) = z_{ft}(\omega) k_{mt}^{\alpha}(\omega) l_{mt}^{1-\alpha}(\omega)$$

The first-order conditions for profit maximization relevant to the decisions on the domestic market are:

$$\frac{\sigma - 1}{\sigma} \exp\left(\frac{1 - q_{mdt}^{\frac{\varepsilon}{\sigma}}(\omega)}{\varepsilon}\right) \frac{P_{dt}}{D_{dt}} = \frac{\sigma}{\sigma - q_{mdt}^{\frac{\varepsilon}{\sigma}}(\omega)} MC_{mdt}(\omega)$$
$$W_{ft} = (1 - \alpha) MC_{mdt}(\omega) z_{ft}(\omega) k_{mt}^{\alpha}(\omega) l_{mt}^{-\alpha}(\omega)$$
$$R_{ft} + \delta = \alpha MC_{mdt}(\omega) z_{ft}(\omega) k_{mt}^{\alpha - 1}(\omega) l_{mt}^{1 - \alpha}(\omega)$$

¹¹In the following, we still call the domestic market from the perspective of domestic consumers, from the standpoint of importers who are at the focus of the subsequent analysis, this will be exporting market

The associated complementary slackness conditions are given by:

$$MC_{mft}(\omega)(z_{ft}(\omega)k_{mt}^{\alpha}(\omega)l_{mt}^{1-\alpha}(\omega) - \tau_{fdt}y_{mdt}(\omega) - y_{mft}(\omega)) = 0$$
$$q_{mdt}(\omega)\left(\frac{\sigma - 1}{\sigma}\exp\left(\frac{1 - q_{mdt}^{\frac{\sigma}{\sigma}}(\omega)}{\varepsilon}\right)\frac{P_{dt}}{D_{dt}} - \frac{\sigma}{\sigma - q_{mdt}^{\frac{\sigma}{\sigma}}(\omega)}MC_{mdt}(\omega)\right) = 0$$

The latter two equations enable us to compute the marginal cost of importer in the domestic market

$$MC_{mdt}(\omega) = \frac{\tau_{fdt}}{z_{ft}(\omega)} \frac{W_{ft}^{1-\alpha}(R_{ft}+\delta)^{\alpha}}{\alpha^{\alpha}(1-\alpha)^{1-\alpha}}$$

After that, for each point of the importer's productivity grid, we can calculate the output level consistent with profit maximization. Then, dividing by Y_{dt} , we get $q_{mdt}(\omega)$ and we determine it as a non-zero root of the following equation (if such root exists):

$$q_{mdt}(\omega) \left(\frac{\sigma - 1}{\sigma} \exp\left(\frac{1 - q_{mdt}^{\frac{\varepsilon}{\sigma}}(\omega)}{\varepsilon}\right) \frac{P_{dt}}{D_{dt}} - \frac{\sigma}{\sigma - q_{mdt}^{\frac{\varepsilon}{\sigma}}(\omega)} \frac{\tau_{fdt}}{z_{ft}(\omega)} \frac{W_{ft}^{1 - \alpha}(R_{ft} + \delta)^{\alpha}}{(1 - \alpha)^{1 - \alpha}\alpha^{\alpha}}\right) = 0$$

$$(3.5.1)$$

We use the resulting value of $q_{mdt}(\omega)$, we compute the markup on the domestic market $\left(\mu_{mdt}(\omega) = \frac{\sigma}{\sigma - q_{mdt}^{\frac{\sigma}{\sigma}}(\omega)}\right)$ price of importer set on the domestic market, $p_{mdt}(\omega) = \mu_{mdt}(\omega)MC_{mdt}(\omega)$. Using this information, we compute domestic profits of the importer $\pi_{mdt}(\omega) = q_{mdt}(\omega)Y_{dt}(p_{mdt}(\omega) - MC_{mdt}(\omega))$. If $\pi_{mdt}(\omega)$ is weakly greater than $W_{ft}F$, we set the exporting decision of the importer as 1; if not, we set it equal to 0.

3.5.5 Solving the aggregate problem

The solution to the problem in sections 3.1-3.2 hinges on our knowledge of D_d , Y_d , and W_d and other variables, determined in general equilibrium $(P_d, |\Omega_d|, \xi \text{ etc.})$. We simplify the problem by dividing general equilibrium variables into 3 groups:

- 1. Variables we use to solve for the general equilibrium: W_d, Y_d, D_d ;
- 2. Variables we normalize and keep fixed by Small Open Economy assumption: $W_f = 1, P_d = 1, P_f = \xi P_d;$
- 3. Variables we get from the data: $A_f, R_d, R_f, |\Omega_{dd}|, |\Omega_{dm}|, \xi$.

We solve for the general equilibrium by determining W_d, Y_d, D_d , for which solutions to the static and dynamic problems of entrepreneurs result in allocations, satisfying Final Good market clearing, Labor Market clearing, and equalization of Kimball Aggregator:

$$\int_{s \in G_a \times G_z} [n(s) + e(s)F]\phi(s)ds = 1$$

$$\int_{s \in G_a \times G_z} [c(s) + x(s)]\phi(s)ds = Y_h$$

$$\frac{1}{|\Omega_{dd}|} \int_{\Omega_{dd}} \Upsilon\left(\frac{|\Omega_{dd}|y_d(\omega)}{Y_d}\right)d\omega + \frac{1}{|\Omega_{dm}|} \int_{\Omega_{dm}} \Upsilon\left(\frac{|\Omega_{dm}|y_{md}(\omega)}{Y_d}\right)d\omega = 1$$
(3.5.2)

Note, that in the last equation, we used $y_d = (1 - e)y_{dd} + ey_{ed}$. We achieve equality by minimizing the distance between the left- and right-hand sides of these equations. More specifically, we start with some guesses of these variables; given these guesses, we solve static and dynamic problems of entrepreneurs, solve for a stationary distribution as in Kohn et al. (2020), and check whether the resulting allocations satisfy the system of three equations above. If the difference between the left and right sides is under some convergence criteria, we stop and treat W_d, Y_d, D_d as consistent with the steady state of the model. If the above does not happen, we update guesses and proceed with the next iteration.

3.5.6 Numerical Algorithm for solving the Extension in a constant markup environment

The numerical algorithm for solving the CES version of the model is very similar to the one we use to solve the benchmark model. However, a substantial benefit of this case is that we can derive closed-form expressions for many of these terms. Here we list some important differences between solving the benchmark problem and its CES variant:

1. D_{dt} is not solved for in equilibrium; in the CES version, it is held fixed at $\frac{\sigma-1}{\sigma}$;

2.
$$\mu_{ddt} = \mu_{edt} = \mu_{eft} = \mu_{mdt} = \frac{\sigma}{\sigma-1}$$

3.5.7 Static problem of a domestic firm in a constant markup environment

We start describing the solution procedure by writing down the static problem of a nonexporting firm:

$$\pi(a_{dt}(\omega), z_{dt}(\omega)) = \max_{y_{ddt}(\omega), p_{ddt}(\omega), k_{dt}(\omega)} p_{ddt}(\omega) y_{ddt}(\omega) - W_{dt}l_{dt}(\omega) - (R_{dt} + \delta)k_{dt}(\omega)$$

s.t.
$$y_{ddt}(\omega) = p_{ddt}(\omega)^{-\sigma} \frac{Y_{dt}}{P_{dt}^{-\sigma}}$$
$$y_{ddt}(\omega) = z_{dt}(\omega)k_{dt}^{\alpha}(\omega)l_{dt}^{1-\alpha}(\omega)$$
$$k_{dt}(\omega) \le \frac{1 + R_{dt}}{1 + R_{dt} - \theta} a_{dt}(\omega)$$

The system of first-order conditions and complementary slackness conditions are similar to Kohn et al. (2020):

$$p_{ddt}(\omega) = \frac{\sigma}{\sigma - 1} M C_{ddt}(\omega)$$
$$W_{dt} = (1 - \alpha) M C_{ddt}(\omega) z_{dt}(\omega) k_{dt}^{\alpha}(\omega) l_{dt}^{-\alpha}(\omega)$$
$$R_{dt} + \delta + \lambda_{dt}(\omega) = \alpha M C_{ddt}(\omega) z_{dt}(\omega) k_{dt}^{\alpha - 1}(\omega) l_{dt}^{1 - \alpha}(\omega)$$
$$M C_{ddt}(\omega) (z_{dt}(\omega) k_{dt}^{\alpha}(\omega) l_{dt}^{1 - \alpha}(\omega) - y_{ddt}(\omega)) = 0$$
$$\lambda_{dt}(\omega) \left(\frac{1 + R_{dt}}{1 + R_{dt} - \theta} a_{dt}(\omega) - k_{dt}(\omega)\right) = 0$$

For an unconstrained firm, $\lambda_{dt}(\omega) = 0$, values of output, profits, capital, and labor are:

$$MC_{ddt}(\omega) = \frac{1}{z_{dt}(\omega)} \frac{(R_{dt} + \delta)^{\alpha} W_{dt}^{1-\alpha}}{\alpha^{\alpha} (1-\alpha)^{1-\alpha}}$$

$$y_{ddt}(\omega) = \left[\frac{\sigma}{\sigma - 1} \frac{1}{z_{dt}(\omega)} \frac{(R_{dt} + \delta)^{\alpha} W_{dt}^{1-\alpha}}{\alpha^{\alpha} (1 - \alpha)^{1-\alpha}}\right]^{-\sigma} \frac{Y_{dt}}{P_{dt}^{-\sigma}}$$
$$\pi_{ddt}(\omega) = \frac{1}{\sigma} \left[\frac{\sigma}{\sigma - 1} \frac{1}{z_{dt}(\omega)} \frac{(R_{dt} + \delta)^{\alpha} W_{dt}^{1-\alpha}}{\alpha^{\alpha} (1 - \alpha)^{1-\alpha}}\right]^{1-\sigma} \frac{Y_{dt}}{P_{dt}^{-\sigma}}$$
$$l_{dt}(\omega) = \left[\frac{\sigma}{\sigma - 1}\right]^{-\sigma} \left[\frac{1}{z_{dt}(\omega)} \frac{(R_{dt} + \delta)^{\alpha}}{\alpha^{\alpha}}\right]^{1-\sigma} \left[\frac{W_{dt}}{1 - \alpha}\right]^{\sigma\alpha - \alpha - \sigma} \frac{Y_{dt}}{P_{dt}^{-\sigma}}$$
$$k_{dt}(\omega) = \left[\frac{\sigma}{\sigma - 1}\right]^{-\sigma} \left[\frac{1}{z_{dt}(\omega)} \frac{W_{dt}^{1-\alpha}}{(1 - \alpha)^{1-\alpha}}\right]^{1-\sigma} \left[\frac{R_{dt} + \delta}{\alpha}\right]^{\alpha - \sigma\alpha - 1} \frac{Y_{dt}}{P_{dt}^{-\sigma}}$$

When the firm is constrained, it cannot afford to use the unconstrained amount of capital; the maximum it can acquire is $\frac{1+R_{dt}}{1+R_{dt}-\theta}a_{dt}(\omega)$. If $k_{dt}(\omega) \leq \frac{1+R_{dt}}{1+R_{dt}-\theta}a_{dt}(\omega)$, we categorize firm as unconstrained, in another case, we categorize it as constrained, use $k_{dt}(\omega) = k(a_{dt}(\omega)) = \frac{1+R_{dt}}{1+R_{dt}-\theta}a_{dt}(\omega)$ and determine the effective cost of capital, needed to produce profit-maximizing output. We do this by solving the equation:

$$y_{ddt}(\omega) = \left[\frac{\sigma}{\sigma - 1} \frac{1}{z_{dt}(\omega)} \frac{(R_{dt} + \delta + \lambda_{dt}(\omega))^{\alpha} W_{dt}^{1-\alpha}}{\alpha^{\alpha} (1-\alpha)^{1-\alpha}}\right]^{-\sigma} \frac{Y_{dt}}{P_{dt}^{-\sigma}} = z_{dt}(\omega) k (a_{dt}(\omega))^{\alpha} l_{dt}^{1-\alpha}(\omega)$$

The unique solution to this equation allows computing values of marginal costs, price, output, and labor of the constrained firm:

$$\begin{aligned} R_{dt} + \delta + \lambda_{dt}(\omega) &= \alpha \left(\frac{\sigma - 1}{\sigma}\right)^{\frac{\sigma}{\alpha\sigma + 1 - \alpha}} \left(\frac{1 - \alpha}{W_{dt}}\right)^{\frac{(1 - \alpha)(\sigma - 1)}{\alpha\sigma + 1 - \alpha}} z_{dt}(\omega)^{\frac{\sigma - 1}{\alpha\sigma + 1 - \alpha}} \left(\frac{Y_{dt}}{P_{dt}^{-\sigma}k(a_{dt}(\omega))}\right)^{\frac{1}{\alpha\sigma + 1 - \alpha}} \\ MC_{dt}(\omega) &= \left(\frac{\sigma - 1}{\sigma}\right)^{\frac{\sigma}{\alpha\sigma + 1 - \alpha}} \left(\frac{W_{dt}}{1 - \alpha}\right)^{\frac{1 - \alpha}{\alpha\sigma + 1 - \alpha}} z_{dt}(\omega)^{-\frac{1}{\alpha\sigma + 1 - \alpha}} \left(\frac{Y_{dt}}{P_{dt}^{-\sigma}k(a_{dt}(\omega))}\right)^{\frac{\alpha}{\alpha\sigma + 1 - \alpha}} \\ y_{ddt}(\omega) &= \left(\frac{\sigma - 1}{\sigma}\right)^{\frac{\sigma}{\alpha\sigma + 1 - \alpha}} \left(\frac{1 - \alpha}{W_{dt}}\right)^{\frac{\sigma(1 - \alpha)}{\alpha\sigma + 1 - \alpha}} z_{dt}(\omega)^{\frac{\sigma}{\alpha\sigma + 1 - \alpha}} \left(\frac{Y_{dt}}{P_{dt}^{-\sigma}}\right)^{\frac{1 - \alpha}{\alpha\sigma + 1 - \alpha}} k(a_{dt}(\omega))^{\frac{\alpha\sigma}{\alpha\sigma + 1 - \alpha}} \\ \pi_{ddt}(\omega) &= \frac{1}{\sigma} \left(\frac{\sigma}{\sigma - 1}\frac{W_{dt}}{1 - \alpha}\right)^{\frac{(1 - \alpha)(1 - \sigma)}{\alpha\sigma + 1 - \alpha}} z_{dt}(\omega)^{\frac{\sigma - 1}{\alpha\sigma + 1 - \alpha}} \left(\frac{Y_{dt}}{P_{dt}^{-\sigma}}\right)^{\frac{1}{\alpha\sigma + 1 - \alpha}} k(a_{dt}(\omega))^{\frac{\alpha(\sigma - 1)}{\alpha\sigma + 1 - \alpha}} \\ l_{dt}(\omega) &= \left(\frac{\sigma - 1}{\sigma}\right)^{\frac{\sigma}{\alpha\sigma + 1 - \alpha}} \left(\frac{1 - \alpha}{W_{dt}}\right)^{\frac{\sigma}{\alpha\sigma + 1 - \alpha}} z_{dt}(\omega)^{\frac{\sigma - 1}{\alpha\sigma + 1 - \alpha}} \left(\frac{Y_{dt}}{P_{dt}^{-\sigma}}\right)^{\frac{1}{\alpha\sigma + 1 - \alpha}} k(a_{dt}(\omega))^{\frac{\alpha(\sigma - 1)}{\alpha\sigma + 1 - \alpha}} \end{aligned}$$

3.5.8 Static problem of an exporter in a constant markup environment

$$\pi(a_{dt}(\omega), z_{dt}(\omega)) = \max_{\substack{y_{edt}(\omega), p_{edt}(\omega), y_{eft}(\omega), \\ p_{eft}(\omega), k_{dt}(\omega), l_{dt}(\omega)}} p_{edt}(\omega) y_{edt}(\omega) + p_{eft}(\omega) y_{eft}(\omega) - W_{dt} l_{dt}(\omega)}$$

s.t.

$$y_{edt}(\omega) = p_{edt}^{-\sigma}(\omega) \frac{Y_{dt}}{P_{dt}^{-\sigma}}$$

$$y_{eft}(\omega) = p_{eft}^{-\sigma}(\omega) \frac{A_{ft}}{P_{ft}^{-\sigma}}$$

$$\tau_{dft} y_{eft}(\omega) + y_{edt}(\omega) = z_{dt}(\omega) k_{et}^{\alpha}(\omega) l_{et}^{1-\alpha}(\omega)$$

$$k_{et}(\omega) \leq \frac{1 + R_{dt}}{1 + R_{dt} - \theta} a_{dt}(\omega)$$

The system of first-order conditions and the associated complementary slackness conditions is given by:

$$p_{edt}(\omega) = \frac{\sigma}{\sigma - 1} M C_{edt}(\omega)$$

$$p_{eft}(\omega) = \frac{\sigma}{\sigma - 1} M C_{eft}(\omega)$$

$$W_{dt} = (1 - \alpha) M C_{edt}(\omega) z_{dt}(\omega) k_{et}^{\alpha}(\omega) l_{et}^{-\alpha}(\omega)$$

$$R_{dt} + \delta + \lambda_{et}(\omega) = \alpha M C_{edt}(\omega) z_{dt}(\omega) k_{et}^{\alpha - 1}(\omega) l_{et}^{1 - \alpha}(\omega)$$

$$M C_{edt}(\omega) (z_{dt}(\omega) k_{et}^{\alpha}(\omega) l_{et}^{1 - \alpha}(\omega) - \tau_{dft} y_{eft}(\omega) - y_{edt}(\omega)) = 0$$

$$\lambda_{et}(\omega) \left(\frac{1 + R_{dt}}{1 + R_{dt} - \theta} a_{dt}(\omega) - k_{et}(\omega)\right) = 0$$

For an unconstrained firm, $MC_{edt}(\omega) = MC_{ddt}(\omega)$, $y_{edt}(\omega) = y_{ddt}(\omega)$, $\pi_{edt}(\omega) = \pi_{ddt}(\omega)$. Values of marginal costs, outputs, and profits of an unconstrained firm on the foreign market are:

$$\begin{split} MC_{eft}(\omega) &= \frac{\tau_{dft}}{z_{dt}(\omega)} \frac{(R_{dt} + \delta)^{\alpha} W_{dt}^{1-\alpha}}{\alpha^{\alpha} (1-\alpha)^{1-\alpha}} \\ y_{eft}(\omega) &= \left[\frac{\sigma}{\sigma - 1} \frac{\tau_{dft}}{z_{dt}(\omega)} \frac{(R_{dt} + \delta)^{\alpha} W_{dt}^{1-\alpha}}{\alpha^{\alpha} (1-\alpha)^{1-\alpha}} \right]^{-\sigma} \frac{Y_{ft}}{P_{ft}^{-\sigma}} \\ \pi_{eft}(\omega) &= \frac{1}{\sigma} \left[\frac{\sigma}{\sigma - 1} \frac{\tau_{dft}}{z_{dt}(\omega)} \frac{(R_{dt} + \delta)^{\alpha} W_{dt}^{1-\alpha}}{\alpha^{\alpha} (1-\alpha)^{1-\alpha}} \right]^{1-\sigma} \frac{Y_{ft}}{P_{ft}^{-\sigma}} \\ \pi_{et}(\omega) &= \frac{1}{\sigma} \left[\frac{\sigma}{\sigma - 1} \frac{1}{z_{dt}(\omega)} \frac{(R_{dt} + \delta)^{\alpha} W_{dt}^{1-\alpha}}{\alpha^{\alpha} (1-\alpha)^{1-\alpha}} \right]^{1-\sigma} \left[\frac{Y_{dt}}{P_{dt}^{-\sigma}} + \tau_{dft}^{1-\sigma} \frac{Y_{ft}}{P_{ft}^{-\sigma}} \right] - FW_{dt} \end{split}$$

The total amount of labor and capital used can be calculated as follows:

$$l_{dt}(\omega) = \left[\frac{\sigma}{\sigma-1}\right]^{-\sigma} \left[\frac{1}{z_{dt}(\omega)} \frac{(R_{dt}+\delta)^{\alpha}}{\alpha^{\alpha}}\right]^{1-\sigma} \left[\frac{W_{dt}}{1-\alpha}\right]^{\sigma\alpha-\alpha-\sigma} \left[\frac{Y_{dt}}{P_{dt}^{-\sigma}} + \frac{\tau_{dft}^{1-\sigma}Y_{ft}}{P_{ft}^{-\sigma}}\right]$$

$$k_{dt}(\omega) = \left[\frac{\sigma}{\sigma-1}\right]^{-\sigma} \left[\frac{1}{z_{dt}(\omega)} \frac{W_{dt}^{1-\alpha}}{(1-\alpha)^{1-\alpha}}\right]^{1-\sigma} \left[\frac{R_{dt}+\delta}{\alpha}\right]^{\alpha-\sigma\alpha-1} \left[\frac{Y_{dt}}{P_{dt}^{-\sigma}} + \frac{\tau_{dft}^{1-\sigma}Y_{ft}}{P_{ft}^{-\sigma}}\right]^{1-\sigma}$$

Again, constrained firm can only employ at most $\frac{1+R_{dt}}{1+R_{dt}-\theta}a_{dt}(\omega)$. If $k_{dt}(\omega) \leq \frac{1+R_{dt}}{1+R_{dt}-\theta}a_{dt}(\omega)$ units of capital, we again categorize firm as unconstrained, in another case, we categorize it as constrained, use $k_{dt}(\omega) = k(a_{dt}(\omega))$ and determine the effective cost of capital the firm should pay to maximize profits on both markets. We do this by solving the equation:

$$y_{edt}(\omega) + \tau_{dft}y_{eft}(\omega) = \left[\frac{\sigma}{\sigma - 1}\frac{1}{z_{dt}(\omega)}\frac{(R_{dt} + \delta + \lambda_{dt}(\omega))^{\alpha}W_{dt}^{1-\alpha}}{\alpha^{\alpha}(1-\alpha)^{1-\alpha}}\right]^{-\sigma} \left[\frac{Y_{dt}}{P_{dt}^{-\sigma}} + \frac{\tau_{dft}^{1-\sigma}Y_{ft}}{P_{ft}^{-\sigma}}\right] = z_{dt}(\omega)k(a_{dt}(\omega))^{\alpha}l_{dt}^{1-\alpha}(\omega)$$

The unique solution to this equation allows computing values of marginal costs, price, and output on both markets, as well as the employment level of the constrained exporter:

$$R_{dt} + \delta + \lambda_{et}(\omega) = \alpha \left(\frac{\sigma - 1}{\sigma}\right)^{\frac{\sigma}{\alpha\sigma + 1 - \alpha}} \left(\frac{1 - \alpha}{W_{dt}}\right)^{\frac{(1 - \alpha)(\sigma - 1)}{\alpha\sigma + 1 - \alpha}} z_{dt}(\omega)^{\frac{\sigma - 1}{\alpha\sigma + 1 - \alpha}} \left(\frac{\frac{Y_{dt}}{P_{dt}} + \frac{\tau_{dft}^{1 - \sigma}Y_{ft}}{P_{ft}}}{k(a_{dt}(\omega))}\right)^{\frac{1}{\alpha\sigma + 1 - \alpha}}$$

$$MC_{edt}(\omega) = \left(\frac{\sigma - 1}{\sigma}\right)^{\frac{\alpha\sigma}{\alpha\sigma + 1 - \alpha}} \left(\frac{W_{dt}}{1 - \alpha}\right)^{\frac{1 - \alpha}{\alpha\sigma + 1 - \alpha}} z_{dt}(\omega)^{-\frac{1}{\alpha\sigma + 1 - \alpha}} \left(\frac{\frac{Y_{dt}}{P_{dt}^{-\sigma}} + \frac{\tau_{dft}^{1 - \sigma}Y_{ft}}{P_{ft}^{-\sigma}}}{k(a_{dt}(\omega))}\right)^{\frac{\alpha\sigma}{\alpha\sigma + 1 - \alpha}}$$

$$MC_{eft}(\omega) = \tau_{dft} \left(\frac{\sigma - 1}{\sigma}\right)^{\frac{\alpha\sigma}{\alpha\sigma + 1 - \alpha}} \left(\frac{W_{dt}}{1 - \alpha}\right)^{\frac{1 - \alpha}{\alpha\sigma + 1 - \alpha}} z_{dt}(\omega)^{-\frac{1}{\alpha\sigma + 1 - \alpha}} \left(\frac{\frac{Y_{dt}}{P_{dt}^{-\sigma}} + \frac{\tau_{dft}^{1 - \sigma}Y_{ft}}{P_{ft}^{-\sigma}}}{k(a_{dt}(\omega))}\right)^{\frac{\alpha}{\alpha\sigma + 1 - \alpha}}$$

$$y_{edt}(\omega) = \left(\frac{\sigma - 1}{\sigma}\right)^{\frac{\sigma(1 - \alpha)}{\alpha \sigma + 1 - \alpha}} \left(\frac{1 - \alpha}{W_{dt}}\right)^{\frac{\sigma(1 - \alpha)}{\alpha \sigma + 1 - \alpha}} z_{dt}(\omega)^{\frac{\sigma}{\alpha \sigma + 1 - \alpha}} \frac{\frac{Y_{dt}}{P_{dt}^{-\sigma}} k(a_{dt}(\omega))^{\frac{\alpha \sigma}{\alpha \sigma + 1 - \alpha}}}{\left[\frac{Y_{dt}}{P_{dt}^{-\sigma}} + \frac{\tau_{dft}^{1 - \sigma} Y_{ft}}{P_{ft}^{-\sigma}}\right]^{\frac{\sigma \alpha}{\alpha \sigma + 1 - \alpha}}}$$

$$y_{eft}(\omega) = \left(\frac{\sigma - 1}{\sigma}\right)^{\frac{\sigma(1-\alpha)}{\alpha\sigma+1-\alpha}} \left(\frac{1-\alpha}{W_{dt}}\right)^{\frac{\sigma(1-\alpha)}{\alpha\sigma+1-\alpha}} z_{dt}(\omega)^{\frac{\sigma}{\alpha\sigma+1-\alpha}} \frac{\tau_{dft}^{-\sigma} \frac{Y_{ft}}{P_{ft}^{-\sigma}} k(a_{dt}(\omega))^{\frac{\alpha\sigma}{\alpha\sigma+1-\alpha}}}{\left[\frac{Y_{dt}}{P_{dt}^{-\sigma}} + \frac{\tau_{dft}^{1-\sigma} Y_{ft}}{P_{ft}^{-\sigma}}\right]^{\frac{\sigma\alpha}{\alpha\sigma+1-\alpha}}}$$

$$y_{edt}(\omega) + \tau_{dft}y_{eft}(\omega) = \left(\frac{\sigma - 1}{\sigma}\frac{1 - \alpha}{W_{dt}}\right)^{\frac{\sigma(1 - \alpha)}{\alpha\sigma + 1 - \alpha}} z_{dt}(\omega)^{\frac{\sigma}{\alpha\sigma + 1 - \alpha}} \left[\frac{Y_{dt}}{P_{dt}^{-\sigma}} + \frac{\tau_{dft}^{1 - \sigma}Y_{ft}}{P_{ft}^{-\sigma}}\right]^{\frac{1 - \alpha}{\alpha\sigma + 1 - \alpha}} k(a_{dt}(\omega))^{\frac{\alpha\sigma}{\alpha\sigma + 1 - \alpha}}$$

$$l_{et}(\omega) = \left(\frac{\sigma - 1}{\sigma} \frac{1 - \alpha}{W_{dt}}\right)^{\frac{\sigma}{\alpha\sigma + 1 - \alpha}} z_{dt}(\omega)^{\frac{\sigma - 1}{\alpha\sigma + 1 - \alpha}} \left[\frac{Y_{dt}}{P_{dt}^{-\sigma}} + \frac{\tau_{dft}^{1 - \sigma}Y_{ft}}{P_{ft}^{-\sigma}}\right]^{\frac{1}{\alpha\sigma + 1 - \alpha}} k(a_{dt}(\omega))^{\frac{\alpha(\sigma - 1)}{\alpha\sigma + 1 - \alpha}}$$

$$\pi_{edt}(\omega) = \frac{1}{\sigma} \left(\frac{\sigma}{\sigma - 1} \frac{W_{dt}}{1 - \alpha}\right)^{\frac{(1 - \alpha)(1 - \sigma)}{\alpha\sigma + 1 - \alpha}} z_{dt}(\omega)^{\frac{\sigma - 1}{\alpha\sigma + 1 - \alpha}} \frac{\frac{Y_{dt}}{P_{dt}^{-\sigma}} k(a_{dt}(\omega))^{\frac{\alpha(\sigma - 1)}{\alpha\sigma + 1 - \alpha}}}{\left[\frac{Y_{dt}}{P_{dt}^{-\sigma}} + \frac{\tau_{dft}^{1 - \sigma}Y_{ft}}{P_{ft}^{-\sigma}}\right]^{\frac{(\sigma - 1)\alpha}{\alpha\sigma + 1 - \alpha}}}$$

$$\pi_{eft}(\omega) = \frac{1}{\sigma} \left(\frac{\sigma}{\sigma - 1} \frac{W_{dt}}{1 - \alpha} \right)^{\frac{(1 - \alpha)(1 - \sigma)}{\alpha \sigma + 1 - \alpha}} z_{dt}(\omega)^{\frac{\sigma - 1}{\alpha \sigma + 1 - \alpha}} \frac{\frac{\tau_{dft}^{1 - \sigma} Y_{ft}}{P_{ft}^{-\sigma}} k(a_{dt}(\omega))^{\frac{\alpha(\sigma - 1)}{\alpha \sigma + 1 - \alpha}}}{\left[\frac{Y_{dt}}{P_{dt}^{-\sigma}} + \frac{\tau_{dft}^{1 - \sigma} Y_{ft}}{P_{ft}^{-\sigma}} \right]^{\frac{(\sigma - 1)\alpha}{\alpha \sigma + 1 - \alpha}}}$$

$$\pi_{et}(\omega) + FW_{dt} = \frac{1}{\sigma} \left(\frac{\sigma}{\sigma - 1} \frac{W_{dt}}{1 - \alpha}\right)^{\frac{(1 - \alpha)(1 - \sigma)}{\alpha \sigma + 1 - \alpha}} z_{dt}(\omega)^{\frac{\sigma - 1}{\alpha \sigma + 1 - \alpha}} \left[\frac{Y_{dt}}{P_{dt}^{-\sigma}} + \frac{\tau_{dft}^{1 - \sigma}Y_{ft}}{P_{ft}^{-\sigma}}\right]^{\frac{1}{\alpha \sigma + 1 - \alpha}} k(a_{dt}(\omega))^{\frac{\alpha(\sigma - 1)}{\alpha \sigma + 1 - \alpha}} dt$$

As in the benchmark case, the firm agrees to sell on two markets if $\pi_{et}(\omega) + FW_{dt} \geq \pi_{ddt}(\omega)$. Again, for the financially-unconstrained firm, it is sufficient to just compare $\pi_{eft}(\omega)$ with FW_{dt} but this comparison is no longer sufficient for the financially-constrained firm.

3.5.9 Static problem of an importer in a constant markup environment

Intuitively, the problem of the importer is a symmetric version of the problem of domestic exporter, with the main difference that we abstract from financial constraints abroad. This allows us to consider exporting decisions of importers independently from the decisions on their domestic market; thus the only first-order conditions and complementary slackness conditions relevant to this problem are:

$$p_{mdt}(\omega) = \frac{\sigma}{\sigma - 1} M C_{mdt}(\omega)$$
$$W_{ft} = (1 - \alpha) M C_{mft}(\omega) z_{ft}(\omega) k_{mt}^{\alpha}(\omega) l_{mt}^{-\alpha}(\omega)$$
$$R_{ft} + \delta + \lambda_{mt}(\omega) = \alpha M C_{mft}(\omega) z_{ft}(\omega) k_{mt}^{\alpha - 1}(\omega) l_{mt}^{1 - \alpha}(\omega)$$
$$M C_{mdt}(\omega) (z_{ft}(\omega) k_{mt}^{\alpha}(\omega) l_{mt}^{1 - \alpha}(\omega) - \tau_{fdt} y_{mdt}(\omega) - y_{mft}(\omega)) = 0$$

Values of marginal costs, outputs, and profits on the domestic market are similar to the expressions for the unconstrained firms we have derived before:

$$MC_{mdt}(\omega) = \frac{\tau_{fdt}}{z_{ft}(\omega)} \frac{(R_{ft} + \delta)^{\alpha} W_{ft}^{1-\alpha}}{\alpha^{\alpha} (1-\alpha)^{1-\alpha}}$$
$$y_{mdt}(\omega) = \left[\frac{\sigma}{\sigma - 1} \frac{\tau_{fdt}}{z_{ft}(\omega)} \frac{(R_{ft} + \delta)^{\alpha} W_{ft}^{1-\alpha}}{\alpha^{\alpha} (1-\alpha)^{1-\alpha}}\right]^{-\sigma} \frac{Y_{dt}}{P_{dt}^{-\sigma}}$$
$$\pi_{mdt}(\omega) = \frac{1}{\sigma} \left[\frac{\sigma}{\sigma - 1} \frac{\tau_{fdt}}{z_{ft}(\omega)} \frac{(R_{ft} + \delta)^{\alpha} W_{ft}^{1-\alpha}}{\alpha^{\alpha} (1-\alpha)^{1-\alpha}}\right]^{1-\sigma} \frac{Y_{dt}}{P_{dt}^{-\sigma}}$$

Importer agrees to export to the domestic market if $\pi_{mdt}(\omega)$ is greater, than $W_{ft}F$

3.5.10 Solving the aggregate problem in a constant markup environment

When domestic markups are fixed, $D_{dt} = \frac{\sigma-1}{\sigma}$. This leaves us only with two variables to solve for, which makes it difficult to satisfy all three equilibrium conditions simultaneously. Kohn et al. (2020) resolve this problem by determining equilibrium ξ as well; we solve this problem by keeping P_f fixed but solving for P_d instead (in essence, both approaches are similar with the only difference that P_d changes the numeraire). Keeping the variable selection similar to the aggregate problem in the environment with variable markups, in the environment with constant markups, we solve for optimal P_d, W_d , and Y_d , which simultaneously satisfy the final good and labor market clearing and equalize Kimball, which we write in a slightly different form:

$$\int_{s \in G_a \times G_z} [n(s) + e(s)F]\phi(s)ds = 1$$

$$\int_{s \in G_a \times G_z} [c(s) + x(s)]\phi(s)ds = Y_d$$

$$\int_{\Omega_{dd}} |\Omega_{dd}|^{-\frac{1}{\sigma}} y_d^{\frac{\sigma-1}{\sigma}}(\omega)d\omega + \int_{\Omega_{dm}} |\Omega_{dm}|^{-\frac{1}{\sigma}} y_{md}^{\frac{\sigma-1}{\sigma}}(\omega)d\omega = Y_d^{\frac{\sigma-1}{\sigma}}$$
(3.5.3)

Again, note, that in the last equation, we used $y_d = (1-e)y_{dd} + ey_{ed}$. We find steady-state equilibrium prices using a procedure similar to the baseline model.

Bibliography

- Abowd, John M., Francis Kramarz, and David N. Margolis (1999) "High Wage Workers and High Wage Firms," *Econometrica*, 67 (2), 251–333.
- Alessandria, George, Horag Choi, and Kim J. Ruhl (2021) "Trade adjustment dynamics and the welfare gains from trade," *Journal of International Economics*, 131, 103458.
- Alfaro, Laura, Alejandro Cuñat, Harald Fadinger, and Yanping Liu (2022) "The Real Exchange Rate, Innovation, and Productivity," *Journal of the European Economic* Association, 21 (2), 637–689.
- Altavilla, Carlo, Luca Brugnolini, Refet S. Gürkaynak, Roberto Motto, and Giuseppe Ragusa (2019) "Measuring euro area monetary policy," *Journal of Monetary Economics*.
- Altomonte, Carlo, Domenico Favoino, Monica Morlacco, and Tommaso Sonno (2023) "Markups, Intangible Capital, and Heterogeneous Financial Frictions," Mimeo.
- Altomonte, Carlo, Domenico Favoino, and Tommaso Sonno (2017) "Markups, Productivity and the Financial Capability of Firms," Mimeo.
- Amberg, Niklas, Thomas Jansson, Mathias Klein, and Anna Rogantini Picco (2022) "Five Facts about the Distributional Income Effects of Monetary Policy Shocks," American Economic Review: Insights, 4 (3), 289–304, 10.1257/aeri.20210262.
- Amiti, Mary, Oleg Itskhoki, and Jozef Konings (2014) "Importers, Exporters, and Exchange Rate Disconnect," American Economic Review, 104 (7), 1942–78.
- Andersen, Asger Lau, Niels Johannesen, Mia Jørgensen, and José-Luis Peydró (forthcoming) "Monetary Policy and Inequality," *Journal of Finance*.
- Arkolakis, Costas, Arnaud Costinot, Dave Donaldson, and Andrés Rodríguez-Clare (2018) "The Elusive Pro-Competitive Effects of Trade," *The Review of Economic Studies*, 86 (1), 46–80, 10.1093/restud/rdx075.
- Auclert, Adrien (2019) "Monetary Policy and the Redistribution Channel," American Economic Review, 109 (6), 2333–67.

- Bagger, Jesper and Rasmus Lentz (2018) "An Empirical Model of Wage Dispersion with Sorting," The Review of Economic Studies, 86 (1), 153–190.
- Bahaj, Saleem, Angus Foulis, Gabor Pinter, and Paolo Surico (2019) "Employment and the collateral channel of monetary policy," Bank of England working papers 827, Bank of England, https://ideas.repec.org/p/boe/boeewp/0827.html.
- Bai, Yan, Keyu Jin, and Dan Lu (2019) "Misallocation Under Trade Liberalization," Working Paper 26188, National Bureau of Economic Research.
- Baqaee, David R., Emmanuel Farhi, and Kunal Sangani (2022) "The Supply-Side Effects of Monetary Policy," Mimeo.
- Baqaee, David Rezza and Emmanuel Farhi (2019) "Productivity and Misallocation in General Equilibrium^{*}," The Quarterly Journal of Economics, 135 (1), 105–163.
- Bergman, Nittai, David A Matsa, and Michael Weber (2022) "Inclusive Monetary Policy: How Tight Labor Markets Facilitate Broad-Based Employment Growth," Working Paper 29651, National Bureau of Economic Research, 10.3386/w29651.
- Bertheau, Antoine, Edoardo Maria Acabbi, Cristina Barcelo, Andreas Gulyas, Stefano Lombardi, and Raffaele Saggio (2022) "The Unequal Cost of Job Loss across Countries," Working Paper 29727, National Bureau of Economic Research.
- Berthou, Antoine, John Jong-Hyun Chung, Kalina Manova, and Charlotte Sandoz-Dit-Bragard (2020) "Trade, Productivity and (Mis)allocation," Technical report.
- Bhandari, Anmol, David Evans, Mikhail Golosov, and Thomas J. Sargent (2021) "Inequality, Business Cycles, and Monetary-Fiscal Policy," *Econometrica*, 89 (6), 2559– 2599, https://doi.org/10.3982/ECTA16414.
- Blundell, Richard and Stephen Bond (1998) "Initial conditions and moment restrictions in dynamic panel data models," *Journal of Econometrics*, 87 (1), 115–143.
- Boar, Corina and Virgiliu Midrigan (2022) "Markups and Inequality," Mimeo.
- Bonhomme, Stephane, Kerstin Holzheu, Thibaut Lamadon, Elena Manresa, Magne Mogstad, and Bradley Setzler (2022) "How Much Should we Trust Estimates of Firm Effects and Worker Sorting?" *Journal of Labor Economics*.
- Bonhomme, Stéphane, Thibaut Lamadon, and Elena Manresa (2019) "A Distributional Framework for Matched Employer Employee Data," *Econometrica*, 87 (3), 699–739.
- Broer, Tobias, John Kramer, and Kurt Mitman (2021) "The Cyclicality of Income Risk: Empirical Estimates from Monetary Policy Shocks," Mimeo.

- Brooks, Wyatt and Alessandro Dovis (2020) "Credit market frictions and trade liberalizations," *Journal of Monetary Economics*, 111, 32–47.
- Buera, Francisco J. and Yongseok Shin (2013) "Financial Frictions and the Persistence of History: A Quantitative Exploration," *Journal of Political Economy*, 121 (2), 221–272.
- Caliendo, Lorenzo, Fernando Parro, and Aleh Tsyvinski (2022) "Distortions and the Structure of the World Economy," American Economic Journal: Macroeconomics, 14 (4), 274–308.
- Cavenaile, Laurent, Pau Roldan-Blanco, and Tom Schmitz (2022) "International Trade and Innovation Dynamics with Endogenous Markups," *The Economic Journal*, 133 (651), 971–1004.
- Coibion, Olivier, Yuriy Gorodnichenko, Lorenz Kueng, and John Silvia (2017) "Innocent Bystanders? Monetary policy and inequality," *Journal of Monetary Economics*, 88, 70 – 89.
- Crane, Leland D., Henry R. Hyatt, and Seth M. Murray (2022) "Cyclical labor market sorting," *Journal of Econometrics*.
- De Loecker, Jan, Pinelopi K. Goldberg, Amit K. Khandelwal, and Nina Pavcnik (2016) "Prices, Markups, and Trade Reform," *Econometrica*, 84 (2), 445–510, https://doi.or g/10.3982/ECTA11042.
- De Loecker, Jan and Frederic Warzynski (2012) "Markups and Firm-Level Export Status," *American Economic Review*, 102 (6), 2437–71, 10.1257/aer.102.6.2437.
- Demidova, Svetlana (2017) "Trade policies, firm heterogeneity, and variable markups," Journal of International Economics, 108, 260–273.
- Dolado, Juan J., Gergo Motyovszki, and Evi Pappa (2019) "Monetary Policy and Inequality under Labor Market Frictions and Capital-Skill Complementarity," Technical report, Mimeo.
- Edmond, Chris, Virgiliu Midrigan, and Daniel Yi Xu (2015) "Competition, Markups, and the Gains from International Trade," *American Economic Review*, 105 (10), 3183–3221.
 - (2023) "How Costly Are Markups?" Journal of Political Economy, 0 (ja), null.
- Feenstra, Robert C. and David E. Weinstein (2017) "Globalization, Markups, and US Welfare," *Journal of Political Economy*, 125 (4), 1040–1074.
- Galle, Simon (2020) "Competition, Financial Constraints, and Misallocation: Plant-Level Evidence from Indian Manufacturing," Mimeo.

- Gertler, Mark and Simon Gilchrist (1994) "Monetary Policy, Business Cycles, and the Behavior of Small Manufacturing Firms," *The Quarterly Journal of Economics*, 109 (2), 309–340.
- Giuliano, Fernando and Gabriel Zaourak (2017) "Market Power and Aggregate Efficiency in Financial Crises," Mimeo.
- Gopinath, Gita, Emine Boz, Camila Casas, Federico J. Díez, Pierre-Olivier Gourinchas, and Mikkel Plagborg-Møller (2020) "Dominant Currency Paradigm," American Economic Review, 110 (3), 677–719.
- Gopinath, Gita and Oleg Itskhoki (2010) "Frequency of Price Adjustment and Pass-Through," *The Quarterly Journal of Economics*, 125 (2), 675–727.
- Gopinath, Gita, Şebnem Kalemli-Özcan, Loukas Karabarbounis, and Carolina Villegas-Sanchez (2017) "Capital Allocation and Productivity in South Europe*," *The Quarterly Journal of Economics*, 132 (4), 1915–1967, 10.1093/qje/qjx024.
- Gornemann, Nils, Keith Kuester, and Makoto Nakajima (2021) "Doves for the Rich, Hawks for the Poor? Distributional Consequences of Monetary Policy," *Mimeo*.
- Gorodnichenko, Yuriy and Michael Weber (2016) "Are Sticky Prices Costly? Evidence from the Stock Market," *American Economic Review*, 106 (1), 165–99.
- Gulyas, Andreas and Krzysztof Pytka (2019) "Understanding the Sources of Earnings Losses After Job Displacement: A Machine-Learning Approach," crc tr 224 discussion paper series, University of Bonn and University of Mannheim, Germany.
- Hagedorn, Marcus, Tzuo Hann Law, and Iourii Manovskii (2017) "Identifying Equilibrium Models of Labor Market Sorting," *Econometrica*, 85 (1), 29–65.
- Holm, Martin Blomhoff, Pascal Paul, and Andreas Tischbirek (2021) "The Transmission of Monetary Policy under the Microscope," *Journal of Political Economy*, 129 (10), 2861–2904.
- Hsieh, Chang-Tai and Peter J. Klenow (2009) "Misallocation and Manufacturing TFP in China and India," *The Quarterly Journal of Economics*, CXXIV (4), 1403–1448, 10.1093/qje/qjw033.Advance.
- Jarociński, Marek and Peter Karadi (2020) "Deconstructing Monetary Policy Surprises—The Role of Information Shocks," American Economic Journal: Macroeconomics, 12 (2), 1–43.
- Jordà, Öscar, Sanjay Singh, and Alan M Taylor (2020) "The long-run effects of monetary policy," *mimeo*.

- Kaplan, Greg, Benjamin Moll, and Giovanni L. Violante (2018) "Monetary Policy According to HANK," American Economic Review, 108 (3), 697–743.
- Kim, Junhyong and Annie Soyean Lee (2022) "Liability Dollarization and Exchange Rate Pass-Through," Mimeo.
- Kimball, Miles S. (1995) "The Quantitative Analytics of the Basic Neomonetarist Model," Journal of Money, Credit and Banking, 27 (4), 1241–1277.
- Klenow, Peter J. and Jonathan L. Willis (2016) "Real Rigidities and Nominal Price Changes," *Economica*, 83 (331), 443–472.
- Kohn, David, Fernando Leibovici, and Michal Szkup (2016) "FINANCIAL FRICTIONS AND NEW EXPORTER DYNAMICS," International Economic Review, 57 (2), 453– 486.

— (2020) "Financial frictions and export dynamics in large devaluations," *Journal* of *International Economics*, 122, 103257.

- (2023) "No Credit, No Gain: Trade Liberalization Dynamics, Production Inputs, and Financial Development," *International Economic Review*, n/a (n/a), https://doi. org/10.1111/iere.12620.
- Krugman, Paul (1991) "Increasing Returns and Economic Geography," Journal of Political Economy, 99 (3), 483–499, 10.1086/261763.
- Lachowska, Marta, Alexandre Mas, and Stephen A. Woodbury (2020) "Sources of Displaced Workers' Long-Term Earnings Losses," *American Economic Review*, 110 (10), 3231–66, 10.1257/aer.20180652.
- Leibovici, Fernando (2021) "Financial Development and International Trade," Journal of Political Economy, 129 (12), 3405–3446.
- Lenza, Michele and Jiri Slacalek (2022) "How Does Monetary Policy Affect Income and Wealth Inequality? Evidence from Quantitative Easing in the Euro Area," Mimeo.
- Manova, Kalina (2012) "Credit Constraints, Heterogeneous Firms, and International Trade," *The Review of Economic Studies*, 80 (2), 711–744.
- McKay, Alisdair, Emi Nakamura, and Jón Steinsson (2016) "The power of forward guidance revisited," American Economic Review, 106 (10), 3133–3158, 10.1257/aer.2015 0063.
- Meier, Matthias and Timo Reinelt (2022) "Monetary Policy, Markup Dispersion, and Aggregate TFP," *The Review of Economics and Statistics*, 1–45, 10.1162/rest_a_0 1226.

- Melitz, Marc J. (2003) "The Impact of Trade on Intra-Industry Reallocations and Aggregate Industry Productivity," *Econometrica*, 71 (6), 1695–1725, 10.1007/BF01886181.
- Melitz, Marc J. and Gianmarco I. P. Ottaviano (2008) "Market Size, Trade, and Productivity," *The Review of Economic Studies*, 75 (1), 295–316.
- Melitz, Marc J. and Sašo Polanec (2015) "Dynamic Olley-Pakes productivity decomposition with entry and exit," *The RAND Journal of Economics*, 46 (2), 362–375.
- Midrigan, Virgiliu and Daniel Yi Xu (2014) "Finance and Misallocation: Evidence from Plant-Level Data," *American Economic Review*, 104 (2), 422–58.
- Moll, Benjamin (2014) "Productivity Losses from Financial Frictions: Can Self-Financing Undo Capital Misallocation?" American Economic Review, 104 (10), 3186–3221, 10.1 257/aer.104.10.3186.
- Moser, Christian, Farzad Saidi, Benjamin Wirth, and Stefanie Wolter (2022) "Credit Supply, Firms, and Earnings Inequality," mimeo.
- Olley, G. Steven and Ariel Pakes (1996) "The Dynamics of Productivity in the Telecommunications Equipment Industry," *Econometrica*, 64 (6), 1263–1297.
- Ottonello, Pablo and Thomas Winberry (2020) "Financial Heterogeneity and the Investment Channel of Monetary Policy," *Econometrica*, 88 (6), 2473–2502.
- Rajan, Raghuram G. and Luigi Zingales (1998) "Financial Dependence and Growth," *The American Economic Review*, 88 (3), 559–586.
- Ravn, Morten O and Vincent Sterk (2020) "Macroeconomic Fluctuations with HANK & SAM: an Analytical Approach," *Journal of the European Economic Association*, 19 (2), 1162–1202.
- Restuccia, Diego and Richard Rogerson (2008) "Policy distortions and aggregate productivity with heterogeneous establishments," *Review of Economic Dynamics*, 11, 707–720, 10.1016/j.red.2008.05.002.
- Ryzhenkov, Mykola (2016) "Resource misallocation and manufacturing productivity: The case of Ukraine," *Journal of Comparative Economics*, 44 (1), 41–55.
- Song, Jae, David J Price, Fatih Guvenen, Nicholas Bloom, and Till von Wachter (2018) "Firming Up Inequality," *The Quarterly Journal of Economics*, 134 (1), 1–50.
- Tetenyi, Laszlo (2022) "Trade, Misallocation, and Capital Market Integration," Mimeo.

Timmer, Marcel P., Erik Dietzenbacher, Bart Los, Robert Stehrer, and Gaaitzen J. de Vries (2015) "An Illustrated User Guide to the World Input–Output Database: the Case of Global Automotive Production," *Review of International Economics*, 23 (3), 575–605.

Tsiflis, Antonis (2022) "Financial Frictions and Variable Markups," Mimeo.

Zweimüller, Josef, Rudolf Winter-Ebmer, Rafael Lalive, Andreas Kuhn, Jean-Philippe Wuellrich, Oliver Ruf, and Simon Büchi (2009) "Austrian Social Security Database," NRN working papers 2009-03, The Austrian Center for Labor Economics and the Analysis of the Welfare State, Johannes Kepler University Linz, Austria.

Eidesstattliche Erklärung

Hiermit erkläre ich, die vorliegende Dissertation selbstständig angefertigt und mich keiner anderen als der in ihr angegebenen Hilfsmittel bedient zu haben. Insbesondere sind sämtliche Zitate aus anderen Quellen als solche gekennzeichnet und mit Quellenangaben versehen.

Mannheim, 02.06.2023

Mykola Ryzhenkov

Curriculum Vitae

Mykola Ryzhenkov

Education	
2017 - 2023	University of Mannheim
	Ph.D. in Economics
2011 - 2013	Kyiv School of Economics
	Master of Arts in Economic Analysis
2011 - 2013	National University of Kyiv-Mohyla Academy
	Master of Arts in Economic Theory/Economic Policy
2007 - 2011	National University of Kyiv-Mohyla Academy
	Bachelor of Arts in Economic Theory
Work Experience	
2022 -	European Central Bank
	Ph.D. Trainee
2018 - 2022	University of Mannheim
	Graduate Teaching Assistant
2016 - 2017	Kyiv School of Economics/Kyiv Economic Institute
	Juniour Analyst
2013 - 2016	Institute for Economic Research and Policy Consuting
	Research Fellow